Investigating the enhancement of visual cortex plasticity through non-invasive brain stimulation

by

Xiaoxin Chen

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo

in fulfilment of the

thesis requirement for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Vision Science

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2023

© Xiaoxin Chen 2023

Examining Committee Membership

The following served on the Examining Committee for this thesis. The decision of the Examining Committee is by majority vote.

External Examiner:	Dr. Allison McKendrick					
	Professor, Department of Optometry & Vision Sciences					
	University of Melbourne					
Supervisors:	Dr. Benjamin Thompson					
	Professor, School of Optometry and Vision Science					
	University of Waterloo					
	Dr. William Bobier					
	Professor Emeritus, School of Optometry and Vision Science					
	University of Waterloo					
Internal Member:	Dr. Daphne McCulloch					
	Professor, School of Optometry and Vision Science					
	University of Waterloo					
Internal-External Member:	Dr. Ewa Niechwiej-Szwedo					
	Associate Professor, Department of Kinesiology and Health Sciences					
	University of Waterloo					
Other Member:	Dr. Arijit Chakraborty					
	Assistant Professor, Chicago College of Optometry					
	Midwestern University					

Author's Declaration

This thesis contains materials all of which I authored or co-authored: see Statement of Contributions included in the thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Statement of Contributions

Xiaoxin Chen was the sole author for Chapters 1-2, 5 and 7. These chapters were written under the supervision of Dr. Benjamin Thompson and Dr. William Bobier and have not been published for publication.

Chapters 3, 4 and 6 are experimental chapters either published or submitted for publication. These chapters have not been made possible without the contribution of all valuable collaborators.

Chapter 3

Xiaoxin Chen*: experimental design, data analysis, data interpretation, writing and revising drafts

Kennedy Hall*: experimental design, recruiting participants, data collection, reviewing drafts

Dr. William Bobier: reviewing drafts, funding acquisition

Dr. Benjamin Thompson: experimental design, data interpretation, reviewing drafts, funding acquisition

Dr. Arijit Chakraborty: experimental design, data interpretation, reviewing drafts, funding acquisition

* XC and KH contributed equally to this work.

Chapters 4 & 6

Xiaoxin Chen: experimental design, recruiting participants, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, writing and revising drafts

Dr. William Bobier: reviewing drafts, funding acquisition

Dr. Benjamin Thompson: experimental design, data interpretation, reviewing drafts, funding acquisition

Abstract

Purpose: (1) To investigate the effects of various non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS) modalities, including high-frequency transcranial random noise stimulation (hf-tRNS), anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (a-tDCS), and repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS), on short-term ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision; (2) To probe the neural mechanisms underlying short-term ocular dominance plasticity using NIBS techniques; (3) To explore the state-dependency of NIBS within the visual cortex; (4) To evaluate the efficacy of a novel ocular dominance test (the letter-polarity test) as a tool of measuring ocular dominance shifts following monocular deprivation (MD).

Methods: Three studies using hf-tRNS, a-tDCS and rTMS were conducted. NIBS was delivered to V1 during MD. The primary outcome was ocular dominance shift, measured through two ocular dominance tests, a traditional binocular rivalry test and the letter-polarity test, before and after the interventions. Secondary outcomes included mixed percept durations and alternation rates as provided by the binocular rivalry test. The reliability of the letter-polarity test was evaluated in comparison to the binocular rivalry test through a comprehensive set of analyses.

Results: (1) In three studies, short-term ocular dominance plasticity was observed as a shift in ocular dominance towards the deprived eye. (2) No significant effects of NIBS were observed on the primary and secondary outcome measures. (3) By comparing the effect of 120-minute MD and 30-minute MD, we observed a significantly smaller magnitude of ocular dominance shifts with 30-minute MD. (4) The reliability of the letter-polarity test was similar to that of the binocular rivalry test.

Conclusions: These experiments suggest that the neural mechanisms underlying short-term ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision may be more complex than a simple reduction in cortical inhibition. It may be necessary to reconsider the cortical site responsible for this plasticity and the neuromodulatory effects of NIBS on visual cortex activity. Our null findings of NIBS effects may also be explained by a different cortical activation state induced by MD. These findings provide valuable reference points for future studies investigating the enhancement of visual cortex plasticity.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to both of my supervisors, Dr. Benjamin Thompson and Dr. William Bobier. I could not have completed my PhD project without their unwavering support, both financially and academically. In particular, I am grateful for Ben's patient guidance through the conceptualization and conduction of my PhD project, data interpretation and paper writing. I thank Bill for his supervision particularly in the early stages of my program. Working alongside both of them has been a wonderful experience. To Ben and Bill, I take great pride in being one of your students, and I am very thankful for the excellent mentorship that you have provided!

I also want to thank Dr. Andrew Silva for his invaluable support during my program. A significant portion of my PhD study happened in social isolation during the pandemic. When Ben was initially based in Hong Kong and Bill had retired, navigating the complexities of research was particularly challenging. Thankfully, Andy was always there to clarify my confusions on brain stimulation, programming and statistics. I sincerely thank Andy for his constant presence, and I wish him continued success in his all future endeavours.

I would also like to thank Dr. Arijit Chakraborty, who is a truly brilliant collaborator. Not only was Ari very generous to provide his lab resources and funding for my first experiment, especially during the challenging times of the pandemic, but his insightful feedback has also been instrumental for my research. Thank you, Ari! I wish you all the best in your research!

I would like to thank Dr. Jiawei Zhou and Dr. Yi Gao, who encouraged me to pursue studies aboard and to experience a different culture. I greatly appreciate Dr. Zhou and Dr. Takeo Watanabe for their strong reference letters on my behalf. Without them, I would not have embarked on this adventure.

I am also deeply grateful to Dr. Dania Abuleil and Dr. Amy Chow, who very patiently clarified my questions during my transition to Canada. I sincerely appreciate Dania for patiently training me on brain stimulation techniques, Amy for thoroughly guiding me through the course materials before my very first teaching assistantship, and Dr. Melanie Mungalsingh for helping me navigate the administrative process of thesis defence and for her valuable feedback on my thesis writing.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to all my other collaborators and research assistants, Ms. Kennedy Hall, Ms. Amy Nguyen, Mr. Grant Sealock, Ms. Tiffany Tran, Mr. Nicholas Vo, Ms. Sarah Long, Ms. Julia Perfetto, Mr. Piyush Garg, Dr. Anoop TR, Ms. Gaayatiri Pushparaj, Ms. Jasjeet

Grovera, and Ms. Cindy Sun, for helping with data collection in my first and third experiments. All of them were amazing people to work with, and I cannot thank them enough for their invaluable contributions to my project!

Moving to Waterloo was my first experience travelling far from home. I am immensely grateful to my first landlord, Mr. Eddie Tong, for offering help with settling in when I first landed. I appreciate the wonderful living arrangements provided by Eddie and Mr. Xiaotong Chi, as well as the friendly roommates that I was fortunate to have. This supportive accommodation was essential for the smooth progression of my PhD study.

Coming from in a rural countryside in eastern China, my parents did not receive education higher than junior middle school. Yet despite financial difficulty, they insisted on prioritizing my education, which paved the way for my academic achievements. It is their unwavering support and their hardworking attitude that made me who I am. I am extremely grateful for their belief in me, and I am proud to say that I have not let them down.

Finally, to all of you whom I have had the privilege of knowing throughout the years, as the Chinese saying goes, "天下没有不散的筵席 (there is no party that never ends)". It is natural that people come and go in our lives, but please know that our eventual parting does not erase the trace that you have left in my life. I appreciate knowing you as a wonderful person, and I will continue cherishing the beautiful moments that we have shared!

Table of Contents

Examining Committee Membershipii
Author's Declarationiii
Statement of Contributionsiv
Abstractv
Acknowledgementsvi
List of Figuresxii
List of Tablesxvii
Chapter 1 Neuroplasticity in Human Visual Cortex1
1.1 Visual Pathway1
1.2 Two Types of Synaptic Plasticity2
1.2.1 Critical Periods and Amblyopia
1.2.2 Neurotransmitters
1.3 Short-Term Ocular Dominance Plasticity in Adults
1.3.1 Binocular Rivalry7
1.4 Effects of Physical Exercise7
1.5 Chapter Summary
Chapter 2 Non-Invasive Brain Stimulation (NIBS)10
2.1 Overview
2.2 Transcranial Electrical Stimulation (tES)12
2.2.1 Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS)14
2.2.2 Transcranial Random Noise Stimulation (tRNS)14
2.3 Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)16

2.3.1 Phosphenes and Phosphene Thresholds	18
2.3.2 Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS)	19
2.4 The State-Dependency of NIBS	20
2.5 Chapter Summary	22
Chapter 3 The Effect of Transcranial Random Noise Stimulation and Physical Exercise on Ocula	ır
Dominance Plasticity in Adults with Normal Vision	24
3.1 Overview	24
3.2 Introduction	24
3.3 Methods	27
3.3.1 Participants	27
3.3.2 Eye dominance tests	28
3.3.3 Cycling	30
3.3.4 Transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS)	30
3.3.5 Procedures	31
3.3.6 Data analysis	31
3.4 Results	32
3.4.1 Primary outcome: deprived eye dominance shift	32
3.4.2 Secondary outcomes: mixed percept durations & alternation rates	34
3.5 Discussion	36
3.6 Conclusion	39
Chapter 4 The Effect of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Ocular Dominance Plasticity	' in
Adults with Normal Vision	40
4.1 Overview	40
4.2 Introduction	40

4.3 Methods	
4.3.1 Participants	42
4.3.2 Visual stimuli for ocular dominance measurement	42
4.3.3 Ocular dominance tests	43
4.3.4 Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS)	44
4.3.5 Procedures	44
4.3.6 Data analysis	45
4.4 Results	45
4.4.1 Experiment 2a: 120-minute MD	45
4.4.2 Experiment 2b: 30-minute MD	49
4.4.3 Comparison between Experiments 2a and 2b: an effect of MD duration	53
4.5 Discussion	54
4.6 Conclusions	56
Chapter 5 Reliability of Ocular Dominance Tests	57
5.1 Overview	57
5.2 Methods	57
5.3 Within-Test Repeatability	59
5.4 Between-Test Agreement	59
5.5 Conclusion	63
Chapter 6 The Effect of Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation on Ocular Dominance	
Plasticity in Adults with Normal Vision	64
6.1 Overview	64
6.2 Introduction	64
6.3 Methods	66

6.3.1 Participants	66
6.3.2 Computerized ocular dominance test	67
6.3.3 TMS equipment	67
6.3.4 Phosphene threshold (PT) measurement	68
6.3.5 Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS)	69
6.3.6 Experimental procedures	69
6.3.7 Data analysis	71
6.4 Results	71
6.5 Discussion	73
6.6 Conclusions	75
Chapter 7 General Discussion	76
7.1 Summary of Findings	76
7.1.1 Rethinking short-term ocular dominance plasticity: is V1 crucially involved?	76
7.1.2 Rethinking short-term ocular dominance plasticity: is GABA crucially involved?	77
7.1.3 Rethinking NIBS: does NIBS modulate GABA in the human visual cortex?	78
7.1.4 NIBS settings matter	79
7.1.5 State-dependency of NIBS	80
7.2 Impact of Work	81
7.3 Limitations and Future Directions	81
References	83
Appendix A Supplementary Tables	117

List of Figures

- Figure 2-1. Illustration of an action potential (blue curve) and the influence of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (a-tDCS) (red curve). Normally when stimulated by an external signal (blue curve), the nerve membrane undergoes depolarization, with the membrane potential shifting towards positivity. Upon reaching the firing threshold, an action potential occurs, after which the membrane repolarizes until hyperpolarization. Eventually, the membrane gradually returns to its resting potential. When a-tDCS is applied (red curve), the resting membrane potential is elevated, closer to the firing threshold. The action potential is also higher than normal. a-tDCS is a type of electrical stimulation. A detailed explanation of a-tDCS is provided below in Section 2.2.1. (Reprinted from "Neurobiological Mechanisms of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation for Psychiatric Disorders; Neurophysiological, Chemical, and Anatomical Considerations," by Yamada, Y., & Sumiyoshi, T., 2021, *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 15*, p. 3. Copyright © 2021 Yamada and Sumiyoshi. Reprinted with permission.)

- Figure 2-4. TMS apparatus, featuring a figure-of-eight coil (MCF-B65, MagVenture, Denmark). For a detailed description of TMS apparatus, please refer to the caption for Figure 6-1 in Chapter 6. ... 17

- Figure 3-2. Deprived eye dominance data for the grating rivalry (A & B) and letter-polarity (C & D) tests in Experiment 1. The top row shows group mean data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. The bottom row shows individual pre and post data within each condition. In the grating rivalry test (A & B), the proportion of deprived eye percept duration was calculated to indicate deprived eye dominance. In the letter-polarity test (C & D), the letter contrast presented to the non-deprived eye at the PSE was calculated to indicate deprived eye dominance of 0.5 (i.e., two eyes are perfectly balanced). A value above the dashed lines indicates greater dominance by the deprived eye. On four occasions there was an eye dominance assignment error for participants with weak eye dominance. Therefore, there are four baseline data points slightly below the 0.5 line in Panel B. Because the grating rivalry test (A & B) was used to assign the dominant (deprived) eye, there are many baseline datapoints below the 0.5 line as anticipated for the letter-polarity test (C & D).....33
- Figure 4-1. tDCS experimental design. (a) The timeline in Experiment 2a. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre), before tDCS at the 90th minute of MD (PreStim) and immediately after 120 minutes of MD (Post). (b) Illustration of the timeline for Experiment 2b. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre) and immediately after 30 minutes of MD (Post). In both experiments, a-tDCS, c-tDCS or sham stimulation was delivered to the visual cortex during the final 20 minutes of

- Figure 4-3. Durations of superimposed (A & B), piecemeal (C & D) and overall mixed (E & F) percepts measured by the grating rivalry test in Experiment 2a. The top row shows group mean data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. The bottom row shows individual pre and post data within each condition. These durations were averaged over six 1-minute trials.
- Figure 4-5. Deprived eye dominance data for the grating rivalry (A & B) and letter-polarity (C & D) tests in Experiment 2b. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre) and immediately after MD (Post). The top row shows group mean data. Error bars represent standard errors of the mean. The bottom row shows individual data within each condition. Dashed grey lines represent an eye dominance of 0.5 (i.e., two eyes are perfectly balanced). A value above the dashed lines indicates

greater	dominance	by the d	leprived	eye.	Note t	hat thes	e plots	share	the	same	y-axis	scale	s as i	Figure
4-2 to	facilitate cor	nparisor	1										•••••	50

- Figure 6-1. TMS configuration. (A) Left to right: TMS coil and related apparatus, magnetic stimulator, mobile computer (27 " iMac[™], Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA) with Brainsight[®] software, position sensor camera (Polaris Vicra[®], Northern Digital Inc., Waterloo, ON) affixed to a stand. (B) The magnetic stimulator (MagPro X100) on a movable trolley. Below shows a coil cooler equipped with liquid cooling media. The cooler was connected to the double-blind coil during rTMS to prevent overheating. (C) Left to right: earplugs, calibration jig for calibrating coil position, participant head position tracker on a model head, pointer for calibrating participant's head position, translucent eye

- Figure 6-3. Deprived eye dominance data at different time points for three conditions in Experiment 3.
 Panel A shows group mean data. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. Asterisks denote statistical significance by post hoc tests on the main effect of time (** p < 0.001). Panels B to D shows individual data for the 10-Hz, 1-Hz and sham stimulation conditions, respectively. Box plots indicate the median, quartiles and range of group data at each time point. Empty circles in the box plots denote outliers determined using the interquartile range (IQR) method (values more than 1.5 × IQR outside the IQR).

List of Tables

Table 5-1. ICC interpretation as recommended by Loo & Li (2016).	58
Table 5-2. ICC for within-test repeatability.	59
Table 5-3. Summary of individual standard deviations from each test.	59
Table 5-4. ICC for between-test agreement.	62

Supplementary Table 1. Individual raw baseline eye dominance measures for each visit for both the	ne
grating rivalry and the letter-polarity tests	. 117
Supplementary Table 2. Participant reports of adverse effects of tDCS	. 118
Supplementary Table 3. Participant reports of adverse effects of rTMS	. 119

Chapter 1 Neuroplasticity in Human Visual Cortex

1.1 Visual Pathway

Vision is one of the most crucial senses for many species in the world, including humans. While human eyes are small in size, the visual system is, in fact, a complex pathway (Daw, 2014; Tovée, 2008; Werner & Chalupa, 2013). In order to perceive an object, the retina first captures incoming light from the object. Visual information is then relayed from the retina, through the optic nerve, to the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) in the thalamus. Before entering the LGN, visual inputs from two hemifields are separated at the optic chiasm; inputs from the left hemifield cross to the right hemisphere, and those from the right hemifield are transmitted to the left hemisphere. These inputs are subsequently projected from LGN to the primary visual cortex (V1), also known as the striate cortex. V1 is the first cortical area that processes visual information, such as orientations and colours, from binocular inputs. Visual information is then transmitted to extrastriate visual areas for more complex processing, such as object recognition and motion detection. The collaboration of all these structures allows one to finally perceive and recognize an object.

V1 is located at Brodmann's area 17 in the occipital lobe of the human brain. Visual inputs in V1 are organized based on their origins and properties. As described above, each hemisphere accepts inputs from the contralateral hemifield. Additionally, inputs from the fovea of the retina (central vision) are represented closer to the surface of V1, while those from the periphery are represented in deeper parts of the calcarine sulcus that bisects V1 based on their eccentricity (Adams & Horton, 2009; Tootell et al., 1988; Yu et al., 2015). Evidence from other mammals also shows varying degrees of preference for left and right eye inputs across V1 cells. Based on the strength of preference for one eye, neurons can be classified into different ocular dominance categories, including entire dominance by one eve, marked or slight dominance by one eye, and no preference (Hubel, Wiesel, & LeVay, 1977; Hubel & Wiesel, 1970). Furthermore, V1 neurons demonstrate different preferences when processing orientation and spatial frequency information (Hubel, Wiesel, & Stryker, 1977; Tootell et al., 1981). Neurons processing similar properties with similar binocular preferences tend to cluster together, forming orientation columns, spatial frequency columns and ocular dominance columns (Daw, 2014; Hubel, Wiesel, & LeVay, 1977; Hubel, Wiesel, & Stryker, 1977; Tootell et al., 1981). These columns represent the first step of visual processing within the cortex, where the visual world is represented as localized regions of spatial and temporal information. This information is then further processed and integrated by higher visual areas.

Higher visual areas are responsible for processing specific types of visual information (Daw, 2014; Tovée, 2008; Werner & Chalupa, 2013). For instance, V4, located anteriorly and ventrally to V1, is primarily involved in pattern discrimination. Information from V4 appears to be further relayed to the inferior temporal (IT) area for object recognition. Meanwhile, V5 (the middle temporal area, MT), processes motion and depth information, and the parietal cortex handles spatial representation. These apparently distinct processing specializations have led to the theory that there are two different streams in the visual system: the ventral stream which involves V1, V2, V4 and anterior and posterior inferotemporal cortices (AIT and PIT), mainly responsible for the visual recognition of objects (known as the "what" pathway), and the dorsal stream which involves V1, V2, V3, V5/MT and the parietal cortex, believed to be responsible for location representation and action control (previously known as the "where" pathway, later revised as the "how" pathway) (Gallivan & Goodale, 2018; Goodale & Milner, 1992; Tovée, 2008; Werner & Chalupa, 2013). It is important to note that these pathways are interconnected (Freud et al., 2016; Werner & Chalupa, 2013). In other words, different parts of the visual system function cohesively to create a comprehensive perception of the world.

1.2 Two Types of Synaptic Plasticity

Neurons communicate with each other through structures called synapses. Within a synapse, neurotransmitters are released from the presynaptic neuron through vesicle exocytosis. These molecules traverse the synaptic cleft and then bind to receptors on the postsynaptic membrane, initiating subsequent activity in the postsynaptic neuron (Vitureira & Goda, 2013). The strength of synaptic transmission is determined by the number of neurotransmitters released and the number of postsynaptic receptors (Vitureira & Goda, 2013). Importantly, synaptic strength is not fixed and undergoes changes in response to neuronal activity, a phenomenon known as synaptic plasticity. There are two main types of synaptic plasticity: Hebbian plasticity and homeostatic plasticity.

Hebbian plasticity involves the strengthening (long-term potentiation, LTP) or weakening (long-term depression, LTD) of a synaptic connection, characterized by positive feedback (Bang et al., 2023). For example, during the critical period, when one eye experiences visual deprivation (monocular deprivation), a binocular neuron—one that receives inputs from both eyes—becomes more responsive to inputs from the non-deprived eye and less responsive to those from the deprived eye (Hubel & Wiesel, 1964, 1970; Wiesel & Hubel, 1963). This change aligns with Hebbian plasticity, where a loss of inputs can be expected to cause pruned synaptic connections (Drager, 1978; Frenkel & Bear, 2004;

Yee et al., 2017). Another example of Hebbian plasticity is perceptual learning. Perceptual learning involves a lasting change in one's perception of a visual stimulus through repeated exposure to a specific visual task (Prettyman, 2019). This change, usually an improvement in behavioural performance, is believed to involve the reinforcement of synaptic connections related to the trained visual task (Bang et al., 2023; Sumner et al., 2020). In essence, Hebbian plasticity strengthens local synaptic efficacy to adapt involved neurons to better represent an external stimulus.

On the other hand, homeostatic plasticity operates in an opposite direction to Hebbian plasticity. This type of plasticity, characterized by negative feedback, is found to downscale Hebbian changes, thereby preventing excessive synaptic strengthening or pruning and ensuring synaptic stability within individual neurons (Bang et al., 2023; Vitureira & Goda, 2013; Yee et al., 2017). Importantly, this downscaling appears to globally affect all synaptic connections across the neuronal membrane, hence preserving the relative strength differences between synapses established through Hebbian changes. (Bang et al., 2023; Keck et al., 2017; Turrigiano, 2012; Vitureira & Goda, 2013; Yee et al., 2017). Thus, homeostatic plasticity can be considered a compensatory mechanism to Hebbian plasticity. Another example of homeostatic plasticity is contrast gain control, where the visual cortex dynamically adjusts its response function based on stimulus contrast levels (Boynton, 2005; Burrone & Murthy, 2003; Gardner et al., 2005). When exposed to a low-contrast stimulus, neuronal responses to different levels of contrasts are globally upscaled, ensuring that the neuron remains most sensitive to the target contrast. Conversely, when presented with a high-contrast stimulus, neuronal responses are globally downscaled. This adaptive shift in neuronal response allows neurons to maintain their sensitivity to visual inputs despite varying contrasts (Boynton, 2005; Gardner et al., 2005). In this manner, homeostatic plasticity empowers the visual cortex to discern complex contrast changes in visual stimuli.

In summary, Hebbian plasticity and homeostatic plasticity are two types of neural plasticity that modulate the strength of synaptic connections. These types of plasticity operate through distinct neural mechanisms. Despite their opposing effects, both types of plasticity work in concert to shape the neural network, enhancing the ability of our brain to adapt to the ever-changing sensory environments encountered in the real world.

1.2.1 Critical Periods and Amblyopia

The development of the visual system relies heavily on visual experience early in life. This period of heightened sensitivity to visual experience is known as the critical period (Wiesel, 1982). Disrupted

visual experience during this critical period can lead to lifelong changes in visual development. In particular, monocular deprivation has been found to significantly alter ocular dominance columns in the developing visual cortex (Hubel & Wiesel, 1964, 1970, 1977; Wiesel & Hubel, 1963). Synaptic connections with the deprived eye are pruned and those with the non-deprived eye are expanded (Antonini & Stryker, 1993). Consequently, neurons become more responsive to the non-deprived eye input and less driven by the deprived eye. The duration of the critical period varies across species and depends on visual functions (Daw, 1998; Hensch & Quinlan, 2018). For ocular dominance, the critical period is thought to end at 1-2 months in rodents (Mitchell & Maurer, 2022), 1 year of age in kittens (Daw et al., 1992; Mitchell & Maurer, 2022), and 1 year in monkeys (Mitchell & Maurer, 2022). In humans, while there is no direct observation, indirect evidence from amblyopia seems to suggest that the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity may last up to 8 to 10 years of age (Daw, 1998; Hensch & Quinlan, 2018; Mitchell & Maurer, 2022; Vaegan & Taylor, 1979).

Amblyopia, commonly known as the "lazy eye", is a visual developmental disorder caused by abnormal visual experience early in life, such as ametropia, strabismus and congenital cataracts (Bretas & Soriano, 2016; von Noorden, 1981). While reminiscent of the monocular deprivation effect described above, amblyopia in humans may not necessarily involve a shift in ocular dominance columns (Goodyear et al., 2002; Horton & Hocking, 1996; Horton & Stryker, 1993). Nevertheless, amblyopia can lead to severely reduced vision in the affected eye, which cannot be immediately corrected through surgical and refractive treatments. Apart from visual acuity loss, other visual functions are also significantly impaired in patients with amblyopia, including contrast sensitivity, stereo vision, second-order processing, global image processing, temporal processing, and visuomotor skills (Birch, 2013; Hu et al., 2021; P.-C. Huang et al., 2012; Levi, 2006; Niechwiej-Szwedo et al., 2019), greatly affecting their quality of life. Treatment for amblyopia involves occluding or pharmaceutically penalizing the non-amblyopic eye. However, such treatment is often unsuccessful for individuals older than 10 years of age (Maconachie & Gottlob, 2015; Wu & Hunter, 2006). This evidence, along with the notion of the critical period, seems to support the idea that older children and adults may have limited cortical plasticity compared to younger children.

Nevertheless, studies have demonstrated robust plasticity in the adult visual cortex using various interventional techniques. These techniques include visual perceptual learning, dichoptic training, non-invasive brain stimulation and short-term monocular deprivation (Astle et al., 2011; Hess & Thompson, 2013, 2015; Sengpiel, 2014; Vagge & Nelson, 2016; Wong, 2012; Zhang et al., 2014). These treatments, which concentrate on reducing interocular suppression and improving binocular functions,

have demonstrated promising results, suggesting that amblyopia is fundamentally a binocular disorder (Bui Quoc et al., 2023; Chaturvedi et al., 2023; Levi et al., 2015; Lunghi, Sframeli, et al., 2019; Rodán et al., 2022; J. Zhou et al., 2019). It is conceivable that efforts to enhance these forms of visual cortex plasticity will pave the way for the development of effective treatments for amblyopia in adulthood in the future.

1.2.2 Neurotransmitters

As mentioned above, neurotransmitters are molecules that transmit synaptic signals between cells. Within the brain, there exist diverse types of active neurotransmitters, such as glutamate, gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), serotonin (5-HT), adrenaline and acetylcholine (ACh). Among these, glutamate and GABA emerge as particularly relevant for visual cortex plasticity (Skangiel-Kramska, 1988).

Glutamate is a notable excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain (Petroff, 2002). Among several types of glutamate receptors, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors have been proposed to be instrumental in the plasticity of the developing visual cortex (Bear, 1996; Berardi et al., 2000; Daw et al., 1995; Skangiel-Kramska, 1988; Sur et al., 2013). In particular, NMDA receptors appear highly active during the critical period (Catalano et al., 1997; Kapfhammer, 1996; Tsumoto et al., 1987). The inhibition of NMDA activity obstructs the impact of monocular deprivation (Kleinschmidt et al., 1987). Moreover, the postnatal shift in NMDA receptor subunits from NR2A to NR2B (i.e., an increase in the 2A/2B ratio) coincides with the critical period and is believed to regulate its onset and/or closure (Berardi et al., 2000; Quinlan et al., 1999; Roberts & Ramoa, 1999; Yashiro & Philpot, 2008). Collectively, these studies provide compelling evidence affirming the essential role of glutamate and NMDA receptors in driving visual cortex plasticity.

GABA, on the other hand, is the primary inhibitory neurotransmitter in the visual cortex (Petroff, 2002). It is synthesized by an enzyme named glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) and binds predominantly to GABA_A and GABA_B receptors (Daw, 2014; Petroff, 2002; Skangiel-Kramska, 1988). Evidence shows that the maturation of the GABAergic system occurs subsequent to that of excitatory circuits, leading to the proposition that the gradual maturation of GABAergic inhibition might be responsible for the closure of the critical period (Bavelier et al., 2010; Berardi et al., 2000; Hensch & Quinlan, 2018). In particular, reducing GABAergic inhibition appears to reinstate closed ocular dominance plasticity in adult rodents (Harauzov et al., 2010; Vetencourt et al., 2008). On the other

hand, mice lacking GAD enzymes exhibit little ocular dominance change after monocular deprivation (Hensch et al., 1998), indicating that GABA might also be crucial for the onset of the critical period. In addition to its role in visual cortex plasticity, GABA also contributes to interocular inhibition (Sengpiel & Vorobyov, 2005). Larger differences in GABA concentrations between dominant-eye viewing and non-dominant eye viewing conditions have been reported to correlate with stronger eye dominance (Ip et al., 2021). GABA is also implicated in perceptual alternations during binocular rivalry; further details on binocular rivalry will be discussed below. Altogether, these investigations highlight the pivotal role of GABA in visual cortex plasticity and visual perception.

1.3 Short-Term Ocular Dominance Plasticity in Adults

Details regarding short-term ocular dominance plasticity in adults are extensively covered in Chapters 3, 4 and 6. As a concise introduction, a brief period of monocular deprivation (MD) temporarily modifies sensory eye dominance. In contrast to the synaptic plasticity during the critical period, where binocular neurons become more responsive to the non-deprived eye, a few hours of MD leads to an increased dominance of the *deprived* eye in human adults, aligning with the concept of homeostatic plasticity (Bang et al., 2023; Castaldi et al., 2020; Hess & Thompson, 2015; Lunghi et al., 2011; J. Zhou et al., 2015). This ocular dominance plasticity can be induced through different visual deprivation approaches, including light deprivation (using a light-proof eye patch) (J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013), form deprivation (using a translucent eye patch) (Lunghi et al., 2011; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Min et al., 2018; J. Zhou et al., 2017; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013) and kaleidoscopic deprivation (creating fractionated, uninformative images) (Ramamurthy & Blaser, 2018). Furthermore, this shift in ocular dominance is associated with an elevation in visual evoked potential (VEP) amplitudes (Lunghi, Berchicci, et al., 2015) and blood oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) activity (Binda et al., 2018) measured for the deprived eye after MD. Notably, it has been documented that short-term MD reduces GABA levels in V1, suggesting that diminished interocular inhibition may be an underlying mechanism (Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015). Hence, it is plausible that interventions targeting the reduction of GABA in the primary visual cortex may potentially enhance this ocular dominance plasticity.

1.3.1 Binocular Rivalry

When observing opposing images through two eyes, perception alternates between either exclusive image (exclusive dominance percepts) and a blend of both images (mixed percepts). This phenomenon is referred to as binocular rivalry. Binocular rivalry can serve as a tool for assessing ocular dominance (Castaldi et al., 2020), which involves comparing the durations of each exclusive dominance percept for each eye.

Interocular inhibition has been suggested as a pivotal factor responsible for perceptual alternations (Kang & Blake, 2011; Mentch et al., 2019; Pitchaimuthu et al., 2017; Robertson et al., 2016; van Loon et al., 2013; Werner & Chalupa, 2013). A double-well energy landscape (Kang & Blake, 2011; Werner & Chalupa, 2013) and subsequently an additional well serving as a transition region (Skerswetat et al., 2018) are proposed to illustrate these perceptual changes. Initially when a stimulus presented to one eye dominates, the energy well is sufficiently deep, compared to internal noise (neuronal spontaneous discharge), enabling the current dominance state to persist. As adaptation accumulates, diminishing the inhibition on the currently suppressed eye, the energy well becomes shallower, permitting internal noise of sufficient strength to trigger a shift in the perceptual state. As interocular inhibition alleviates, the perceptual state starts to enter the transition region, resulting in mixed percepts. Either *piecemeal* (partial fusion with residual rivalry within small spatial zones) or *superimposed* (complete fusion) percepts may occur. Intrinsic noise then further propels the perceptual state towards either exclusive dominance percept. In line with this energy landscape model are findings that demonstrate the essential role of GABAergic inhibition in binocular rivalry. In particular, higher GABA concentrations have been associated with longer percept durations and slower perceptual alternations (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2017; Robertson et al., 2016; van Loon et al., 2013). Similarly, by administering GABA receptor agonists, Mentch et al. (2019) observed a significant increase in the proportion of exclusive dominance percepts. Based on these findings, it is conceivable that interventions that modify GABAergic inhibition may cause changes in perceptual alternations.

1.4 Effects of Physical Exercise

Physical exercise is shown to enhance a diverse array of cognitive functions, including executive functions, attentional control, learning and memory (Cassilhas et al., 2016; Hötting & Röder, 2013; Kirk-Sanchez & McGough, 2013). It has also been identified as a potential enhancer of visual cortex plasticity, especially in animals. For example, research has demonstrated that physical exercise can

restore juvenile-like ocular dominance plasticity in adult mice (Kalogeraki et al., 2014) and induce the recovery of depth perception and visual acuity in adult amblyopic rats (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Sansevero et al., 2020). Notably, locomotion and motor enrichment have been found to decrease GABAergic inhibition in the rat visual cortex (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Fu et al., 2014), suggesting that the diminution of cortical inhibition may underlie exercise-induced visual cortex plasticity in adulthood.

However, the effects of physical exercise on visual cortex plasticity in human adults appear heterogeneous. Some studies indicate positive influence of exercise within the visual cortex. For instance, cycling facilitated the effect of perceptual learning on an orientation discrimination task, which, according to the authors, may be attributed to the release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) during physical activity (Perini et al., 2016). In addition, cycling has also been shown to amplify ocular dominance shifts following short-term MD, as measured through binocular rivalry, perhaps involving a shift in the excitation/inhibition balance within the visual cortex (Lunghi & Sale, 2015). Nevertheless, other studies failed to report similar enhancement on visual perceptual learning (Campana et al., 2020; Connell et al., 2018) or short-term ocular dominance plasticity, whether measured through binocular combination (J. Zhou et al., 2017) or binocular rivalry (Finn et al., 2019; Virathone et al., 2021). The exact reasons for the inconsistency on the effects of physical exercise across studies are unclear. Differences in exercise intensities, dosage, timing and the measurement tasks employed across studies may contribute to the discrepancies in outcomes (Abuleil et al., 2022). In summary, the current body of evidence regarding the modulatory effects of physical exercise remains inconclusive. More comprehensive research is warranted to systemically investigate the impact of physical exercise on visual cortex plasticity.

1.5 Chapter Summary

The visual system is a complex pathway projecting visual information from the retina to early and higher visual cortices. Different parts of this intricate pathway collaborate cohesively to construct the perception of the external visual world. Two types of synaptic plasticity exist within the brain. Hebbian plasticity reinforces synaptic changes brought by external stimuli, and homeostatic plasticity acts to downscale Hebbian changes and maintain the sensitivity of neurons to external stimuli. Both types of plasticity work in concert to refine synaptic connections between neurons, enabling the brain to adapt to changes in visual environments.

Early in life, there is a period of heightened sensitivity for visual development, known as the critical period. Abnormal visual experience during the critical period can lead to amblyopia, characterized by reduced vision in the affected eye. Amblyopia can be treated by occluding or penalizing the non-amblyopic eye in childhood. However, such treatment is often ineffective for older children and adults, suggesting limited cortical plasticity compared to younger individuals. Glutamate and GABA are two neurotransmitters that are crucial in governing visual cortex plasticity during the critical period. GABA also plays a pivotal role in interocular inhibition, which is relevant to ocular dominance and binocular rivalry.

Recent advancements reveal robust plasticity in the adult visual cortex. Short-term ocular dominance plasticity is a type of homeostatic plasticity characterized by a shift in ocular dominance following MD in favour of the deprived eye. This plasticity can be induced in human adults through various deprivation approaches and is believed to be associated with a reduction in GABAergic inhibition in V1. This raises the intriguing question of whether interventions targeted at reducing GABA levels can potentially enhance ocular dominance plasticity. Ocular dominance can be measured by various behavioural tasks, including a binocular rivalry task. The role of interocular inhibition underlying perceptual alternations in binocular rivalry can be depicted by a double-well energy landscape model with a transition region. On the other hand, although physical exercise has been shown to augment various cognitive functions and improve visual performance in animal models, its effects on visual cortex plasticity in human adults remain inconclusive. Therefore, further research is needed to fully comprehend the enhancement of visual cortex plasticity in adulthood. This thesis aims to contribute to the existing body of literature by examining the efficacy of enhancing short-term ocular dominance plasticity through non-invasive brain stimulation techniques, introduced in Chapter 2.

Chapter 2 Non-Invasive Brain Stimulation (NIBS)

2.1 Overview

In the nervous system, neural signals are transmitted in the form of electric current. At a resting state, the nerve membrane maintains a polarized resting potential through sodium-potassium exchange (Matthews, 2002; Newman, 1980). The inside of the membrane remains negative compared to the outside, creating a voltage difference at approximately -70 millivolts (mV) (Figure 2-1). Stimulation by an external signal opens sodium channels on the nerve membrane. As a result, the strong electrochemical force created by the resting potential propels sodium ions (Na⁺) from the outside to the inside. The membrane potential begins to increase, a process known as depolarization. Upon reaching a certain voltage threshold, sodium channels are further opened, resulting in a huge influx of Na⁺. This rapid depolarization triggers an action potential, shifting the membrane potential to positivity. This action potential is then propagated to the neuron's soma and axon, subsequently transmitted to its downstream neurons through synapses, triggering further alterations in the downstream network. Simultaneously, as the membrane potential becomes positive, potassium channels are activated, rapidly moving potassium ions (K^{+}) from the inside to the outside, leading to the repolarization of the membrane potential. Excess efflux of K⁺ briefly causes hyperpolarization, after which the membrane potential gradually returns to its resting state, prepared for the next stimulus. It is noteworthy that an influx of calcium ions (Ca²⁺) can also lead to an action potential. In fact, elevated intracellular concentration of Ca^{2+} carries other functional implications, including triggering the opening of potassium channels, the release of neurotransmitters, and the contraction of muscle fibres (Matthews, 2002). Therefore, neuronal activity essentially involves the opening of ion channels and alterations in the membrane potential, triggering internal changes such as neurotransmitter release and subsequently leading to downstream modifications through synaptic connections.



Figure 2-1. Illustration of an action potential (blue curve) and the influence of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (a-tDCS) (red curve). Normally when stimulated by an external signal (blue curve), the nerve membrane undergoes depolarization, with the membrane potential shifting towards positivity. Upon reaching the firing threshold, an action potential occurs, after which the membrane repolarizes until hyperpolarization. Eventually, the membrane gradually returns to its resting potential. When a-tDCS is applied (red curve), the resting membrane potential is elevated, closer to the firing threshold. The action potential is also higher than normal. a-tDCS is a type of electrical stimulation. A detailed explanation of a-tDCS is provided below in Section 2.2.1. (Reprinted from "Neurobiological Mechanisms of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation for Psychiatric Disorders; Neurophysiological, Chemical, and Anatomical Considerations," by Yamada, Y., & Sumiyoshi, T., 2021, *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 15*, p. 3. Copyright © 2021 Yamada and Sumiyoshi under the Creative Commons CC-BY license.)

The membrane potential can be experimentally manipulated. For instance, physiologically increasing K^+ concentration in the extracellular fluid significantly lowers the resting potential, hindering the firing of an action potential (Huxley & Stämpfli, 1951), which renders a neuron less excitable. Similar alterations can be achieved through non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS) (Newton et al., 1999; Paulus, 2011; Siebner et al., 2022). By exerting a change in current flow, NIBS is capable of modulating the

functional states of the stimulated neurons and their downstream networks, eventually leading to a measurable change at a behavioural level. Indeed, research has shown that NIBS is able to modulate various brain functions including mood, perception, attention, working memory, motor functions and more (Antal et al., 2022; Bradley et al., 2022). More importantly, NIBS effects are not limited to the duration of stimulation, but are enduring, lasting from hours to even months (Hess & Thompson, 2015; Oberman, 2014; Perin et al., 2020). These long-lasting "offline" effects (effects that persist after cessation of stimulation) are believed to have different mechanisms from "online" modulation (modulatory effects during the stimulation) on membrane potential and appears to involve synaptic alterations including long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LDP) (Antal et al., 2022; Sabel et al., 2020; Sudbrack-Oliveira et al., 2021). These enduring aftereffects open the possibility of visual rehabilitation using NIBS techniques (Clavagnier et al., 2013; Hess & Thompson, 2015; Perin et al., 2020).

In the past few decades, various types of NIBS have emerged, such as transcranial electrical stimulation (tES), transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and transcranial ultrasound stimulation (TUS) (Darmani et al., 2022; Rotenberg et al., 2014; Sabel et al., 2020; Wagner et al., 2007). These techniques involve different neural mechanisms. This chapter will focus on the neuromodulatory effects of tES and TMS.

2.2 Transcranial Electrical Stimulation (tES)

Transcranial electrical stimulation (tES) involves the delivery of low-intensity electrical current, typically 0.5-2 milliamperes (mA), to the brain (Bradley et al., 2022; Thair et al., 2017). Electrical current is generated by a stimulator and flows to and back from the brain through electrodes placed on the scalp (Figure 2-2). The number of electrodes used and their placement depend on the purpose and design of each study (Thair et al., 2017). At least one anode (through which current flows into the brain) and one cathode (through which current flows back to the stimulator) are required. The current amplitude and electrode sizes determine current density, which can be crucial for electrical stimulation (Nitsche et al., 2007; Thair et al., 2017). With the same amplitude, a larger electrode results in smaller density, whereas a smaller electrode increases the density and focality of stimulation. A density of at least 0.017 mA/cm² is recommended for modifying cortical excitability in the human motor cortex (Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Thair et al., 2017), although a minimum density is not yet established for the visual cortex. Besides current density, it should be noted that individual anatomical differences (such

as skull and cerebrospinal fluid thickness and the folding patterns of gyri) may also have a critical impact on tES effects (Opitz et al., 2015). These variations may partially explain why tES shows an effect in some studies but not in others (Bello et al., 2023).



Figure 2-2. tES setup. From left to right: saline solution, two electrodes placed in sponge pads soaked with saline and fastened by elastic straps, a measuring tape and an electrical stimulator (DC Stimulus Plus, neuroConn GmbH, Ilmenau, Germany).

Based on the specific type of electrical current delivered, tES encompasses a range of stimulation modalities. The following sections will discuss two types of tES, namely transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) and transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS).

2.2.1 Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS)

Transcranial direct current stimulation employs a constant, direct current to stimulate the brain. It involves placing a stimulation electrode on the target cortical area and a reference electrode on a reference area (such as the vertex). Depending on which electrode acts as the stimulation electrode, there are two types of tDCS: anodal (a-)tDCS and cathodal (c-)tDCS. Research shows that a-tDCS produces facilitatory effects on the stimulated area whereas c-tDCS appears to inhibit cortical excitability (Antal et al., 2003, 2004; Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Reinhart et al., 2016; Sabel et al., 2020). As a result, studies have been employing mainly a-tDCS to investigate the enhancement of visual cortex plasticity. Details regarding this are provided in Chapter 4.

In terms of neural mechanisms, it is believed that low-intensity a-tDCS does not directly induce neuronal firing, but rather shifts the resting membrane potential closer to the firing threshold by activating sodium and calcium channels (Figure 2-1) (Korai et al., 2021; Stagg et al., 2018; Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021). In particular, underneath the anodal electrode, negative potential accumulates around proximal dendrites, while positive potential accumulates around the distal soma and axon (Reinhart et al., 2017). This increase in positive potential depolarizes the soma and axon, elevating the probability of an external signal triggering an action potential (Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021). Online modulation by a-tDCS may further activate a cascade of signalling transduction within the neuron, trigger a downregulation in GABAergic activity, as shown in the human motor cortex (Stagg et al., 2009, 2011) and the cat visual cortex (Zhao et al., 2020), and modify the strength of its synaptic connections with post-synaptic neurons, resulting in LTP-like alterations in participants' behaviour (Korai et al., 2021; Stagg et al., 2018; Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021). With these long-term mechanisms, a-tDCS remains a powerful tool for neuromodulation and has promising application in visual rehabilitation.

2.2.2 Transcranial Random Noise Stimulation (tRNS)

As a form of alternating current stimulation, tRNS is a relatively recent technique, initially introduced by Terney et al. (2008). Electrical current flows between two electrodes, the amplitude and direction of which randomly changes while conforming to a Gaussian distribution (Antal & Herrmann, 2016; Potok et al., 2022). The frequency of the alternating current also fluctuates randomly within a specific range. Frequencies ranging from 0.1 Hz to 100 Hz are categorized as low frequency, while those between 100 Hz and 640 Hz are classified as high frequency. Notably, high-frequency tRNS (hf-tRNS) has

demonstrated greater efficacy within the visual cortex (Terney et al., 2008). Therefore, the majority of studies have employed the high-frequency band for investigations into visual cortex plasticity.

Evidence of hf-tRNS enhancing visual performance is reviewed in detail in Chapter 3. Examples of such enhancement include reduced phosphene thresholds indicating increased cortical excitability (Herpich et al., 2018), heightened orientation discrimination performance (Fertonani et al., 2011), improved visual acuity (Donkor et al., 2021) and faster and more pronounced effects of perceptual learning (Camilleri et al., 2014, 2016; Contemori et al., 2019; Herpich et al., 2019; Moret et al., 2018). Similar to tDCS, hf-tRNS is believed to activate sodium channels on neuronal membranes, inducing an influx of sodium ions, thereby heightening cortical excitability (Chaieb et al., 2015; Perin et al., 2020; Terney et al., 2008; van der Groen et al., 2019). Additionally, hf-tRNS appears to operate in a stochastic resonance manner, a phenomenon where an optimal level of noise enhances the neuronal representation of a subthreshold signal (Figure 2-3) (Miniussi et al., 2013; Potok et al., 2022). In line with this model, studies comparing various intensities of hf-tRNS have shown that 1-1.5 mA stimulation yields the most notable enhancement in visual task performance, surpassing both higher and lower intensities (Pavan et al., 2019; van der Groen & Wenderoth, 2016). Still, these mechanisms accounting for the online effects of hf-tRNS do not fully explain the enduring enhancement in visual performance observed for up to 6 months (Campana et al., 2014; Donkor et al., 2021; Herpich et al., 2019). Recent findings suggest that tRNS effects may be reliant on the GABAergic system in the human motor cortex (Chaieb et al., 2015), and tRNS seems to decrease GABA levels in the mouse prefrontal cortex (Sánchez-León et al., 2021). Although such evidence is yet to be found in the visual cortex, it remains a plausible hypothesis that hf-tRNS may enhance visual cortex plasticity by decreasing GABAergic inhibition, thereby leading to long-term improvements in visual performance.



Figure 2-3. Illustration of the stochastic resonance phenomenon. In each panel, the sinusoidal curve represents a subthreshold signal; the dotted line indicates the firing threshold; and the solid line depicts the baseline state of no response. When weak random noise is added to the signal (B), the subthreshold signal rarely reaches the threshold, resulting in minimal system output. With an optimal amount of noise (C), the system is able to represent the signal correctly. Excessive noise (D), however, leads to false positive responses that fail to accurately represent the signal. (Reprinted from "Modelling non-invasive brain stimulation in cognitive neuroscience," by Miniussi, C., Harris, J. A., & Ruzzoli, M., 2013, *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *37(8)*, p. 1706. Copyright © 2013 The Authors under the Creative Commons CC-BY license.)

2.3 Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a different type of non-invasive brain stimulation technique, first proposed by Barker et al. (1985). It involves the use of a TMS coil (Figure 2-4) to generate a changing magnetic field. When the coil is placed over a brain area, this changing magnetic field induces electric current in the underlying cortex through a phenomenon known as electromagnetic induction (Rotenberg et al., 2014; Siebner et al., 2022). This induced current is thought to cause an influx of calcium ions and depolarize the neuronal membrane, allowing external suprathreshold signals to reach the firing threshold (Wagner et al., 2007). The influx of calcium ions subsequently activates calcium-dependent potassium channels, resulting in hyperpolarization (Kamitani et al., 2001; Wagner

et al., 2007). This proposed mechanism aligns with the observation that TMS pulses lead to a burst of neural firing, which is then followed by a brief period of suppressed electromyography (EMG) activity, i.e., the cortical silent period, believed to involve inhibitory mechanisms mediated by GABA_B receptors (Fitzgerald et al., 2006; Valero-Cabré et al., 2017; Werhahn et al., 1999). In essence, TMS serves as a potent technique for brain stimulation and can be utilized to explore and modulate neural processing.



Figure 2-4. TMS apparatus, featuring a figure-of-eight coil (MCF-B65, MagVenture, Denmark). For a detailed description of TMS apparatus, please refer to the caption for Figure 6-1 in Chapter 6.

Various designs of TMS coils have been developed (Burke et al., 2019; Rotenberg et al., 2014; Valero-Cabré et al., 2017). Early coils were designed in a simple circular shape, which exhibit poor focality. Figure-of-eight coils were later developed, significantly improving TMS focality and enabling the selective stimulation of specific brain areas. The above coils, however, are only able to target superficial cortices (Burke et al., 2019; Siebner et al., 2022). H-shape coils have recently been developed for deeper stimulation, although with reduced focality compared to figure-of-eight coils

(Burke et al., 2019). Thus, the choice of a coil type can significantly impact the effects of brain stimulation (Brückner & Kammer, 2016). At present, figure-of-eight coils are the most widely used worldwide. Some coil models have also integrated cooling systems to prevent overheating. These coils can be used for longer and more intense stimulation (Valero-Cabré et al., 2017). In short, various types of TMS coils are available, and each study may choose one or more that best suits their research purpose.

TMS can be administered in the form of single pulses or repeated pulses (Valero-Cabré et al., 2017). The intensity of stimulation is quantified as a percentage of the maximum stimulator output (MSO) (e.g., an intensity of 45% MSO). Single-pulse TMS involves delivering single pulses separated by at least 3 seconds. It is commonly used to disrupt neuronal activity (thus inducing "virtual lesions") as well as to evoke neuronal responses (such as muscle twitches and phosphene perception) (Leitão et al., 2017; Rotenberg et al., 2014). On the other hand, repetitive TMS (rTMS) consists of three or more pulses delivered at a higher frequency (more than 1 pulse per 2 seconds). It is typically employed for therapeutic purposes and in interventional research (Sabel et al., 2020). TMS-induced phosphenes and the effects of rTMS are discussed below in detail.

2.3.1 Phosphenes and Phosphene Thresholds

By directly stimulating a visual area, TMS is able to elicit the perception of a faint flash of light, known as a phosphene. Phosphenes can be generated within multiple visual areas, including V1, V2 and V3, although those originating from V1 have been found to be the brightest (Salminen-Vaparanta et al., 2014; Schaeffner & Welchman, 2017). The perceived phosphenes exhibit significant variability in their properties, including shapes, colours and sizes, across individuals (Dugué et al., 2016; Marg & Rudiak, 1994; Salminen-Vaparanta et al., 2014). Nevertheless, higher-intensity TMS is found likely to generate more noticeable phosphenes (Lou et al., 2011).

An intensity that leads to a 50% chance of perceiving phosphenes (e.g., in 5 out of 10 trials) is commonly referred to as a phosphene threshold (PT). Typical procedures for measuring PTs include the following steps: 1) performing dark adaptation or preparing a dimly lit room, 2) applying single-pulse TMS to locate the phosphene "hotspot" (the most reliable cortical spot to induce phosphene perception), 3) applying single-pulse TMS at various intensities to determine the PT (Abrahamyan et al., 2015; Clavagnier et al., 2013; de Graaf et al., 2017; Deblieck et al., 2008; Rahnev et al., 2013; Silvanto & Cattaneo, 2021; Stoby et al., 2022; Thompson et al., 2008, 2009, 2016). It should be noted,

however, that different studies may employ various procedures to measure PTs. For instance, some studies may use double- or triple-pulse TMS (Lou et al., 2011; Silva et al., 2021; Tashiro et al., 2007). A simple binary search is commonly employed (Deblieck et al., 2008; Pearson et al., 2007; Silva et al., 2021; Silvanto & Cattaneo, 2021; Stoby et al., 2022; Thompson et al., 2016), although more complicated methods, such as a Bayesian staircase (Abrahamyan et al., 2015; de Graaf et al., 2017) or the method of constant stimuli (Brückner & Kammer, 2014, 2016; Kammer et al., 2001; Zazio et al., 2019), have been adopted by some researchers to determine the threshold. Some studies may define a PT differently (Pearson et al., 2007; Pitskel et al., 2007; Silva et al., 2021; Tashiro et al., 2007; Tuna et al., 2020). Some may perform the procedures under normal lighting instead of a dark or dimly lit room (Brückner & Kammer, 2016). Interestingly, even when blindfolded, whether the eyes are open or closed has been reported to significantly affect PT results (de Graaf et al., 2017). Such substantial variability in PT measurement methodology makes it challenging to compare results across studies.

PTs have been widely employed as a measure of visual cortex excitability (Boroojerdi et al., 2000; Franca et al., 2006; Gerwig et al., 2003; Valero-Cabré et al., 2017). A lower PT indicates a higher level of excitability in the cortex, while a higher PT indicates reduced excitability. Given the considerable variability in individual cortical excitability and anatomical factors (such as coil-to-cortex distance), PTs have been commonly used to guide normalized and individualized TMS intensities by studies that target the visual cortex (Siebner et al., 2022; Valero-Cabré et al., 2017). As a result, within each study, this normalization approach enables the comparison of results across different participants.

Taken together, these studies demonstrate that phosphenes induced by TMS to the visual cortex serve as a valuable tool for normalizing TMS intensities across individuals, which facilitates the interpretation of TMS effects. Nonetheless, it is important to note that comparing findings between studies remains challenging due to the variations in the methodologies employed.

2.3.2 Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS)

Repetitive TMS (rTMS) refers to the delivery of repeated TMS pulses with an inter-pulse interval of less than 2 seconds (Burke et al., 2019; Klomjai et al., 2015; Rossini et al., 2015; Valero-Cabré et al., 2017). Depending on the frequency of TMS pulses used, there are different forms of rTMS. Traditional forms include low frequency (≤ 1 Hz) and high frequency (≥ 1 Hz) rTMS. Low-frequency rTMS is generally delivered continuously. For instance, in 1-Hz rTMS, one TMS pulse is delivered each second. High-frequency rTMS, on the other hand, is usually applied in the form of high-frequency trains that
last a few seconds. These trains may be interleaved with an inter-train interval that lasts dozens of seconds (Rotenberg et al., 2014). Other newer forms of rTMS protocols include theta-burst stimulation (TBS), paired-pulse stimulation and rhythmic TMS (Cirillo et al., 2017; Sabel et al., 2020). These newer rTMS protocols, however, are out of the scope of this thesis and therefore not discussed in detail.

The effects of rTMS on brain activity display a frequency-dependent pattern. Studies, especially those targeting the motor cortex, have demonstrated that low-frequency rTMS reduces neuronal activity while high-frequency rTMS exhibits a facilitatory effect (Casula et al., 2014; Fitzgerald et al., 2006; Sabel et al., 2020; Valero-Cabré et al., 2017). This finding is supported by metabolic measurements in the cat visuo-parietal cortex, which revealed diminished and heightened brain activity following low-and high-frequency rTMS, respectively (Valero-Cabré et al., 2007). It is suggested that rTMS can influence Ca²⁺ signalling (Cirillo et al., 2017; Moretti & Rodger, 2022), which may lead to alterations in gene expression, the release of neurotransmitters (such as GABA, glutamate and serotonin) and synaptic plasticity (Brown et al., 2022; Cirillo et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2023; Moretti & Rodger, 2022; Siebner et al., 2022), thereby resulting in long-term modifications of brain activity. Overall, these studies highlight rTMS as a potent tool for modulating neural plasticity.

On the other hand, investigations into the effects of traditional rTMS of the visual cortex remain limited (Sabel et al., 2020). Some studies have reported inhibitory effects of low-frequency rTMS in line with the dichotomy observed in the motor cortex (Bocci et al., 2011; Hirose et al., 2007; Tashiro et al., 2007). There are, however, also studies suggesting a facilitatory effect (Fierro et al., 2005) and no significant effect (Brückner & Kammer, 2014). Studies on high-frequency rTMS effects in the visual cortex are even scarcer, although facilitatory effects have been reported in cats (Kozyrev et al., 2018) and in patients with amblyopia (Thompson et al., 2008). In addition, a more recent study shows that a single session of rTMS may not significantly affect neurotransmitters in the visual cortex, while repeated sessions may yield more profound effects (Rafique & Steeves, 2020). Given the limited and occasionally inconsistent evidence, further research is necessary to fully elucidate the effects of rTMS at different frequencies on the visual system.

2.4 The State-Dependency of NIBS

Although initially surprising, the observation that the same stimulation protocol applied to the same cortical area does not always yield the same effects is not uncommon. Indeed, NIBS effects, particularly the modulatory effects of TMS, are found to depend on the activation state of the cortical area prior to

brain stimulation, a phenomenon known as the state-dependency of NIBS (Rotenberg et al., 2014; Silvanto & Pascual-Leone, 2008). This phenomenon has been observed with TMS in multiple brain areas, including the prefrontal cortex (Borgomaneri et al., 2020), the motor cortex (Bergmann et al., 2012; Schaworonkow et al., 2019; Siebner et al., 2004; Zrenner et al., 2018) and visual areas (Cattaneo & Silvanto, 2008b, 2008a; Schwarzkopf et al., 2011; Silvanto et al., 2007, 2008). For instance, while both single-pulse TMS and 1-Hz rTMS impaired motion detection performance, single-pulse TMS delivered after 1-Hz rTMS, instead, resulted in a facilitatory effect on task performance (Silvanto et al., 2008). Another example with regard to visual areas involves visual adaptation. Prolonged presentation of the same stimulus (i.e., visual adaptation) is known to result in decreased neuronal response to the adapted attribute (e.g., motion direction). TMS applied after adaptation, however, reversed such effects of adaptation and selectively facilitated the neural processing of the adapted attribute (Cattaneo et al., 2008; Cattaneo & Silvanto, 2008a, 2008b; Silvanto et al., 2007; Silvanto & Muggleton, 2008). Therefore, TMS may be more likely to activate less active neurons that have been affected by adaptation than non-adapted neurons (Cattaneo et al., 2008; Cattaneo & Silvanto, 2008a; Silvanto et al., 2007; Silvanto & Muggleton, 2008). Collectively, these studies demonstrate that the cortical activation state has a significant impact on the direction of TMS effects. For tES, research on this topic is sparse, although there are some reports of state-dependency when stimulating the parietal or prefrontal cortex (Hsu et al., 2016; J. Nguyen et al., 2018; Schutter et al., 2023; Vergallito et al., 2023). More research on the state-dependency of tES is needed, especially regarding tES to the visual cortex.

The effects of TMS can also depend on the delivered intensity. It has been shown that low-intensity TMS tends to produce a facilitatory effect, while high-intensity TMS appears to be inhibitory (Schwarzkopf et al., 2011). Silvanto & Cattaneo (2017) proposed a facilitatory/suppressive range model to characterize the varying effects observed with low- and high-intensity TMS. Importantly, Silvanto et al. demonstrated that the same TMS intensity can produce different effects on primed and non-primed visual stimuli (Silvanto et al., 2017; Silvanto & Cattaneo, 2021). The authors propose that the facilitatory/suppressive range may shift under different cortical states (Silvanto et al., 2017; Silvanto & Cattaneo, 2021). This shift in the facilitatory/suppressive range may, at least in part, explain the state-dependency of TMS.

Another explanation for the state-dependency of TMS involves neural oscillations. Research conducted in the motor cortex demonstrate that a same brain stimulation protocol produces varying effects depending on whether it is delivered during the positive or peak of specific oscillations (Fakche et al., 2022; Granö et al., 2022; Zrenner et al., 2018). For instance, the phase of μ -oscillation, which is

the most important rhythm in the sensorimotor cortex, impacts motor cortex excitability (Zrenner et al., 2018). Higher motor evoked potentials were associated with the negative peak of μ -oscillation, indicating higher cortical excitability (Zrenner et al., 2018). For the visual cortex, it is plausible that oscillation phases may similarly modulate the excitability of target neurons, thereby leading to state-dependent TMS effects.

In summary, the initial state of the brain plays a crucial role in NIBS effects, particularly those of TMS. This state-dependency may involve a shift in the facilitatory/suppressive range for TMS and can be dependent on the phases of neuronal oscillations. It is essential to consider this state-dependency when interpreting NIBS effects. It is worth noting that the majority of these studies investigated the state-dependency of single-pulse TMS. Further research is warranted to comprehensively explore the mechanisms underlying this state-dependency in the visual cortex for various NIBS techniques, including rTMS and tES.

2.5 Chapter Summary

Neural signals are transmitted through electric current. Techniques that alter membrane potentials, such as NIBS, can influence the firing of action potentials and therefore modulate the excitability of stimulated neurons. Different modalities of NIBS, including tES and TMS, operate through different mechanisms. More importantly, in addition to online effects (during stimulation), both tES and rTMS can induce long-lasting changes in behavioural performance after stimulation. These enduring offline effects hold significant relevance for clinical treatments. The excitatory effects of tES have been associated with a reduction in GABA levels, whereas the effects of rTMS in the visual cortex are less clear and may depend on the activation state of the stimulated cortex. Other factors can also influence the outcomes of NIBS, including both the NIBS protocols employed and the individual variability in cortical excitability and cranial anatomy. The utilization of customized TMS intensities based on PTs is likely to mitigate individual variability and facilitate across-participant comparisons.

This thesis investigates whether NIBS techniques, including hf-tRNS, a-tDCS and rTMS enhances short-term ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision. Details on these experiments are explained in Chapters 3, 4 and 6. In addition to binocular rivalry, we adopted a novel ocular dominance test proposed by Bossi et al. (2018), referred to as the letter-polarity test. Given the involvement of rivalrous images in both tests, we refer to the binocular rivalry test as "grating rivalry" to avoid

confusion. A comprehensive evaluation of the reliability of both tests is provided in Chapter 5. Finally, we provide possible explanations in Chapter 7 for interpreting our experimental findings.

The objectives of this thesis are as follows:

Objective 1: To investigate the effects of various NIBS modalities on short-term ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision.

Objective 2: To deepen the understanding of the neural mechanisms underlying short-term ocular dominance plasticity.

Objective 3: To contribute further insights into the state-dependency of NIBS within the visual cortex.

Objective 4: To evaluate the efficacy of the letter-polarity test as a tool of measuring ocular dominance shifts following MD.

Chapter 3

The Effect of Transcranial Random Noise Stimulation and Physical Exercise on Ocular Dominance Plasticity in Adults with Normal Vision

This chapter was published in Journal of Vision in 2022 (doi: 10.1167/jov.22.10.14). Individual author contributions can be found in the Summary of Contributions section above. This work was supported by grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC; RGPIN-04404 to WB and RGPIN-05394 and RGPAS-477166 to BT) and the Canadian Foundation for Innovation (34095 to BT), as well as a Midwestern University Faculty Start-Up Seed Grant to AC. BT was also supported by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government and InnoHK. None of the authors have any conflicts of interest to declare.

3.1 Overview

Short-term deprivation of one eye by monocular patching causes a temporary increase in the contribution of that eye to binocular vision when the eye patch is removed. This effect, known as ocular dominance plasticity, provides a model of neuroplasticity within the human binocular visual system. We investigated whether physical exercise and the non-invasive brain stimulation technique transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS), two interventions that may increase visual cortex neuroplasticity, enhance ocular dominance plasticity when delivered individually or in combination. Ocular dominance was measured using a grating rivalry test and a dichoptic letter contrast polarity judgement test. We observed robust ocular dominance changes for both outcome measures following 2-hour monocular deprivation; however, the magnitude of the effect was not influenced by exercise or tRNS. Ocular dominance plasticity may already be maximal after 2 hours of monocular deprivation in those with normal vision and therefore cannot be augmented by interventions designed to enhance neuroplasticity.

3.2 Introduction

Patching one eye (monocular deprivation, MD) for a short period of time alters eye dominance in human adults. Lunghi et al. (2011) were the first to demonstrate this effect, now referred to as ocular dominance

plasticity, by measuring binocular rivalry dynamics using dichoptic gratings (grating rivalry) before and after 2.5 hours of MD. They found that, after MD, the deprived eye exhibited increased dominance during grating rivalry. This effect has been independently replicated in individuals with normal vision and those with amblyopia using grating rivalry tasks (Finn et al., 2019; Lunghi et al., 2011, 2013; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019), global motion coherence tasks (J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013), binocular phase combination tasks (Bai et al., 2017; X. Chen et al., 2020; Min et al., 2018; Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019; J. Zhou et al., 2017; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013; J. Zhou, Thompson, et al., 2013), binocular orientation combination tasks (Spiegel et al., 2017; Y. Wang et al., 2019) and electrophysiological recordings (Chadnova et al., 2017; Lunghi, Berchicci, et al., 2015; J. Zhou et al., 2015). In these studies, MD duration ranged from 30 minutes to 5 hours and the ocular dominance plasticity effect lasted from approximately 30 minutes to 1 hour. Together, the results of ocular dominance plasticity studies indicate that MD modifies a fundamental component of binocular vision.

Increased neural activity in response to visual stimulation of the deprived eye has been observed using both functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (Binda et al., 2018) and steady-state visual evoked potentials (SSVEPs) (J. Zhou et al., 2015). Along with psychophysical observations (Baldwin & Hess, 2018; Sauvan et al., 2019; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013), these findings suggest that ocular dominance plasticity arises from an upregulation of contrast gain for deprived eye inputs to the visual cortex. The observation that MD causes a reduction in gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) levels in the primary visual cortex (Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015) suggests that reduced cortical inhibition may enable the associated contrast gain changes.

Several interventions have been identified that may enhance neuroplasticity within the visual cortex. These include systemic drugs (Gratton et al., 2017; Silver et al., 2008), exercise (Cassilhas et al., 2016; Hötting & Röder, 2013), video games (Bediou et al., 2018; Föcker et al., 2018) and non-invasive brain stimulation techniques (such as transcranial random noise stimulation, tRNS) (Fertonani et al., 2011; Sabel et al., 2020; for a review, see Thompson, 2021). Studies involving some of these interventions have used ocular dominance plasticity as a neuroplasticity index. For example, Sheynin et al. (2019b) investigated the effect of cholinergic potentiation, which counteracts GABAergic inhibition, on ocular dominance plasticity, hypothesizing that it might enhance the effect of MD. Contrary to their hypothesis, they found that donepezil, a cholinesterase inhibitor, reduced ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision. In another study, participants played different genres of video games during monocular deprivation to test the hypothesis that attentionally demanding games would enhance

ocular dominance plasticity (X. Chen et al., 2020). No effect of video game play was observed. However, in a different study where participants either completed an attentive jigsaw task or passively stared at a plain curtain, Wang and colleagues found greater ocular dominance plasticity following the attentive task, suggesting that attention may still play a role in the effect of MD (M. Wang et al., 2021). Moreover, inspired by evidence from animal studies that physical exercise enhances neuroplasticity by reducing GABAergic inhibition (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Kaneko & Stryker, 2014), several groups have explored the effect of exercise on ocular dominance plasticity. The results have been mixed. Lunghi and Sale (2015) demonstrated that cycling increased the magnitude of the ocular dominance plasticity. Other groups, however, failed to replicate this effect (Finn et al., 2019; J. Zhou et al., 2017). Thus, despite these attempts, an effective protocol for enhancing human neuroplasticity indexed by increased ocular dominance plasticity has not yet been identified.

tRNS, which involves the delivery of an alternating current with randomly varying amplitudes and frequencies to targeted brain areas via head mounted electrodes (Terney et al., 2008), has the potential to enhance visual cortex neuroplasticity and enhance ocular dominance plasticity. Cortical excitability can be modulated using tRNS (Herpich et al., 2018), and several studies have reported that highfrequency tRNS (hf-tRNS; frequency range 100-640 Hz) to the visual cortex improves vision task performance. To illustrate, delivering hf-tRNS to the visual cortex for 22 minutes resulted in significantly better performance in an orientation discrimination task compared with sham stimulation (Fertonani et al., 2011). In addition, visual cortex hf-tRNS increased the rate and magnitude of visual perceptual learning for a global motion detection task in both healthy participants and patients with cortical blindness (Herpich et al., 2019). In patients with amblyopia, hf-tRNS to the visual cortex coupled with 2 weeks of perceptual learning significantly improved the visual acuity of both trained and untrained eyes (Campana et al., 2014; Moret et al., 2018). Possible mechanisms for tRNS effects include modulation of voltage-gated sodium channels leading to faster depolarization and the induction of stochastic resonance by adding noise to stimulated neural areas which results in a higher signal-tonoise ratio, a higher probability of positive response, and thus an improvement in signal detection (Moret et al., 2019; Pavan et al., 2019; van der Groen et al., 2019; van der Groen & Wenderoth, 2016). There is also evidence that tRNS induced a reduction in GABAergic inhibition when applied to the motor cortex (Chaieb et al., 2015) or the prefrontal cortex (Sánchez-León et al., 2021). Therefore, it is possible that tRNS may interact with MD to enhance deprived eye contrast gain and augment ocular dominance plasticity.

Based on their potential to modulate neural excitability and GABA-mediated inhibition within the human visual cortex, we explored the effects of physical exercise and occipital hf-tRNS on ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision. We further explored whether any effects of these two interventions were additive. Because ocular dominance plasticity may arise from reduced visual cortex inhibition, we hypothesized that hf-tRNS and exercise would each enhance the magnitude of eye dominance changes compared with monocular deprivation alone. We also predicted larger increases in ocular dominance plasticity when both interventions were combined. Deprived eye dominance was measured using two binocular rivalry tests - one that was a traditional rivalry test involving dichoptic gratings (hereafter referred to as the grating rivalry test) to measure periods of dominance of the component grating percept of each eye (Finn et al., 2019; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019; Sheynin, Proulx, et al., 2019) and the other involving dichoptic letters with opposite contrast polarities (hereafter referred to as the letter-polarity test). The letter-polarity test was recently proposed by Bossi et al. (2018). Compared with other psychophysical eye dominance tests, the letter-polarity test is a relatively easy task for participants to perform and has the potential to be used in clinical settings; therefore, we wanted to assess whether this test can measure eye dominance changes. Our secondary outcome was the duration of grating rivalry mixed percepts. An increase in mixed percept durations (perceiving the images of both eyes during grating rivalry) indicates a reduction of interocular inhibition (Kang & Blake, 2011). Because any changes in visual cortex inhibition induced by tRNS and/or exercise would be general (i.e., not specific to one eye), we anticipated that mixed percept durations might increase following these interventions.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Participants

Inclusion criteria were best corrected visual acuity $\leq 0.0 \log$ MAR in each eye. Exclusion criteria were (a) inability to fuse dichoptic images; (b) high baseline eye dominance (ED > 0.7), as determined by our computerized eye dominance tests described below; and (c) common safety considerations for transcranial electrical stimulation, including a history of epilepsy or seizures, pacemakers or metal implants within the skull, pregnancy, mental illness or psychiatric conditions, and psychoactive medication. Participants were asked to avoid any recreational drugs within 24 hours before their visits. This study conformed with the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee of Midwestern University (Downers Grove, IL). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to their participation.

3.3.2 Eye dominance tests

Eye dominance was measured using two tests: the grating rivalry test and the letter-polarity test. Visual stimuli for both tests were presented on a light-emitting diode monitor (ROG PG278QR, ASUSTeK Computer Inc., Taipei, Taiwan) against a grey background (48 cd/m²). The refresh rate of the monitor was 60Hz, and the resolution was 1920×1080 pixels. The stimuli for the grating rivalry test were generated on a Windows computer (Intel Core i7-8700K, 16GB RAM) using MATLAB R2019a (MathWorks, Natick, MA) with Psychtoolbox 3.0.15 extensions. The stimuli for the letter-polarity test were generated on the same computer via the PsychoPy module in Python 3.6.6. Participants viewed left and right stimuli dichoptically through a mirror stereoscope. The viewing distance was 108 cm. A chinrest was used to stabilize participants' head position.

In the grating rivalry test (Figure 3-1), two stationary, orthogonally oriented (+45° and -45°) circular gratings (2° diameter, 2 cycles per degree (cpd), 100% Michelson contrast) were dichoptically presented. Participants continuously reported their perception using a keyboard while fixating a central cross. Specifically, participants were instructed to press one of four keys to indicate exclusive perception of the -45° grating, exclusive perception of the +45° grating, perception of a uniform plaid pattern ("superimposition"), or perception of patches of the orthogonal gratings ("piecemeal"). Six 1-minute trials were presented. Percept durations were summed and averaged across trials. We subsequently added superimposition and piecemeal durations together to calculate the duration of total "mixed" percepts (d_M). Half of the mixed percept duration was added to each exclusive percept (deprived, d_D ; non-deprived, d_{ND}) to calculate eye dominance. This was done to include the contribution of each eye to mixed percepts within the equation. Thus, deprived eye dominance was ED_{rivalry} = $\frac{d_D + \frac{1}{2} * d_M}{d_D + d_{ND} + d_M}$. Eye dominance results ranged from 0 to 1, with a larger value indicating more dominance by the deprived eye. This calculation is mathematically equivalent to the ocular dominance index (ODI = $\frac{d_D - d_{ND}}{d_D + d_{ND} + d_M}$) used in Min et al., 2021 (i.e., ED_{rivalry} = $\frac{1}{2} * ODI + \frac{1}{2}$). The rate of perceptual alternations (i.e., the alternation rate) was calculated as the average number of alternations per second.



Figure 3-1. tRNS experimental design. (A) Procedures in the experiment. (B) Timeline of interventions during MD. In all conditions, participants received MD of their dominant eye for 2 hours. During the final 20 minutes of MD, participants received either tRNS or sham stimulation. In two conditions, participants performed a cycling task for a total of 60 minutes (10-minute blocks of cycling separated by 10-minute rests). Participants wore a heart rate sensor while cycling and were asked to maintain 60% of their maximum heart rate. Eye dominance was measured before and after MD using two computerized tests (C). Please refer to the main text for further details.

The letter-polarity eye dominance test was originally described by Bossi et al. (2018). Briefly, two pairs of inverse polarity letters were presented dichoptically (Figure 3-1). Each pair in the top and bottom rows contained a dark letter (with a negative contrast coded as a minus value) and a bright letter (with a positive contrast coded as a positive value). The contrasts of the two letters presented to each eye always summed to zero. Participants fused the fixation cross and the fusion-lock boarder of the stimuli to superimpose the positive and negative contrast versions of the same letter. Participants reported whether the top or bottom letter was whiter. When rivalry was experienced, participants were asked to compare the whiteness of the positive contrast upper and lower letters. To measure the "balance point" of the interocular contrast difference at which the left eye and right eye letters had an equal probability of dominance, we implemented the method of constant stimuli. Twenty repeats of nine letter

contrasts (from 0.3 to 0.7, in steps of 0.05, producing interocular differences ranging from 0 to 0.4) were tested in a random order for a total of 180 trials. With a given contrast value c, the contrasts in each vertical letter pair were either c and -(1-c) or -c and (1-c). These two pairs of contrasts were randomly assigned to the top or bottom row of the stimulus. For full details of the manipulation of letter contrasts, please refer to Bossi et al. (2017) and Bossi et al. (2018). We subsequently used a Logistic function to fit these data and calculated the point of subjective equality (PSE) as the balance point. This balance point was used to indicate deprived eye dominance (ED_{letter}). A value greater than 0.5 indicated greater dominance by the deprived eye; a value smaller than 0.5 indicated greater dominance by the non-deprived eye.

3.3.3 Cycling

In two visits, participants completed six 10-minute blocks of cycling on a stationary bike separated by 10 minute rest blocks (Finn et al., 2019; Lunghi & Sale, 2015) during the 2-hour monocular deprivation period (Figure 3-1). Participants wore a Polar H10 heart rate sensor (Polar Electro, Helsinki, Finland) to monitor their heart rate, and they were able to read their heart rate from a mobile app. While cycling, participants were asked to maintain their heart rate at 60% maximal heart rate. This maximal heart rate was calculated based on the Tanaka formula (HR_{max} = $208 - 0.7 \times age$) (Tanaka et al., 2001). A 1-mile walk test was used to estimate participants' maximal oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}) (Kline et al., 1987). VO_{2max} was used to ensure that participants were of average cardiovascular fitness for their age so that the heart rate estimation was valid.

3.3.4 Transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS)

During the final 20 minutes of the 2-hour monocular deprivation period, hf-tRNS (100–640 Hz) was delivered to the visual cortex using a battery-driven stimulator (DC-Stimulator Plus; neuroConn GmbH, Ilmenau, Germany). Two electrodes were placed over O_1 and O_2 as identified using the international 10/20 electrode positioning system. These sponge electrodes (35 cm²) were soaked in saline to reduce impedance. The electrodes were kept in place with elastic bands. A 1-mA current was applied to the visual cortex for 20 minutes. The current ramped up to 1 mA for 20 seconds at the beginning and ramped down for 20 seconds at the end. For sham stimulation, the electrodes were placed over the same cortical areas. The current ramped up for 20 seconds, and then ramped down for 20 seconds. The

stimulator was kept behind participants with its screen covered so that participants would not see it. The experimenter occasionally checked the screen as if real stimulation were being delivered.

3.3.5 Procedures

This study employed a within-subjects design and involved four laboratory visits (Figure 3-1). During each visit, participants first completed both eye dominance tests to measure their baseline eye dominance and then wore a translucent eye patch over their dominant eye as determined by the grating rivalry test (MD) for 2 hours. The eye patch allowed only diffuse light transmission. Participants were asked to keep their deprived eye open while using their other eye to watch a movie randomly picked from the *Harry Potter* franchise.

During the final 20 minutes of monocular deprivation, participants received either tRNS or sham stimulation of their visual cortex. In two of the four visits, participants were also asked to perform a cycling task while one eye being deprived. Thus, the combinations of interventions were (a) cycling + MD + tRNS; (b) cycling + MD + sham; (c) MD + tRNS; (d) MD + sham (Figure 3-1). The sequence of these four conditions was randomized. Immediately after MD, eye dominance was measured again. Because the grating rivalry test was our primary measure of eye dominance, participants always completed this test before the letter-polarity test.

3.3.6 Data analysis

Data were analysed using JASP. A *p* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Normality of data was assessed using Shapiro-Wilk tests. Mauchly's sphericity tests were used to confirm the sphericity of data. Non-spherical data were corrected using the Greenhouse-Geisser method. Outcome changes across conditions were compared using a two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with a within-subjects factor of condition (four conditions as described above) and a within-subjects factor of time (pre- vs post-intervention). Deprived eye dominance from each test, mixed percept durations, and alternation rates were analysed separately. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was also performed on the differences from baseline scores for deprived eye dominance. Effect sizes were reported using omega squared (ω^2).

3.4 Results

A total of 20 healthy adult participants (12 females) were recruited. Three participants were excluded due to high baseline eye dominance (ED > 0.7). Seven participants withdrew due to personal reasons. Hence, 10 participants (age: 22-30 years, median 25 years; 9 females) completed the study. All participants except two were naïve to this study. To ensure grating rivalry dynamics were correctly recorded, we removed any blocks with a total response duration < 50 seconds, indicating a failure to hold down a response button or the use of two button simultaneously. As a result, six trials out of the total 480 trials were removed from the analysis. As expected for participants with weak eye dominance, baseline eye dominance varied across sessions and across the two eye dominance tests (Li et al., 2010) (see Supplementary Table 1 in Appendix A).

3.4.1 Primary outcome: deprived eye dominance shift

Figure 3-2 (A & B) shows deprived eye dominance changes (ocular dominance plasticity) as measured by the grating rivalry test. There was a significant increase in deprived eye dominance after intervention, with a significant main effect of time: F(1, 9) = 13.56, p = 0.005, $\omega^2 = 0.254$. However, there were no significant differences across conditions, with no main effect of condition: F(3, 27) =0.113, p = 0.952, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, and no interaction between these two factors, F(3, 27) = 0.081, p = 0.970, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.



Figure 3-2. Deprived eye dominance data for the grating rivalry (A & B) and letter-polarity (C & D) tests in Experiment 1. The top row shows group mean data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. The bottom row shows individual pre and post data within each condition. In the grating rivalry test (A & B), the proportion of deprived eye percept duration was calculated to indicate deprived eye dominance. In the letter-polarity test (C & D), the letter contrast presented to the non-deprived eye at the PSE was calculated to indicate deprived eye dominance. Dashed grey lines represent an eye dominance of 0.5 (i.e., two eyes are perfectly balanced). A value above the dashed lines indicates greater dominance by the deprived eye. On four occasions

there was an eye dominance assignment error for participants with weak eye dominance. Therefore, there are four baseline data points slightly below the 0.5 line in Panel B. Because the grating rivalry test (A & B) was used to assign the dominant (deprived) eye, there are many baseline datapoints below the 0.5 line as anticipated for the letter-polarity test (C & D).

Figure 3-2 (C & D) shows deprived eye dominance changes as measured by the letter-polarity test. There was a significant increase in deprived eye dominance after intervention, F(1, 9) = 64.36, p < 0.001, $\omega^2 = 0.657$. However, there were no significant differences across conditions, F(3, 27) = 0.708, p = 0.556, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, and no interaction, F(1.851, 16.661) = 0.811, p = 0.452, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.

We also baseline normalized the data for each session for each participant using subtraction and performed a one-way repeated measures ANOVA for each eye dominance test to check for any differences between conditions. The results remained unchanged: grating rivalry test F(3, 27) = 0.081, p = 0.970, $\omega^2 < 0.001$; letter-polarity test F(1.851, 16.661) = 0.811, p = 0.452, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.

3.4.2 Secondary outcomes: mixed percept durations & alternation rates

We designed our button press options in the grating rivalry test to distinguish superimposition and piecemeal percepts, as it was reported that these two percepts could be influenced differently by monocular deprivation (Sheynin, Proulx, et al., 2019). However, superimposition was reported only by four participants for an average of 11.6 ± 8.5 seconds. Therefore, we combined the superimposition and piecemeal percept responses to assess mixed percept durations.

Figure 3-3 (A & B) shows mixed percept durations changes as measured by the grating rivalry test. There were no main effects of time, F(1, 9) = 0.021, p = 0.889, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, or condition, F(3, 27) = 0.336, p = 0.800, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, and no interaction, F(3, 27) = 0.740, p = 0.538, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.



Figure 3-3. Durations of mixed percepts (A & B) and alternation rates (C & D) measured by the grating rivalry test in Experiment 1. The top row shows group mean data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. The bottom row shows individual pre and post data within each condition. Both the durations of mixed percepts and alternation rates were averaged over six 1-minute trials.

Figure 3-3 (C & D) shows alternation rate changes as measured by the grating rivalry test. There were no significant differences between pre- and post-intervention, F(1, 9) = 0.039, p = 0.848, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, or across conditions F(3, 27) = 0.406, p = 0.750, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, and no interaction F(3, 27) = 0.286, p = 0.835, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.

3.5 Discussion

We replicated previous reports of ocular dominance plasticity following MD using both a grating rivalry test and a dichoptic letter-polarity test. Eye dominance shifted significantly in favour of the deprived eye after MD. This shift was not influenced by physical exercise, tRNS, or their combination. We also observed that neither mixed percept durations nor alternation rates during grating rivalry were significantly altered by tRNS, physical exercise, or MD.

We expected physical exercise to increase the magnitude of ocular dominance plasticity. Our hypothesis was mainly predicated on findings indicating that physical activity promotes visual cortex neuroplasticity and enables recovery of vision following early monocular deprivation (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Kaneko & Stryker, 2014) or stroke (Kalogeraki et al., 2016) in adult rats. In human adults, there has been evidence that physical exercise enhances neuroplasticity, resulting in cognitive function improvement (Cassilhas et al., 2016; Hötting & Röder, 2013). Furthermore, Lunghi and Sale (2015) observed that physical exercise enhanced ocular dominance plasticity. Finn et al. (2019) reanalysed Lunghi and Sale's data and found that the effect of exercise on ocular dominance plasticity was present when grating rivalry data were analysed using mean dominance durations but not when using median durations, indicating high variation across subjects. Within their own data, Finn et al. (2019), along with Zhou et al. (2017), did not observe any effect of exercise on ocular dominance plasticity. Moreover, studies using different experimental paradigms to explore exercise-induced neuroplasticity did not observe any effect of exercise on visual perceptual learning (Campana et al., 2020; Connell et al., 2018). Interestingly, Connell et al.'s (2018) work showed that exercise prior to perceptual learning blocked the learning effect. Here we observed that exercise did not modulate ocular dominance plasticity. It remains unclear why exercise had an effect in Lunghi and Sale (2015) but not in other studies.

High-frequency tRNS is a promising non-invasive brain stimulation technique that can modulate cortical excitability. hf-tRNS for as little as 20 minutes is able to reduce phosphene thresholds (increase visual cortex excitability) for up to 1 hour (Herpich et al., 2018). hf-tRNS also strengthens perceptual

learning for a variety of visual tasks (Campana et al., 2014; Contemori et al., 2019; Fertonani et al., 2011; Herpich et al., 2019; Moret et al., 2018). In patients with amblyopia, full-frequency tRNS leads to acute improvements in monocular contrast sensitivity and visual acuity (Donkor et al., 2021). Our results did not reveal an effect of hf-tRNS on ocular dominance plasticity.

Our finding that exercise, tRNS and their combination did not influence ocular dominance plasticity may simply indicate that these interventions have no effect on the homeostatic plasticity processes that are thought to underlie the effects of short-term MD. Another possibility is that there may be a ceiling effect for ocular dominance plasticity in visually-normal adults. In fact, as described in the introduction, several groups have tried to augment ocular dominance plasticity by combining MD with different interventions (X. Chen et al., 2020; Finn et al., 2019; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019; M. Wang et al., 2021; J. Zhou et al., 2017). Min et al. (2019) also examined whether there was any cumulative effect of multiple sessions of monocular deprivation on ocular dominance plasticity. Most of these studies did not observe an increase in ocular dominance plasticity, in agreement with our results. On the other hand, there is initial evidence that interventions such as exercise and tRNS may increase ocular dominance plasticity and improve vision in visually-impaired populations such as adults with amblyopia (Hess & Thompson, 2013; Lunghi, Sframeli, et al., 2019; Perin et al., 2020; Sabel et al., 2020; Tuna et al., 2020). Future studies should further explore the use of such interventions in these populations.

Most ocular dominance plasticity studies have adopted 2 to 2.5 hours of MD (Chadnova et al., 2017; X. Chen et al., 2020; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019; J. Zhou et al., 2017). Min et al. (2018) assessed whether varying the duration of MD from 30 minutes to 5 hours would influence the MD effect. They reported no statistically significant effect of duration; however, there did appear to be a trend for longer MD producing larger effects. In a neuromodulation study, Sheynin, Chamoun, et al. (2019) performed both 2-hour and 1-hour MD. Although the authors did not compare these two deprivation durations, it seems, from their data, that 2-hour MD produced ocular dominance plasticity that was two times the magnitude of that induced by 1-hour MD. Given such evidence, we suspect that shorter MD durations (i.e., less than 2 hours) may remove the ocular dominance plasticity ceiling effect in adults with normal vision and reveal enhanced plasticity following interventions such as exercise and tRNS.

We also examined the differential influence of MD, tRNS and exercise on mixed percept durations. This type of percept is believed to happen when interocular inhibition is relatively low, allowing for a temporary combination of left and right eye images (Kang & Blake, 2011). There are two subtypes of mixed percepts: superimposition, which involves binocular combination of both images, and piecemeal, where rivalry still exists in some parts of the stimuli (Alais & Melcher, 2007; Sheynin, Proulx, et al., 2019; Skerswetat et al., 2018). The prominence of mixed percepts during rivalry has been linked to GABA-mediated inhibition within the visual cortex. Increased GABA-mediated inhibition reduces mixed percept durations (Mentch et al., 2019), whereas MD has been found to increase mixed percept durations (Sheynin, Proulx, et al., 2019), presumably due to reduced visual cortex inhibition (Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015). However, not all results are consistent with this model. For example, Abuleil et al. (2021) observed prolonged mixed percept durations following continuous theta burst stimulation (cTBS) to the visual cortex, an intervention that increases inhibition (Franca et al., 2006; Sabel et al., 2020). In the same study, no change in mixed percept durations was observed following excitatory anodal tDCS of the visual cortex (Abuleil et al., 2021). A recent study (B. N. Nguyen et al., 2023) also observed no effect of MD on mixed percepts, contrary to Sheynin, Proulx, et al.'s observation (2019) but similar to ours.

One possible explanation for the absence of an effect of MD on mixed percept durations may be related to the size and spatial frequency of our grating rivalry stimuli. It has been demonstrated that these parameters influence grating rivalry dynamics whereby large and high spatial frequency stimuli tend to produce longer mixed percepts (Kang, 2009; O'Shea et al., 1997; Skerswetat et al., 2016). Previous studies on mixed percept durations have used various stimulus parameters for their grating rivalry tests, with sizes ranging from 1 to 6.1 degrees of visual angle and spatial frequencies ranging from 0.5 to 4 cpd (Abuleil et al., 2021; Bai et al., 2017; Lunghi et al., 2011, 2016; Lunghi, Galli-Resta, et al., 2019; Lunghi, Sframeli, et al., 2019; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Min et al., 2021; Sheynin, Proulx, et al., 2019). We chose stimuli with a size of 2 degrees and a spatial frequency of 2 cpd because it was the most common combination used by Lunghi et al. in their MD studies (Lunghi et al., 2016; Lunghi, Daniele, et al., 2019; Lunghi, Galli-Resta, et al., 2019; Lunghi, Sframeli, et al., 2019; Lunghi & Sale, 2015). It is worth noting that, as O'Shea et al. (1997) demonstrated, the combination of 2 cpd and 2° seems to produce nearly maximum exclusive percepts (thus minimum mixed percepts) compared with other combinations. It is possible that the few reports of superimposition from our participants and our findings of null effect on mixed percept durations may be a result of our combination of stimulus parameters.

Finally, we tested whether ocular dominance plasticity can be measured using the letter-polarity test proposed by Bossi et al. (2018). In their study, the authors compared eight different tests for eye dominance measurement. Their data demonstrated that the letter-polarity test was the most reliable one

among those tests. With the use of two-alternative forced choice, this test is likely to be straightforward for participants and therefore achieve good compliance and accurate results (Bossi et al., 2018). Here, with consistent findings from two eye dominance tests, we demonstrate that the letter-polarity test is sensitive to eye dominance changes in adults with normal vision. To our knowledge, this test has not yet been evaluated in visually-impaired populations such as adults with amblyopia. Future studies could examine whether this test is also accurate and sensitive for eye dominance measurement in these populations.

3.6 Conclusion

Our study demonstrates that neither tRNS, exercise nor their combination affected ocular dominance plasticity after 2 hours of monocular deprivation in adults with normal vision. Our null findings could result from a ceiling effect in our participants. These interventions also do not appear to modulate mixed percepts and alternation rates. We also show that the letter-polarity test is sensitive to eye dominance changes following MD in adults with normal vision. Future studies may examine whether exercise and hf-tRNS would affect ocular dominance plasticity with shorter deprivation durations and whether these interventions would enhance ocular dominance plasticity in visually-impaired populations.

Chapter 4

The Effect of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Ocular Dominance Plasticity in Adults with Normal Vision

This chapter was published in Scientific Reports in 2023 (doi: 10.1038/s41598-023-33823-7). Individual author contributions can be found in the Summary of Contributions section above. This work was supported by grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC; RGPIN-04404 to WB and RGPIN-05394 and RGPAS-477166 to BT) and the Canadian Foundation for Innovation (34095 to BT). BT was also supported by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government and InnoHK. None of the authors have any conflicts of interest to declare.

4.1 Overview

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of the occipital lobe may modulate visual cortex neuroplasticity. We assessed the acute effect of visual cortex anodal (a)-tDCS on ocular dominance plasticity induced by short-term monocular deprivation (MD), a well-established technique for inducing homeostatic plasticity in the visual system. In Experiment 2a, active or sham visual cortex tDCS was applied during the last 20 minutes of 2-hour MD following a within-subjects design (n = 17). Ocular dominance was measured using two computerized tests. The magnitude of ocular dominance plasticity was unaffected by a-tDCS. In Experiment 2b (n = 9), we investigated whether a ceiling effect of MD was masking the effect of active tDCS. We replicated Experiment 2a but used only 30 minutes of MD. The magnitude of ocular dominance plasticity was decreased with the shorter intervention, but there was still no effect of active a-tDCS. Within the constraints of our experimental design and a-tDCS parameters, visual cortex a-tDCS did not modulate the homeostatic mechanisms that drive ocular dominance plasticity in participants with normal binocular vision.

4.2 Introduction

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) involves the delivery of a weak direct electrical current to targeted cortical sites via electrodes placed on the scalp. tDCS modulates neural excitability of the stimulated brain area in a polarity-dependent manner (Nitsche et al., 2008; Sabel et al., 2020). In the

motor cortex, anodal tDCS (a-tDCS) elevates motor evoked potential (MEP) amplitude, indicating increased cortical excitability, whereas cathodal tDCS (c-tDCS) has the opposite effect (Nitsche & Paulus, 2000). tDCS may alter neural membrane potentials and increase or decrease the activity of sodium and calcium channels, therefore altering the probability of action potentials (Kenney-Jung et al., 2019; Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021). In addition, a-tDCS may modulate neurotransmission by facilitating serotonin, dopamine and glutamate signalling and attenuating the inhibitory GABAergic system, thus producing after effects on neural activity that outlast the stimulation itself (Antal et al., 2006; Reinhart et al., 2017; Stagg et al., 2009, 2011; Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021; Zhao et al., 2020).

When applied to the visual cortex, a-tDCS has effects that are consistent with reduced cortical inhibition. For instance, visual cortex a-tDCS enhanced visually evoked potential (VEP) amplitude in adults with normal vision for up to 50 minutes post stimulation, indicating increased cortical excitability, perhaps due to reduced inhibition (Frase et al., 2021). Visual cortex a-tDCS also improves vernier acuity, Snellen acuity, contrast sensitivity for high spatial frequencies (Reinhart et al., 2016), crowding in peripheral vision (G. Chen et al., 2021) and can augment the effect of visual perceptual learning (VPL) (X.-Y. Yang et al., 2022). In addition, a-tDCS effects have been examined among patients with amblyopia, a neurodevelopmental vision disorder characterised by chronic suppression of one eye. Spiegel et al. observed that visual cortex a-tDCS improved contrast sensitivity in some adults with amblyopia (Spiegel, Byblow, et al., 2013) and enhanced the effect of videogame-based dichoptic therapy on stereoacuity (Spiegel, Li, et al., 2013). Ding et al. (2016) demonstrated that a-tDCS increased VEP amplitude and improved contrast sensitivity in both adults with normal vision and adults with amblyopia. These studies indicate that a-tDCS can modulate visual cortex function and enhance visual cortex neuroplasticity.

To further examine the short-term effect of a-tDCS on visual cortex plasticity, we tested the hypothesis that a single session of visual cortex a-tDCS would enhance ocular dominance plasticity induced by short term monocular deprivation (MD). This is a well-established paradigm for producing homeostatic neuroplasticity within the human binocular visual system that causes a transient increase in deprived eye dominance (Chadnova et al., 2017; Lunghi et al., 2011; Min et al., 2018; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013). Ocular dominance plasticity involves mechanisms that may be modulated by a-tDCS. These include reduced GABAergic inhibition within the visual cortex and a transient increase in contrast gain for the deprived eye (Chadnova et al., 2017; Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013).

In our first experiment (2a), participants received MD for two hours and anodal, cathodal or sham tDCS was applied to the visual cortex during the final 20 minutes of MD. We assessed whether ocular dominance changes were augmented by a-tDCS. Cathodal tDCS (c-tDCS) was included as an active control condition. In Experiment 2b, we reduced the deprivation time to 30 minutes to test for ceiling effects in the magnitude of ocular dominance plasticity.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Participants

All participants had normal vision as defined by aided visual acuity ≤ 0.0 logMAR in each eye and stereoacuity ≥ 40 seconds of arc. Visual acuity was measured by an ETDRS chart (Precision Vision, Woodstock, IL). Stereoacuity was measured by the Titmus circle test (Stereo Optical Company, Inc., Chicago, IL). We excluded participants who were unable to fuse dichoptic images reliably or had an ocular dominance > 0.7 (one eye significantly more dominant than the other) as measured by either of our ocular dominance tests described below. Additionally, in line with guidelines in the tDCS literature, we excluded participants with a history or immediate family history of epilepsy or seizures, an implanted medication pump, a pacemaker, a defibrillator, metal implants in the head, heart disease, skin conditions at the electrode sites, pregnancy, hearing loss, recurring headaches, head injury, psychiatric conditions or psychoactive medication. Participants were instructed to avoid alcohol (more than one standard drink per hour) within 24 hours of testing, avoid caffeinated beverages within 3 hours of testing and ensure at least 5 hours of sleep before each visit. All participants provided written informed consent prior to participation. This study was reviewed and approved by the University of Waterloo Research Ethics Board and adhered to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki.

4.3.2 Visual stimuli for ocular dominance measurement

We employed two measures of ocular dominance, a grating rivalry test and a letter-polarity test (Figure 4-1). For both tests, visual stimuli were presented on a Windows computer (Lenovo M710s, Intel i7-7700, 8GB RAM) with an Asus VG279 monitor (refresh rate: 60Hz; resolution: 1920×1080 pixels). The grating rivalry test stimuli were generated using MATLAB R2018a (MathWorks, Natick, MA) with Psychtoolbox 3.0.18 extensions. The letter-polarity test stimuli were prepared using the PsychoPy

module in Python 3.6.6. Stimuli were dichoptically presented through a mirror stereoscope. Participants rested their head on a chinrest and viewed the stimuli at a distance of 86 cm.

b. Timeline of Experiment 2b Pre Post Pre Post Pre Post Pre Post DCS for 20 min Pre Post DCS for 20 min

a. Timeline of Experiment 2a

Figure 4-1. tDCS experimental design. (a) The timeline in Experiment 2a. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre), before tDCS at the 90th minute of MD (PreStim) and immediately after 120 minutes of MD (Post). (b) Illustration of the timeline for Experiment 2b. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre) and immediately after 30 minutes of MD (Post). In both experiments, a-tDCS, c-tDCS or sham stimulation was delivered to the visual cortex during the final 20 minutes of MD. (c) Examples of the two ocular dominance tests. Participants viewed the stimuli dichoptically. In the grating rivalry test, participants continuously pressed one of four buttons to indicate their perception. In the letter-polarity test, participants pressed the up or down arrow key to indicate the letter that they perceived as brighter than the other.

4.3.3 Ocular dominance tests

The same two ocular dominance tests used in Chapter 3, i.e., the grating rivalry test and the letterpolarity test, were used to measure participants' ocular dominance. For detailed descriptions of these two tests, please refer to Section 3.3.2. Stimuli were generated in Python 3.6.6 with PsychoPy and presented on an Asus VG279 monitor (60 Hz refresh rate, 1920×1080 resolution). A chin rest was provided to maintain a viewing distance of 86 cm. Grating rivalry data were analysed in the same manner, whereby trials with less than 50 seconds of button press responses were excluded. As a result, 9 trials were removed from a total of 612 trials in Experiment 2a; none were removed in Experiment 2b.

4.3.4 Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS)

In both Experiment 2a (120-minute MD) and Experiment 2b (30-minute MD), tDCS was delivered using a battery-driven stimulator (DC-Stimulator Plus; neuroConn GmbH, Ilmenau, Germany) (Figure 2-2). Towards the end of Experiment 2b, we switched to a different stimulator (DC-Stimulator MC; neuroConn GmbH, Ilmenau, Germany) while using the same stimulation protocol. This switch only affected three visits. Two 5×7 cm² electrodes were used, soaked in saline sponges. The target electrode was placed at Oz, and the reference electrode was placed at Cz, as defined by the international 10/20 electrode positioning system. Direct current at 2 mA was delivered for 20 minutes. The current ramped up to 2 mA for 20 seconds at the beginning and ramped down for 20 seconds at the end. During sham stimulation, the current ramped up, stimulated for 40 seconds, and then ramped down. Anodal, cathodal and sham stimulation sessions occurred on different days with an interval of at least 48 hours. The stimulation sequence was counterbalanced. Participants were not informed of the type of stimulation being delivered each day.

4.3.5 Procedures

Each participant had three visits. On each visit, baseline ocular dominance was measured using both the grating rivalry test and the letter-polarity test. The sequence of these two tests was counterbalanced across participants. The Miles eye dominance test was also performed. Participants extended their arms before them, formed a triangular aperture with their hands and viewed a distant object through the aperture. The dominant eye retained the image of the object when each eye viewed monocularly. This sighting test allowed a dominant eye to be determined if dominance measures were not consistent between the grating rivalry test and letter-polarity test. The dominant eye was subsequently deprived with a translucent eye patch (MD) for 120 minutes (Experiment 2a) or 30 minutes (Experiment 2b) (Figure 4-1). Participants were instructed to keep both eyes open and watched a common sequence of comedy videos during this time. tDCS (anodal, cathodal, or sham stimulation) was delivered during the

final 20 minutes of MD. Both computerized ocular dominance tests were repeated immediately after patching. Additionally, in Experiment 2a, the letter-polarity test was repeated after 90 minutes of MD (i.e., 10 minutes before tDCS started). We chose this test during patching to minimize disruption to the MD effect as it was shorter than the grating rivalry test (letter test mean $3.34 \pm SD 1.47$ min vs grating test 6 min). A questionnaire was provided at the end of each session to document any possible side effects of brain stimulation. Reported adverse effects of tDCS are listed in Supplementary Table 2 in Appendix A.

4.3.6 Data analysis

Data were analysed using JASP. Normality of the data was examined using Shapiro-Wilk tests. Mauchly's sphericity tests were used to confirm the sphericity of data. Non-spherical data were corrected using the Greenhouse-Geisser method. For normally distributed data, two-way repeated measures ANOVAs were used to assess the effect of condition (a-tDCS, c-tDCS and Sham) and time (Pre, PreStim and Post). Effect sizes (omega squared, ω^2) were reported for these analyses. For nonparametric data, Friedman tests were used in place of repeated measures ANOVAs. Effect sizes were illustrated using Kendall's *W*. Pairwise comparisons (independent samples *t* tests or Mann-Whitney *U* tests) were used to compare outcomes between the two experiments.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Experiment 2a: 120-minute MD

Twenty participants were screened. Two were excluded due to vision not reaching 0.0 logMAR in one eye and one was excluded due to unstable fusion. Therefore, a total of 17 participants (age: 21-28, mean 24.41 years; 10 females) completed the experiment.

4.4.1.1 Primary outcome: deprived eye dominance

Changes in deprived eye dominance are shown in Figure 4-2. For the grating rivalry test (Figure 4-2, panels A & B), deprived eye dominance significantly increased after MD, with a significant main effect of time: $\chi^2 = 22.4$, p < 0.001, W = 0.563. There was no significant main effect of condition: $\chi^2 = 0.40$, p = 0.819, W = 0.019. For the letter-polarity test (Figure 4-2, panels C & D), deprived eye dominance

significantly increased after MD, with a significant main effect of time: F(2, 32) = 166.0, p < 0.001, $\omega^2 = 0.575$. Post hoc tests showed that eye dominance increased significantly at the pre-stim timepoint (90 minutes of MD immediately before tDCS), then remained stable after tDCS (Pre vs PreStim p < 0.001, Pre vs Post p < 0.001, PreStim vs Post p = 0.068). There was no significant main effect of condition: F(2, 32) = 0.297, p = 0.745, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, and no interaction, F(2.055, 32.879) = 0.361, p = 0.705, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.



Figure 4-2. Deprived eye dominance data for the grating rivalry (A & B) and letter-polarity (C & D) tests in Experiment 2a. In the grating rivalry test (A & B), deprived eye dominance was indicated by the proportion of deprived eye percept duration. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre) and immediately after MD (Post). In the letter-polarity test (C & D), deprived eye dominance was indicated by the non-deprived eye letter contrast at the PSE. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre), 90 minutes after MD started (PreStim), and immediately after MD (Post). The top row shows group mean data. Error bars represent standard errors of the mean. **Post hoc *t* tests *p* < 0.001. The bottom row shows individual data within each condition. Dashed grey lines represent an eye dominance of 0.5 (i.e., two eyes are perfectly balanced). A value above the dashed lines indicates greater dominance by the deprived eye.

4.4.1.2 Secondary outcomes: mixed percepts & alternation rates

In the grating rivalry test, participants used two buttons to indicate their superimposition and piecemeal percepts. The durations of these two percepts were summed to give the overall duration of mixed percepts. Figure 4-3 shows the changes in these percepts. Only overall mixed percept data were normally distributed. Superimposition, piecemeal and overall mixed percept durations did not change significantly after MD, with no significant main effects of time (superimposition: $\chi^2 = 0.579$, p = 0.447, W = 0.026; piecemeal: $\chi^2 = 1.386$, p = 0.239, W = 0.009; overall mixed: F(1, 16) = 1.820, p = 0.196, $\omega^2 = 0.003$). In addition, tDCS did not modulate any of these percepts, with no significant main effects of condition (superimposition: $\chi^2 = 1.557$, p = 0.459, W = 0.025; piecemeal: $\chi^2 = 1.933$, p = 0.380, W = 0.023; overall mixed: F(2, 32) = 0.088, p = 0.916, $\omega^2 < 0.001$). No interaction was found between time and condition for overall mixed percepts, F(1.419, 22.710) = 0.305, p = 0.665, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.



Figure 4-3. Durations of superimposed (A & B), piecemeal (C & D) and overall mixed (E & F) percepts measured by the grating rivalry test in Experiment 2a. The top row shows group mean data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. The bottom row shows individual pre and post data within each condition. These durations were averaged over six 1-minute trials.

Figure 4-4 shows changes in alternation rates as measured by the grating rivalry test. Alternation rates did not change significantly after MD (time: F(1,16) = 1.877, p = 0.190, $\omega^2 = 0.003$). tDCS had no effect on alternation rates (condition: F(2,32) = 3.552, p = 0.040, $\omega^2 = 0.021$). There was no interaction between time and condition, F(2,32) = 1.943, p = 0.160, $\omega^2 = 0.002$.



Figure 4-4. Alternation rates measured by the grating rivalry test in Experiment 2a. (A) Group data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. (B) Individual pre and post data within each condition. Alternation rates were averaged over six 1-minute trials.

4.4.2 Experiment 2b: 30-minute MD

19 healthy adults were screened. Four were excluded due to vision not reaching $0/0 \log$ MAR in one eye, and one due to stereo acuity not reaching 40 arcseconds. Three participants were excluded due to ocular dominance > 0.7. One participant withdrew due to "itchiness" following tDCS, though rated as mild at the end of their visit, and one participant withdrew due to personal reasons. Therefore, a total of 9 participants (age: 20-28, mean 23.44 years; 8 females) completed the experiment.

4.4.2.1 Primary outcome: deprived eye dominance

Changes in deprived eye dominance are shown in Figure 4-5. For the grating rivalry test (Figure 4-5, panels A & B), deprived eye dominance significantly increased after MD, with a significant main effect of time: F(1, 8) = 14.37, p = 0.005, $\omega^2 = 0.307$. There was no significant main effect of condition:

 $F(2,16) = 2.012, p = 0.166, \omega^2 = 0.031$, and no interaction, $F(2,16) = 0.526, p = 0.601, \omega^2 < 0.001$. For the letter-polarity test (Figure 4-5, panels C & D), deprived eye dominance significantly changed after MD, with a significant main effect of time: $F(1,8) = 95.22, p < 0.001, \omega^2 = 0.564$. There was no significant main effect of condition: $F(2,16) = 0.034, p = 0.967, \omega^2 < 0.001$, and no interaction, $F(2,16) = 0.215, p = 0.809, \omega^2 < 0.001$.



Figure 4-5. Deprived eye dominance data for the grating rivalry (A & B) and letter-polarity (C & D) tests in Experiment 2b. Ocular dominance was measured at baseline (Pre) and immediately after MD (Post). The top row shows group mean data. Error bars represent standard errors of the mean. The

bottom row shows individual data within each condition. Dashed grey lines represent an eye dominance of 0.5 (i.e., two eyes are perfectly balanced). A value above the dashed lines indicates greater dominance by the deprived eye. Note that these plots share the same y-axis scales as Figure 4-2 to facilitate comparison.

4.4.2.2 Secondary outcomes: mixed percepts & alternation rates

Figure 4-6 shows the changes in the durations of superimposition, piecemeal and overall mixed percepts. As in Experiment 2a, none of these percepts changed significantly after MD, with no significant main effects of time (superimposition: $\chi^2 = 1.146$, p = 0.284, W = 0.034; piecemeal: F(1, 8) = 1.939, p = 0.201, $\omega^2 = 0.004$; overall mixed: F(1, 8) = 4.107, p = 0.077, $\omega^2 = 0.020$). In addition, tDCS did not modulate any of these percepts, with no significant main effects of condition (superimposition: $\chi^2 = 1.244$, p = 0.537, W = 0.040; piecemeal: F(2, 16) = 0.554, p = 0.585, $\omega^2 < 0.001$; overall mixed: F(2, 16) = 0.704, p = 0.509, $\omega^2 < 0.001$). No interaction was found between time and condition for piecemeal, F(2, 16) = 0.397, p = 0.679, $\omega^2 < 0.001$, or for overall mixed percepts, F(2, 16) = 0.480, p = 0.628, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.



Figure 4-6. Durations of superimposed (A & B), piecemeal (C & D) and overall mixed (E & F) percepts measured by the grating rivalry test in Experiment 2b. The top row shows group mean data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. The bottom row shows individual pre and post data within each condition. These durations were averaged over six 1-minute trials.

Figure 4-7 shows changes in alternation rates as measured by the grating rivalry test. Alternation rates did not change significantly after MD (time: F(1, 8) = 0.562, p = 0.475, $\omega^2 < 0.001$). tDCS had no effect on alternation rates (condition: F(2, 16) = 0.869, p = 0.438, $\omega^2 < 0.001$). There was no interaction between time and condition, F(2, 16) = 0.718, p = 0.503, $\omega^2 < 0.001$.



Figure 4-7. Alternation rates measured by the grating rivalry test in Experiment 2b. (A) Group data before (pre-) and after (post-) intervention. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. (B) Individual pre and post data within each condition. Alternation rates were averaged over six 1-minute trials.

4.4.3 Comparison between Experiments 2a and 2b: an effect of MD duration

Because we did not observe any effect of tDCS, we calculated a mean ocular dominance change for each participant across the three tDCS conditions and compared these means between Experiment 2a (120-minute MD) and Experiment 2b (30-minute MD). For the grating rivalry test, the ocular dominance changes in Experiment 2a (Figure 4-2 A & B, mean $0.071 \pm \text{SE } 0.014$) were significantly larger than those changes in Experiment 2b (Figure 4-5 A & B, 0.030 ± 0.008) (U = 117.0, p = 0.029). For the letter-polarity test, ocular dominance changes were also significantly larger in Experiment 2a (Figure 4-2 C & D, 0.073 ± 0.006) than in Experiment 2b (Figure 4-5 C & D, 0.040 ± 0.004) (t = 4.113, p < 0.001).

4.5 Discussion

We first tested whether anodal, cathodal or sham tDCS had an effect on short-term ocular dominance plasticity induced by 120 minutes of MD. As anodal tDCS has been reported to reduce GABA inhibition (Antal et al., 2006; Reinhart et al., 2017; Stagg et al., 2009; Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021), we hypothesized that the reduced inhibition would augment ocular dominance changes following MD. While the MD effect was significant, we did not observe an effect of a-tDCS. In a second experiment, we investigated whether there was a ceiling effect for ocular dominance plasticity induced by 120 minutes of MD by reducing the MD duration to 30 minutes. This second experiment demonstrated that the MD effect was significantly smaller after 30 minutes of MD. However, again we did not observe any effect of a-tDCS. In both experiments we did not observe any significant effects of a-tDCS on binocular rivalry mixed percepts or alternation rates.

Using a similar experimental design (where ocular dominance plasticity was induced by MD), we previously observed no effect of transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS) on ocular dominance plasticity (X. Chen et al., 2022). tRNS may augment subthreshold signals via stochastic resonance (Potok et al., 2022) and by reducing GABAergic inhibition in the stimulated cortex (Chaieb et al., 2015; Sánchez-León et al., 2021), thereby leading to improved resolution of visual stimuli. We concluded that there were at least two possible explanations for our null results, either that tRNS does not modulate the ocular dominance changes induced by MD or that two hours of MD produces the maximum possible amount of ocular dominance plasticity (a ceiling effect). The neuromodulatory effects of tDCS may differ from those of tRNS. The induction of a constant electric current influences the activity of sodium and calcium channels on neuron membranes (Kenney-Jung et al., 2019; Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021). Specifically, the anodal electrode increases the probability of channels opening on the soma (i.e., cell body) membrane of stimulated neurons, resulting in an influx of sodium and calcium ions and a higher resting membrane potential. Neurons are then more likely to fire an action potential when presented with a visual stimulus. Modulation of the GABAergic system may also be an important mechanism for enhanced neuroplasticity (Stryker & Löwel, 2018). Taken together, our two studies suggest that even with potentially differing mechanisms, stimulation of the visual cortex using either tRNS or tDCS does not alter ocular dominance plasticity resulting from MD.

Although many studies have reported a-tDCS effects on visual cortex function and plasticity (G. Chen et al., 2021; Z. Ding et al., 2016; Frase et al., 2021; Reinhart et al., 2016; Spiegel, Byblow, et al., 2013; Spiegel, Li, et al., 2013; X.-Y. Yang et al., 2022), our study is not the first to observe no effect. For instance, while Ding et al. (2016) and Frase et al. (2021) demonstrated a modulation of VEP

amplitudes using a-tDCS, other studies (Dawood et al., 2022; Lau et al., 2021) did not observe such an effect. Abuleil et al. (2021) observed that tDCS did not modulate binocular rivalry dynamics, while a type of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation, namely continuous theta burst stimulation (cTBS), had an effect. Lau et al. (2021) pointed out that tDCS effects on vision tasks can differ depending on whether tasks are performed during ("online") or after ("offline") tDCS. Our study used an offline design (i.e., measurements taken after tDCS), as did most studies mentioned above that observed modulatory effects of tDCS. Prior tDCS studies have investigated various types of visual cortex plasticity, including Hebbian plasticity (e.g., perceptual learning) and homeostatic plasticity (e.g., ocular dominance plasticity). The distinct mechanisms underlying these different types of plasticity (Bang et al., 2023) may explain why tDCS had effects on some types of plasticity but not on ocular dominance plasticity.

Our hypothesis for an a-tDCS effect on ocular dominance plasticity was based on studies in the human motor cortex that showed reduced GABAergic inhibition following stimulation (Antal et al., 2006; Reinhart et al., 2017; Yamada & Sumiyoshi, 2021). However, it remains an open question whether a-tDCS exerts the same effect on GABA concentration when applied to the visual cortex. In cats, a-tDCS was found to increase the neuronal response to a light stimulus whereas c-tDCS reduced the response (Creutzfeldt et al., 1962). It has also been shown that a-tDCS reduces GABA concentration while c-tDCS reduces glutamate concentration in the cat visual cortex (Zhao et al., 2020). In humans, visual cortex a-tDCS increases gamma oscillations measured using MEG, an indirect measure of reduced GABA concentration (Wilson et al., 2018). However, other studies using indirect behavioural measures linked to visual cortex GABA concentration have observed no effect of a-tDCS (Abuleil et al., 2021). A differential effect of a-tDCS on the motor versus visual cortex GABA concentration might explain the null effect of a-tDCS observed in our study.

Various factors can influence the effect of tDCS including the polarity of the electrodes placed above targeted cortical areas (anode vs cathode), the relative locations of the stimulation and reference electrodes, electrode sizes, the current intensity, and the duration of stimulation (Thair et al., 2017). Individual differences in cortical and cranial anatomy may also influence tDCS effects (Parazzini et al., 2015). The tDCS parameters used in this experiment (i.e., the stimulation electrode positioned at Oz and the reference electrode at Cz, a 5×7 cm² electrode size, 2-mA current and 20-minute stimulation) have been used in previous studies, some of which reported stimulation effects (G. Chen et al., 2021; Z. Ding et al., 2016; Spiegel, Byblow, et al., 2013; Spiegel, Li, et al., 2013; X.-Y. Yang et al., 2022) while others did not (Abuleil et al., 2021; Dawood et al., 2022; Lau et al., 2021). However, a wide
variety of alternative parameters could have been used and we did not attempt to model and account for anatomical differences between subjects. Therefore, our null results should be interpreted within the context of the specific tDCS parameters used and the age and sex characteristics of our sample.

The timing of tDCS in relation to MD may also matter. Some studies show that tDCS enhances motor training to a larger extent when applied concurrently than applied before training (Jin et al., 2019; Sriraman et al., 2014), while other studies report that it is more beneficial to apply tDCS prior to motor training than concurrently with training (Buchwald et al., 2019; Jo et al., 2021; Liao et al., 2020). To our knowledge, the effect of tDCS timing has not yet been investigated in the visual cortex. While we observed that a-tDCS applied at the end of MD did not modulate ocular dominance plasticity, it is possible that a-tDCS delivered prior to or at the beginning of MD could influence ocular dominance changes.

Based on our null findings from both the tRNS study (Chapter 3) and Experiment 2a in this tDCS study, we hypothesized that 120 minutes of MD may induce a ceiling effect for ocular dominance plasticity. Our second experiment showed that shorter MD does result in a smaller ocular dominance shift whereby the ocular dominance change after 120 minutes of MD was approximately two times the change after 30 minutes of MD. Nevertheless, we still did not observe an effect of a-tDCS applied at the end of 30 minutes of MD. This makes an explanation for our null results based on a ceiling effect less likely. However, we cannot rule out yet that an even shorter duration of MD might reveal an a-tDCS effect.

We did not observe an effect of a-tDCS on ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision. However, the mechanisms underlying homeostatic plasticity may be different from those that underpin plasticity associated with vision rehabilitation. Whether tDCS enhances ocular dominance plasticity for patients with binocular visual impairments such as amblyopia is currently unknown.

4.6 Conclusions

This study investigated the effects of tDCS and the duration of MD on ocular dominance plasticity. Shorter MD induced smaller ocular dominance changes. With both longer MD and shorter MD, however, we did not observe any difference between anodal, cathodal or sham tDCS conditions. It remains possible that tDCS applied prior to or at the beginning of MD could influence ocular dominance changes. Future studies could investigate the effect of tDCS timing when applied to the visual cortex, and whether tDCS influences ocular dominance plasticity in patients with visual impairment.

Chapter 5 Reliability of Ocular Dominance Tests

5.1 Overview

Ocular dominance illustrates the degree to which one prefers inputs from one eye when integrating binocular inputs. Most individuals with normal vision exhibit no or weak ocular dominance, although some may exhibit stronger dominance (Li et al., 2010; E. Yang et al., 2010). Ocular dominance can be measured by a variety of tests. Examples include the hole-in-the-card test (Barbeito, 1981), dichoptic motion coherence threshold test (Li et al., 2010; Mansouri et al., 2008), binocular phase combination (J. Ding & Sperling, 2006; C. B. Huang et al., 2009; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013), binocular orientation combination (Spiegel et al., 2017; Y. Wang et al., 2019), and binocular rivalry (Lunghi et al., 2011; Tong et al., 2006). The precision of different ocular dominance tests varies (Bossi et al., 2018; Min et al., 2021). Recently a novel ocular dominance test has been proposed that involves the presentation of letters with opposite contrast polarities (Bossi et al., 2017, 2018). Through comparison with other tests, the authors concluded that this new ocular dominance test demonstrated the best reliability. Our experiments in Chapters 3 and 4 have employed both this new letter-polarity test and the traditional binocular rivalry test, which involves the dichoptic presentation of gratings of opposite directions. We refer to the binocular rivalry test as "grating rivalry" to avoid confusion since the letterpolarity test also involves rivalrous images. This chapter intends to analyse the reliability of these two tests and determine the selection of one test for our next experiment which requires rapid assessment of ocular dominance at multiple timepoints within each experimental session.

5.2 Methods

Ocular dominance data were assembled from the baseline data in Chapters 3 and 4. Data from participants who withdrew or were excluded were also included. This resulted in total datasets of 46 participants, all of which were independent. The complete datasets have been included in Supplementary Table 1 in Appendix A. It should be noted that data in this chapter were presented in their raw form (i.e., > 0.5 indicating right eye dominance, < 0.5 indicating left eye dominance), as opposed to being reported in terms of the deprived/non-deprived eye.

Within-test repeatability analyses were conducted on data where three baseline measurements were available (n = 39). Note that these baseline measurements were taken on separate days, at least two

days apart, with each test performed once on each day. Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) estimates and their 95% confident intervals were computed based on a single-rating (k=1), absolute-agreement, 2-way mixed-effects model (Koo & Li, 2016; McGraw & Wong, 1996). The criteria for interpreting ICC results are listed in Table 5-1. Additionally, standard deviations were calculated for each individual to depict the variability of each test. Tests of normality were performed with a Shapiro-Wilk test. Standard deviations were compared using a paired-samples *t* test or, in the case of deviation from a normal distribution, a Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

Table 5-1. ICC interpretation as recommended by Loo & Li (2016).

ICC Value	< 0.50	0.50 - 0.75	0.75 - 0.90	> 0.90
Reliability	Poor	Moderate	Good	Excellent

Between-test agreement was examined using the first visit data from all datasets (n = 46). A Bland-Altman test was employed to illustrate the spread of the datasets (Bland & Altman, 2010). The Bland-Altman Limits of Agreement (LoA) were determined as $d \pm 1.96$ s, where d was the mean difference (letter-polarity minus grating rivalry) and s was the standard deviation of the differences. The LoA provides an estimate of the range within which 95% of population differences are expected to fall (Bland & Altman, 2010; Gerke, 2020). Considering that the average post-pre differences in Chapters 3 and 4 were approximately 0.06 (letter-polarity: 0.062, grating rivalry: 0.060), an acceptable limit for between-test differences was set arbitrarily to 0.06. A linear regression was applied to investigate whether there was a proportional bias (Ludbrook, 2010); outliers were identified using the interquartile range (IQR) method (values more than $1.5 \times IQR$ outside the IQR) and were removed from this regression analysis. An ICC analysis employing the same settings mentioned above was also used to illustrate the between-test agreement. Finally, an agreement in ocular dominance directions between tests was assessed. To exclude instances of very weak ocular dominance, where the ocular dominance result could fall randomly in either direction, a criterion of inter-test difference was set at 0.04 (0.02 on either side). Opposite directions with a between-test difference > 0.04 were considered disagreement in ocular dominance directions.

ICC was calculated in SPSS (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). All other statistical analyses were completed in JASP.

5.3 Within-Test Repeatability

Repeatability within each ocular dominance test was assessed using ICC. The 95% confidence interval of the ICC estimate (Table 5-2) indicates that the level of repeatability was "moderate to good" for both the letter-polarity test (0.730-0.899) and the grating rivalry test (0.674-0.875).

Table 5-2. ICC for within-test repeatability.

		95% Confidence Interval	
	ICC Estimate	Lower Boundary	Upper Boundary
Letter-polarity	0.829	0.730	0.899
Grating rivalry	0.790	0.674	0.875

Individual standard deviations from each test (Table 5-3) were also calculated to depict their variability. The data were not normally distributed (W = 0.908, p = 0.004). Comparison indicated that the letter-polarity test had significantly lower standard deviations than the grating rivalry test (Z = 2.414, p = 0.015).

Table 5-3. Summary of individual standard deviations from each test.

	Letter-polarity	Grating rivalry	
Median	0.015	0.023	
Quartiles	0.009 - 0.019	0.012 - 0.034	
Range	0.001 - 0.045	0.003 - 0.088	

Collectively, these two analyses demonstrate that both ocular dominance tests had moderate to good repeatability; however, the letter-polarity test did exhibit less variability than the grating rivalry test.

5.4 Between-Test Agreement

The difference between both tests was first illustrated through a Bland-Altman analysis (Figure 5-1A). As recommended by Ludbrook J. (2010), we performed a linear regression analysis to examine any

proportional bias. Assumptions of this analysis were initially violated with the entire dataset (n = 46); after the removal of 5 outliers (n = 41), the linear regression model was fitted as $\hat{y} = 0.034 - 0.085 \cdot x$ (Figure 5-1A). The slope did not significantly deviate from zero (t = -0.478, p = 0.635), indicating no proportional bias¹. Hence, the classical determination of LoA was adopted (i.e., $\bar{d} \pm 1.96s$). The mean difference between tests was -0.009, suggesting that, on average, there was only a negligible difference between tests. 95% of the population differences, indicated by the LoA, was estimated to fall between -0.115 and 0.097. This range was larger than the pre-established acceptable limit of ± 0.06 (i.e., -0.069 to 0.051), suggesting that, overall, the two tests did not completely agree. Nevertheless, it is important to note that the majority of the data points (37 out of 46, 80.43%) fell within this acceptable range, with only 9 outstanding datasets out of 46 (19.57%).

¹ An additional linear regression analysis including the outliers still indicated no proportional bias between both tests (slope = -0.191, t = -1.586, p = 0.120).



Figure 5-1. Individual data from the first visit. (A) A Bland-Altman plot. The abscissa (x axis) shows the mean of both tests. A value of x = 0.5 indicates balanced ocular dominance, > 0.5 indicates right eye dominance, and < 0.5 indicates left eye dominance. The ordinate (y axis) shows the difference between two tests. A positive y value indicates that the letter-polarity value was greater than that of the

grating rivalry test, and vice versa. The dashed lines denote the mean of differences and the upper and lower boundaries of the LoA. The solid curve represents a regression fitted to the mean of both tests and their differences, with outliers (depicted as blue data points) removed. (B) Ocular dominance data from each individual as measured by both tests. Data were ordered from top to bottom by their means. Blue dashed lines denote outliers removed from the aforementioned regression analysis. Red dashed lines denote instances of disagreement in ocular dominance directions according to the predefined criterion.

The agreement between two tests was also assessed using ICC. The 95% confidence interval of the ICC estimate (Table 5-4) indicates that the level of repeatability was "moderate to good" (0.535 to 0.829).

Table 5-4. ICC for between-test agreement.

		95% Confidence Interval		
	ICC Estimate	Lower Boundary	Upper Boundary	
Between-Test	0.712	0.535	0.829	

With a criterion of 0.04 for between-test differences, most datasets (39 out of 46, 84.78%) exhibited good agreement in ocular dominance directions, with only 7 datasets out of 46 (15.22%) showing disagreement (Figure 5-1B).

In summary, these analyses indicate that the two ocular dominance tests had moderate to good agreement as shown by the Bland-Altman mean differences and the ICC analysis. While 95% of the population's between-test differences were estimated to exceed our pre-established range, the agreement appeared satisfactory for the majority of individuals as shown by the Bland-Altman plot. No proportional bias was observed. Consistent ocular dominance directions were found for the majority of individuals.

5.5 Conclusion

Our comprehensive analyses revealed two main findings: 1) the letter-polarity test exhibited less variability than the grating rivalry test while maintaining a comparable level of repeatability; and 2) these two ocular dominance tests appeared to agree generally well for most individuals.

It has been reported that ocular dominance may be influenced by factors such as individual refractive errors and stimulus sizes (Ito et al., 2013; Laby & Kirschen, 2011; Linke et al., 2012). For instance, high astigmatism or anisometropia (unequal refractive errors between eyes) was found associated with the non-dominant eye (Ito et al., 2013; Linke et al., 2012). In line with the literature (Li et al., 2010; E. Yang et al., 2010), our data show that, while most individuals exhibit balanced or weak ocular dominance, some may have stronger ocular dominance. We did not record participants' refractive errors or perform a comprehensive evaluation of their binocular visual functions. Stereoacuity was reported not to correlate with ocular dominance (Y. Wang et al., 2018), although a sampling bias may derive from the fact that only participants with normal vision were tested. Similarly, our experiments only recruited individuals with a stereoacuity of at least 40 seconds of arc. Therefore, we do not possess insights into the reasons behind the strong ocular dominance observed in some individuals, nor could we confirm whether they had completely normal binocular vision. Due to these uncertainties, these individuals were excluded from participation in our experiments.

Ocular dominance results can vary across tests (Mapp et al., 2003). Some tests have been found to demonstrate more reliability than others (Bossi et al., 2018; Min et al., 2021). Although extensively used for ocular dominance measurement, the grating rivalry test was not ranked among the most reliable tests (Bossi et al., 2018; Min et al., 2021). Aligning with these observations, our comparison suggests that the letter-polarity test may offer greater repeatability than the grating rivalry test. This may be attributed to the straightforwardness of the letter-polarity test employing a two-alternative forced choice task (Bossi et al., 2018). Based on these analyses and the results in our prior experiments, we conclude that the letter-polarity test alone stands as a reliable measure for ocular dominance and is sensitive to changes in short-term ocular dominance plasticity. Therefore, this test was selected for our final experiment.

Chapter 6

The Effect of Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation on Ocular Dominance Plasticity in Adults with Normal Vision

This chapter has been submitted for publication in a peer-reviewed journal. Individual author contributions can be found in the Summary of Contributions section above. This work was supported by grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC; RGPIN-04404 to WB and RGPIN-05394 and RGPAS-477166 to BT) and the Canadian Foundation for Innovation (34095 to BT). BT was also supported by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government and InnoHK. None of the authors have any conflicts of interest to declare.

6.1 Overview

Short-term monocular deprivation (MD) induces transient ocular dominance changes in favour of the deprived eye. Attempts to augment this plasticity using visual cortex transcranial electrical stimulation did not enhance ocular dominance changes. Inspired by evidence of increased cortical excitability following light deprivation and low-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS), we investigated whether low- and high-frequency rTMS would augment ocular dominance changes following 1-hour MD. While the ocular dominance shift after MD was statistically significant up to 30 minutes after MD, we did not observe a significant effect of rTMS. Short-term ocular dominance plasticity in the normal visual system does not appear to be modifiable using standard non-invasive brain stimulation techniques delivered to the primary visual cortex.

6.2 Introduction

The adult human visual cortex retains a certain degree of neuroplasticity (Başgöze et al., 2018; Castaldi et al., 2020; Karmarkar & Dan, 2006; Sur et al., 2013). For example, long-lasting Hebbian neuroplastic responses have been demonstrated using visual perceptual learning (Green et al., 2010; Levi & Li, 2009; Polat et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2012; Y. Zhou et al., 2006) and transient homeostatic neuroplasticity can be induced using visual deprivation (Lunghi et al., 2011; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Ramamurthy & Blaser, 2018; J. Zhou et al., 2017; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013).

A period of monocular deprivation (MD) induces a temporary increase in deprived eye dominance in adults, an effect known as short-term ocular dominance plasticity (Lunghi et al., 2011; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; Ramamurthy & Blaser, 2018; J. Zhou et al., 2017; J. Zhou, Clavagnier, et al., 2013). MD appears to activate homeostatic mechanisms within the early visual cortex that attempt to balance afferent neural activity from the two eyes by modulating GABAergic inhibition within the visual cortex (Binda et al., 2018; X. Chen et al., 2020; Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015; J. Zhou et al., 2015).

Short-term ocular dominance plasticity is robust and easy to induce. This has made the magnitude of ocular dominance change an attractive outcome measure for studies attempting to modulate adult human neuroplasticity. A number of interventions with the potential to enhance adult neuroplasticity have been assessed using ocular dominance plasticity including physical exercise (Finn et al., 2019; Lunghi & Sale, 2015; J. Zhou et al., 2017), pharmaceuticals (Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019), and non-invasive transcranial electrical stimulation (X. Chen et al., 2022, 2023). Most of these studies found that ocular dominance plasticity could not be augmented, or only to a very limited extent. For example, the non-invasive brain stimulation techniques transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS) (X. Chen et al., 2022) and anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) (X. Chen et al., 2023), which increase cortical excitability and may reduce GABA concentration in the stimulated area, did not enhance ocular dominance plasticity when applied to the visual cortex using standard stimulation parameters.

Both tRNS and tDCS involve head mounted electrodes that deliver electrical stimulation through the skull. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) is an alternate form of non-invasive brain stimulation that uses electro-magnetic induction to stimulate superficial cortical structures (Antal et al., 2022; Wassermann, 1998). Brief magnetic fields are generated within a hand-held coil. When the coil is positioned above a brain region and activated, a series of electrical currents, or pulses, are generated within the targeted cortical tissue that modulate neuronal activity. Based on the pulse frequency, rTMS may produce different effects (Sabel et al., 2020). Typically, in the motor cortex, high-frequency rTMS (e.g. 10 Hz) is found to increase cortical excitability whereas low-frequency rTMS (e.g. 1 Hz) has the opposite effect (Fitzgerald et al., 2006; Klomjai et al., 2015; Oberman, 2014; Sabel et al., 2020). While some studies have reported an inhibitory effect of low-frequency rTMS in the visual cortex (Bocci et al., 2011; Hirose et al., 2007; Kosslyn et al., 1999; Saint-Amour et al., 2005; Tashiro et al., 2007), to our knowledge, there is currently no evidence that supports an excitatory effect. In their study, light deprivation decreased participants' phosphene threshold (PT), indicating increased cortical excitability.

Low-frequency (1-Hz) rTMS to the early visual cortex prolonged this effect, while high-frequency (10-Hz) rTMS reduced the excitatory effect of light deprivation. The authors suggested that the effect of rTMS might be dependent on the activation state of the stimulated cortex, which had been modified by light deprivation. Given the evidence that both light deprivation (Boroojerdi et al., 2000; Fierro et al., 2005; S. Huang et al., 2015) and monocular deprivation (Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015) appear to reduce GABAergic inhibition, we hypothesised that 1-Hz rTMS would also enhance the effects of monocular deprivation.

To test this hypothesis, we conducted an experiment using three types of rTMS, i.e., high-frequency (10-Hz), low-frequency (1-Hz) and sham stimulation, using a similar design to the one employed by Fierro et al. (2005). Participants with measurable phosphene thresholds received MD for 1 hour and rTMS for 15 min on each visit. The sequence of rTMS types was randomized across three visits. Ocular dominance was measured before and for 30 min after MD in 10-minute intervals.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Participants

All participants had visual acuity (corrected or uncorrected) $\leq 0.0 \log$ MAR in each eye and stereoacuity reaching 40 seconds of arc, tested using an ETDRS chart (Precision Vision, Woodstock, IL) and the Titmus circle test (Stereo Optical Company, Inc., Chicago, IL). Participants who showed relatively strong ocular dominance (> 0.6 as measured by our computerized test described below) at baseline and those whose phosphene threshold was not obtained below 80% maximum stimulator output (MSO) as described below were excluded. All participants were in good general health with no history of epilepsy or seizures, no history of hearing loss, no recurring headaches, no metal implants on the head, no head injury and no psychoactive medication. Participants were asked not to consume more than one standard alcoholic drink per hour within 24 hours before each visit, not to consume caffeinated beverages within 3 hours before each visit and to have at least 5 hours of sleep the night before each test session.

This study was approved by the University of Waterloo Research Ethics Board and conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave written informed consent prior to participation.

6.3.2 Computerized ocular dominance test

Ocular dominance in this study was measured by the letter-polarity test. For detailed descriptions of this test, please refer to Section 3.3.2. Stimuli were generated in Python 3.6.6 with PsychoPy and presented on an Asus VG279 monitor (60 Hz refresh rate, 1920×1080 resolution). A chin rest was provided to maintain a viewing distance of 86 cm.

6.3.3 TMS equipment

The TMS configuration is shown in Figure 6-1. A MagPro X100 Pro stimulator (MagVenture, Farum, Denmark) was used to control the delivery of TMS pulses. For phosphene threshold measurement, a figure-of-eight coil (MCF-B65, MagVenture, Farum, Denmark) was used. For rTMS, a double-blind figure-of-eight coil (COOL-B65, MagVenture, Farum, Denmark) was used and stabilized using a mechanical arm. Neuro-navigation (Brainsight[®], Rogue Research, Montréal, QC) was utilized to mark each participant's phosphene hotspot. Ear plugs were provided during stimulation. A chin rest was used during rTMS to help stabilize participants' head position.



Figure 6-1. TMS configuration. (A) Left to right: TMS coil and related apparatus, magnetic stimulator, mobile computer (27" iMac[™], Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA) with Brainsight[®] software,

position sensor camera (Polaris Vicra[®], Northern Digital Inc., Waterloo, ON) affixed to a stand. (B) The magnetic stimulator (MagPro X100) on a movable trolley. Below shows a coil cooler equipped with liquid cooling media. The cooler was connected to the double-blind coil during rTMS to prevent overheating. (C) Left to right: earplugs, calibration jig for calibrating coil position, participant head position tracker on a model head, pointer for calibrating participant's head position, translucent eye patch for monocular deprivation, figure-of-eight coil mounted on a mechanical arm with a coil tracker. Signals from reflective spheres on these trackers were captured by the position sensor camera to determine spatial locations. Note that during the experiment, the thresholding coil was hand-held, while the double-blind coil was affixed to the mechanical arm for rTMS. An "earplug" reminder was attached to the coil to ensure the use of earplugs. (D) Close-up of the participant head position tracker mounted on goggles. A blindfold was worn by participants during phosphene thresholding, with room lights turned off. (E) A screenshot of Brainsight[®] software interface. The PT hotspot was saved on the left. To stimulate, the position and orientation of a coil were adjusted to align the bullseye with the crosshair centre.

6.3.4 Phosphene threshold (PT) measurement

Participants dark adapted with eyes closed under a blindfold for at least 5 minutes prior to PT measurement. Single TMS pulses at least 3 seconds apart were used for phosphene thresholding. Participants were first familiarized with phosphene perception by receiving TMS between 60%-80% maximum stimulator output (MSO) at a site 2 centimetres above the inion or 1 cm laterally to the initial site. They were instructed to report the presence or absence of a phosphene after each pulse. Positive reports were verified by flipping the coil and checking that the report was now negative. Participants who did not report genuine phosphenes were excluded.

After familiarization, PT measurement was performed. First, the intensity was increased from low to high (up to 80% MSO), until participants reported phosphene perception. A PT hotspot was determined as the spot (either the initial site, or 1 cm to the left, right or above) that induced reliable phosphenes with the lowest intensity. After finding the hotspot, the intensity was reduced in steps of 5% until no phosphenes were reported and, then increased in steps of 1-2% until reaching PT. PT was defined as the minimum intensity required for participants to report phosphene perception for 5 out of 10 pulses. The hotspot was saved in Brainsight[®] software and the PT intensity was recorded for use in subsequent visits. Participants from whom a PT was not obtained below 80% MSO were excluded.

6.3.5 Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS)

rTMS was delivered at 100% phosphene threshold during the final 15 minutes of each MD visit at the hotspot location. At each visit, participants received either 10-Hz rTMS, 1-Hz rTMS, or sham stimulation. Following Fierro et al. (2005), 10-Hz rTMS involved 18 five-second stimulation trains separated by 45 seconds of rest. 1-Hz rTMS was delivered continuously for 15 minutes. Both protocols resulted in 900 pulses delivered over 15 minutes. Sham stimulation was delivered using the placebo side of the double-blind coil, randomly in the form of 10-Hz or 1-Hz trains. Both participants and the experimenter were masked to stimulation type.

6.3.6 Experimental procedures

Each participant had one PT visit and three MD visits (Figure 6-2). During the PT visit, after health and vision screening, PT measurement was performed as described above. Eligible participants with a reliable PT were invited to participate in three MD visits. In those visits, baseline ocular dominance was measured using the letter-polarity test. Participants' dominant eye, as determined by this test, was then deprived using a translucent eye patch for 1 hour. 15 minutes before the end of MD, participants received one of three types of rTMS. When MD was finished, ocular dominance was measured again every 10 minutes up to half an hour; thus, there were four post-intervention time points (Post 0, Post 10, Post 20 and Post 30). An adverse effect questionnaire was given after the Post 0 measurement for each visit. All visits happened at least 48 hours apart.



Figure 6-2. Procedures in this study. After confirming participants' eligibility in this study, PT was measured on the first visit. The most reliable location for inducing phosphenes and the PT intensity were recorded for use in subsequent visits. Participants then received MD for one hour and one of three types of rTMS (10 Hz, 1 Hz or sham) for the final 15 minutes of MD on three different days. Ocular dominance was measured using a computerized letter-polarity test before and every 10 minutes after MD. All visits happened at least 48 hours apart.

6.3.7 Data analysis

Data analysis was performed in JASP. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Shapiro-Wilk tests were used to test data normality, and Mauchly's sphericity tests were used to confirm the sphericity of data. Non-spherical data were corrected using the Greenhouse-Geisser method. A repeated measures ANOVA with a factor of condition (10-Hz, 1-Hz versus Sham) and a factor of time (Baseline, Post 0, Post 10, Post 20 versus Post 30) was performed to examine the effect of rTMS on ocular dominance plasticity. The effect size was reported with omega squared (ω^2). Post hoc tests were performed using Bonferroni correction.

6.4 Results

28 healthy adults were recruited. 10 of them were excluded due to PT not acquired below 80% MSO. 3 were excluded due to vision not reaching 0.0 logMAR in at least one eye, and 1 due to high baseline ocular dominance (> 0.6). 4 withdrew due to personal reasons. The remaining 10 participants (age: 20-24 years, mean 22 years, 9 females) completed the study.

As shown in Figure 6-3, deprived eye dominance increased significantly after 1-hour MD (main effect of time: F(4,36) = 46.24, p < 0.001, $\omega^2 = 0.338$). Post hoc tests indicated that the increase was largest immediately following MD, after which deprived eye dominance dropped and remained broadly constant. Deprived eye dominance was still significantly different from baseline at 30 minutes post-intervention.



Figure 6-3. Deprived eye dominance data at different time points for three conditions in Experiment 3. Panel A shows group mean data. Error bars denote standard errors of the mean. Asterisks denote statistical significance by post hoc tests on the main effect of time (** p < 0.001). Panels B to D shows individual data for the 10-Hz, 1-Hz and sham stimulation conditions, respectively. Box plots indicate the median, quartiles and range of group data at each time point. Empty circles in the box plots denote outliers determined using the interquartile range (IQR) method (values more than 1.5 × IQR outside the IQR).

There was a significant main effect of condition (F(2,18) = 3.694, p = 0.045, $\omega^2 = 0.009$). Post hoc tests indicated that there was a significant difference between 10-Hz and sham conditions. However, we did not observe any interaction between the two factors (condition & time, F(4.083, 36.744) = 0.466, p = 0.764, $\omega^2 < 0.001$), suggesting that the pre-post ocular dominance changes were not significantly different across conditions. Therefore, the significant main effect of condition was likely due to the individual variability in baseline ocular dominance rather than an effect of brain stimulation.

6.5 Discussion

Consistent with the literature, we replicated short-term ocular dominance plasticity and observed an increase in deprived eye dominance up to 30 minutes after 1-hour MD. By adding rTMS to MD, we anticipated that the modulation of inhibitory and excitatory circuits in the visual cortex might influence the extent to which neurons respond to MD. Our study used a similar design and the same rTMS protocol as Fierro et al.'s work (2005). Their study employed light deprivation, which has been shown to increase cortical excitability and to reduce GABAergic inhibition in the visual cortex (Boroojerdi et al., 2000; Fierro et al., 2005; S. Huang et al., 2015). Based on the idea of state-dependency, reduced GABAergic inhibition during light deprivation may have caused an excitatory effect of low-frequency rTMS (Fierro et al., 2005). Given the evidence that MD also reduces GABA levels in V1 (Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015), we anticipated that a similar excitatory effect of 1-Hz rTMS may enhance ocular dominance plasticity. However, we did not observe any effect of either 1-Hz or 10-Hz rTMS.

One possible reason for the null effect would be that ocular dominance plasticity might not be easily modulated. In fact, our group has previously tested the effects of two types of electrical stimulation on the magnitude ocular dominance plasticity, transcranial random noise stimulation (X. Chen et al., 2022) and transcranial direct current stimulation (X. Chen et al., 2023). These types of electrical stimulation are reported to modulate GABA concentration, which was our premise for their interaction with MD. However, we observed no effect. Similarly, studies that investigated the integration of physical exercise (Finn et al., 2019; J. Zhou et al., 2017), the use of a cholinesterase inhibitor (Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019) and the use of attentionally demanding video games (X. Chen et al., 2020). have also observed no effects on ocular dominance plasticity. In contrast, other studies have observed strengthening of ocular dominance plasticity induced by physical exercise (Lunghi & Sale, 2015), neural states (Y. Chen et al., 2023), metabolic states (Animali et al., 2023) and sleep (Menicucci et al., 2022). The characteristics of interventions that can modulate ocular dominance plasticity remain unclear and are the subject of debate in the literature. However, across three available studies, it appears that non-invasive brain stimulation does not influence ocular dominance plasticity.

The magnitude of ocular dominance plasticity is modulated by the duration of MD (Min et al., 2022; Prosper et al., 2023; Ramamurthy & Blaser, 2021), raising a concern that ocular dominance changes might already have reached the ceiling with long durations of MD. We previously investigated the effect of electrical stimulation with both 2-hour and 0.5-hour MD (X. Chen et al., 2023). While confirming a modulatory effect of MD duration, we did not observe any modulation by electrical stimulation, suggesting that a potential ceiling effect does not explain the lack of ocular dominance plasticity changes (X. Chen et al., 2023). The present study, which employed 1-hour MD to replicate the period of binocular deprivation used by Fierro et al. (2005), adds to this collective evidence that short-term ocular dominance plasticity is not affected by brain stimulation.

Another possibility is that our stimulation might not have been delivered to V1. The primary visual cortex is believed to be the cortical area where short-term ocular dominance plasticity originates (X. Chen et al., 2020; Lunghi, Berchicci, et al., 2015; Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015). It has been shown that the simple use of an anatomical landmark has been reported to be insufficient for the selective stimulation of V1 (Salminen-Vaparanta et al., 2012). The utilization of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) was recommended instead (Salminen-Vaparanta et al., 2012). fMRI was not available for our study. However, instead of the simple use of the anatomical landmark, we located V1 by means of a mapping approach, i.e., through identifying the hotspot for inducing reliable phosphenes around the initial landmark, an approach that have been commonly used in other studies, most of which have reported a modulatory effect of brain stimulation (Brückner & Kammer, 2014, 2015; Clavagnier et al., 2013; Franca et al., 2006; Rahnev et al., 2013; Tashiro et al., 2007). In addition, our search grid was restricted to the occipital pole, and was only 2 cm² in size (1 cm to the left, top and right of the initial spot). Although more focal than other coil types, figure-of-eight coils are reported to have a spatial spread larger than 5 cm² (Deng et al., 2013; Thielscher & Kammer, 2004), much larger than our search grid. Therefore, it is likely that stimulation was successfully delivered to V1 in our study.

It is noteworthy that, in electrical stimulation studies, current amplitudes are generally the same across participants and not individualized. One study (van der Groen & Wenderoth, 2016) found that the optimal intensities in transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS) varied across participants, though some of them did share a common optimal intensity of 1 mA. Individualized intensities for tDCS, on the other hand, have been reported to show no effect for the motor cortex (Sallard et al., 2021). It is possible that individual differences in optimal stimulation intensity affected the results of our previous electrical stimulation studies (Pavan et al., 2019; Smucny, 2021; van der Groen & Wenderoth, 2016). However, in the present study rTMS intensities were individually calibrated using 100% PTs. This use of normalized intensities helps to account for differences in individual cortical excitability (Siebner et al., 2022; Valero-Cabré et al., 2017).

State-dependency is an important factor to consider when interpreting the results of brain stimulation studies because it means that the same stimulation protocol applied to the same cortical area does not always yield the same effects. Rather, the effects are dependent on the activation state of the stimulated area prior to stimulation (Rotenberg et al., 2014; Silvanto & Pascual-Leone, 2008). Our null findings,

compared with an excitatory effect of 1Hz rTMS observed in (Fierro et al., 2005), may suggest that despite both monocular deprivation and light deprivation reducing GABA levels in the visual cortex, these two visual deprivation regimes may lead to different cortical states for rTMS. It is possible that complete light deprivation has pronounced effects on cortical excitability that interact with rTMS whereas the smaller excitability effects induced by monocular deprivation do not.

6.6 Conclusions

High-frequency and low-frequency rTMS did not strengthen short-term ocular dominance plasticity. Along with evidence from other studies (X. Chen et al., 2020, 2022, 2023; Finn et al., 2019; Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019; J. Zhou et al., 2017), we conclude that this homeostatic plasticity is not easily modulated with non-invasive brain stimulation.

Chapter 7 General Discussion

7.1 Summary of Findings

Since its discovery by Lunghi et al. (2011), short-term ocular dominance plasticity has been investigated by research groups worldwide. This thesis focused on the investigation of whether NIBS can be employed to enhance short-term ocular dominance plasticity, as an index of visual cortex plasticity, in adults with normal vision. The first study investigated the effects of hf-tRNS and physical exercise, which demonstrated ocular dominance plasticity but revealed no significant effects of either intervention. The second study examined the effect of a-tDCS and whether a potential ceiling effect with 2-hour MD might have limited the effectiveness of NIBS through two experiments. This study showed that the magnitude of ocular dominance shift was indeed smaller after 30-min MD than after 2-hour MD. However, we did not observe any changes in ocular dominance shifts across stimulation conditions, even with 30-min MD, indicating no influence of a-tDCS on this plasticity. In the third study, we explored the impact of rTMS on the MD effect. Using individualized magnetic intensities, we did not find any effect of high- or low-frequency rTMS on ocular dominance plasticity. Collectively, these studies converge on a conclusion that neither tES nor rTMS appears to modulate short-term ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision. These null findings, contrary to our hypotheses of positive effects, are addressed below.

7.1.1 Rethinking short-term ocular dominance plasticity: is V1 crucially involved?

Short-term ocular dominance plasticity has been believed to occur in early visual areas. There are multiple sources of support for this hypothesis. Firstly, V1 is the first visual area to integrate binocular inputs and contains ocular dominance columns (Daw, 2014; Tovée, 2008; Werner & Chalupa, 2013). Secondly, in human adults, the C1 component of visual evoked potentials, which reflects V1 activity, has been shown to decrease after MD for the deprived eye (Lunghi, Berchicci, et al., 2015). Elevated V1 activity with deprived eye viewing has also been detected using BOLD signals measured through functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (Binda et al., 2018). Moreover, a reduction in resting GABA levels (i.e., when both eyes are closed) in V1 has been observed following MD, with a significant correlation to ocular dominance changes (Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015), suggesting that reduced GABAergic inhibition in V1 may underlie ocular dominance shifts following MD. Finally,

ocular dominance plasticity has been observed with a variety of ocular dominance tasks, as discussed in Chapter 3, suggesting that MD may indeed modify a fundamental aspect of binocular vision, presumably within V1.

Despite this evidence, short-term ocular dominance plasticity may not solely involve V1. Two recent studies have provided further insights. One study utilized a kaleidoscopic lens, where both eyes received similar images, except that the image presented to one eye was scrambled (Ramamurthy & Blaser, 2018). In the other study, researchers employed an inverting prism technique, where both eyes received the same input, except the input to one eye was entirely inverted (M. Wang et al., 2021). With these innovative monocular disruption techniques, both studies observed robust ocular dominance plasticity, despite visual inputs being similar between the eyes, thus bypassing low-level mechanisms (Ramamurthy & Blaser, 2018; M. Wang et al., 2021). Furthermore, M. Wang et al. (2021) compared the effects of engaging in a jigsaw task and passive viewing of a plain curtain during MD. The results showed a significant ocular dominance shift with the active task, while no such effect was observed with the passive viewing task. These findings suggest that top-down attentional processes may play a crucial role in ocular dominance plasticity, although it is unclear why MD with the passive viewing task did not lead to any ocular dominance shift. Indeed, although interocular suppression has generally been thought to occur in V1 and V2, higher visual areas have been reported to influence eye selection when visual inputs are disrupted, which can lead to the suppression of one eye (Kiorpes & Daw, 2018). In short-term ocular dominance plasticity, while changes in V1 activity have been correlated with ocular dominance shifts, a causal link has not yet been established, and V1 activity might not be the critical site for this plasticity. It may thus be understandable why stimulating V1 did not enhance shortterm ocular dominance plasticity in our studies.

7.1.2 Rethinking short-term ocular dominance plasticity: is GABA crucially involved?

Let us assume that V1 activity is indeed critical for short-term ocular dominance plasticity. A second question arises: is GABAergic activity in V1 crucial for this plasticity? Currently, the only direct evidence on this subject comes from Lunghi, Emir, et al. (2015). As discussed above, while a significant correlation was revealed, Lunghi, Emir, et al.'s study (2015) study did not establish a causal link between the reduction in GABA levels and the magnitude of ocular dominance shifts. In addition, despite an increase in GABA levels with age (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2017), the magnitude of ocular dominance plasticity has been found to remain similar across adolescents, younger adults and older

adults (B. N. Nguyen et al., 2021, 2023). NIBS techniques, particularly hf-tRNS and a-tDCS, have been reported to alleviate GABAergic inhibition, yet our own studies did not demonstrate any enhancement of ocular dominance plasticity through these NIBS techniques. The lack of a role for GABA in this plasticity may help provide an explanation for our null findings. Hence, it is worth reconsidering the role of GABA in short-term ocular dominance plasticity.

It is possible that ocular dominance plasticity may rely on other neurotransmitters. Acetylcholine (ACh) has been reported to enhance cortical plasticity, with evidence primarily reported in the somatosensory and auditory cortices (Sur et al., 2013). In the visual cortex, one study (Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019) explored the effects of donepezil, a cholinesterase inhibitor that elevates ACh activity. Instead of enhancing ocular dominance plasticity, the authors found that the intake of donepezil diminished ocular dominance shifts. They argued that increased ACh levels might have facilitated neural processing for signals from both the deprived and non-deprived eyes, resulting in an overall shift of ocular dominance in favour of the non-deprived eye (Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019). Given the limited literature on the role of neurotransmitters in short-term ocular dominance plasticity, no conclusion can be drawn yet on this subject. More research is needed to comprehensively understand the mechanisms of this type of plasticity.

7.1.3 Rethinking NIBS: does NIBS modulate GABA in the human visual cortex?

Again, let us assume that reduced GABAergic inhibition in V1 is crucial for short-term ocular dominance plasticity. It is reasonable to hypothesize that interventions capable of reducing GABA levels may enhance this plasticity. As reviewed in Chapter 2, the reduction of GABA has been identified as an important mechanism underlying the excitatory offline effects of NIBS techniques. To briefly recapitulate, evidence supporting the reduction in GABA concentration following tRNS has been observed in the motor cortex and the prefrontal cortex (Chaieb et al., 2015; Sánchez-León et al., 2021). For a-tDCS, such evidence has been reported in the human motor cortex (Stagg et al., 2009, 2011) and the cat visual cortex (Zhao et al., 2020). However, these studies were not conducted in the human visual cortex. Although it initially seems plausible, results from the motor cortex may not necessarily generalize to the visual cortex. For instance, c-tDCS, which employs the opposite direction of electric current, compared to a-tDCS, and is considered inhibitory in the motor cortex, has been found to improve visual performance in patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy (de Venecia & Fresnoza, 2021). Another study also observed a facilitatory effect of c-tDCS in V1, although the authors attributed

this effect to a suppressive impact of c-tDCS on interhemispheric inhibitory circuits (Bocci et al., 2018). Additionally, a recent study found that a-tDCS did not appear to significantly alter GABA concentration in human V1, as measured by magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) (Abuleil, 2020). These inconsistencies in findings between the motor cortex and the visual cortex may indicate differences in underlying neural mechanisms of NIBS across difference cortical regions, which could contribute to our null findings regarding NIBS effects.

Another piece of evidence that suggests NIBS might not modulate GABAergic activity in V1 is derived from our findings on mixed percept durations. As elaborated in Chapter 1, GABAergic inhibition influences binocular rivalry dynamics (Mentch et al., 2019; Pitchaimuthu et al., 2017; Robertson et al., 2016; van Loon et al., 2013). According to the energy landscape theory (Kang & Blake, 2011; Skerswetat et al., 2018; Werner & Chalupa, 2013), alleviated interocular inhibition can lead to the partial or complete fusion of binocular inputs, resulting in mixed percepts. Therefore, the duration of mixed percepts can be indicative of the level of GABAergic inhibition. Indeed, MD was shown to increase mixed percept durations (Sheynin, Proulx, et al., 2019), which was consistent with the reduction of GABA levels observed following MD (Lunghi, Emir, et al., 2015). However, our studies, as presented in Chapters 3 and 4, did not reveal any significant changes in mixed percept durations. This indirectly suggests that GABAergic activity might not have been modulated by tES. It is noteworthy that, as extensively discussed in Chapter 3, the choice of visual stimuli can affect the dynamics of binocular rivalry (Kang, 2009; O'Shea et al., 1997; Qiu et al., 2020; Skerswetat et al., 2016, 2018). Therefore, it remains possible that, our null findings regarding mixed percept durations could be a result of the rivalry stimulus that we used rather than indicating no effect of tES on GABA in V1.

7.1.4 NIBS settings matter

With all the above discussed, let us now assume that NIBS does reduce GABA in the visual cortex and has the potential to enhance short-term ocular dominance plasticity. Yet it is crucial to keep in mind that the outcomes of NIBS can be influenced by various factors, as discussed in Chapter 4. For tES, these factors include the polarity of electric current (anodal vs cathodal stimulation), the relative locations of the stimulation and reference electrodes, electrode sizes, current intensity, and the duration of stimulation (Thair et al., 2017). For rTMS, factors include the orientation of the coil, the intensity and frequency of magnetic pulses, the duration of TMS trains, and the length of pauses between trains

(inter-train intervals) (Klomjai et al., 2015; Oberman, 2014; Taylor et al., 2018). Discrepancies in these NIBS settings as well as individual differences in cortical and cranial anatomy (Parazzini et al., 2015) may contribute to the inconsistent findings across studies.

Another variable that may influence NIBS effects is the timing of its application. tDCS timing, as discussed in Chapter 4, has been reported to affect the enhancement on motor training, although evidence is conflicting regarding whether tDCS is more beneficial before or during motor training (Buchwald et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2019; Jo et al., 2021; Liao et al., 2020; Sriraman et al., 2014). In the adult cat visual cortex, high-frequency rTMS has been shown to result in expanded representation of gratings with a single orientation, suggesting a brief period of elevated cortical plasticity following rTMS (Kozyrev et al., 2018). The authors suggest that leveraging this brief window of heightened plasticity may be more likely to enhance the effects of perceptual learning (Kozyrev et al., 2018). Our studies mirrored the design of Fierro et al. (2005), a study that demonstrated increased visual cortex excitability following low-frequency rTMS by the end of light deprivation. While our studies observed no significant effect, it remains possible that NIBS could modulate ocular dominance plasticity when applied at a different time, such as before MD.

In sum, our null findings regarding NIBS effects on ocular dominance plasticity must be considered within the context of the specific NIBS protocols that we employed. Different NIBS protocols may still be able to produce modulatory effects on ocular dominance plasticity.

7.1.5 State-dependency of NIBS

A final consideration for our null effect of NIBS arises from the concept of state-dependency. As reviewed in Chapter 2, reports of the state-dependency of NIBS in the visual cortex predominantly come from single-pulse TMS studies. For rTMS, no studies, except for Fierro et al. (2005), have reported its state-dependency in the visual cortex. As discussed in Chapter 6, our findings that rTMS did not influence ocular dominance plasticity may suggest that monocular deprivation induced a different cortical state prior to stimulation, compared to light deprivation. This difference in the cortical state could explain our failure to replicate the facilitatory effect of low-frequency rTMS observed by Fierro et al. (2005).

7.2 Impact of Work

Short-term ocular dominance plasticity has gathered significant attention from various research groups due to its potential application in the treatment of amblyopia in adulthood. Indeed, there has been initial evidence that this plasticity can be employed to improve patients' visual performance (Lunghi, Sframeli, et al., 2019; J. Zhou et al., 2019). A deeper understanding of the underlying mechanisms of this plasticity and the interventions that can enhance it will significantly augment its clinical relevance. In this thesis, for the first time in the literature, we investigated the enhancement of this plasticity in adults with normal vision using NIBS techniques. While we observed no significant effects of NIBS (Objective 1), our findings suggest that the neural mechanisms governing this plasticity may be more complex than a simple reduction in GABA levels (Objective 2). We also propose that it is necessary to reevaluate the role of V1 in this plasticity and reconsider the modulatory effects of NIBS on GABA in the visual cortex. While this thesis does not furnish direct evidence of the state-dependency of NIBS, we posit that the particular cortical state induced by MD may partially explain our null findings (Objective 3). Along with prior research (Min et al., 2018; Sheynin, Chamoun, et al., 2019), we corroborate that the magnitude of ocular dominance shifts depends on the length of MD. These findings provide valuable reference points for future studies investigating the enhancement of this plasticity. In addition, our experiments confirm that the letter-polarity test, introduced by Bossi et al. (2018), is reliable as a measuring tool for assessing ocular dominance and is suitable for quantifying ocular dominance shifts following MD (Objective 4).

7.3 Limitations and Future Directions

There are two main limitations in our experiments. One limitation is that these experiments, except for Experiment 2a, had relatively small sample sizes. Nevertheless, it is important to note that we did not observe any trend of differences across NIBS conditions in these experiments. Hence, recruiting more participants would likely not alter our findings. Another limitation is that we did not directly quantify GABAergic changes. Therefore, we do not possess direct evidence regarding whether NIBS modulated GABAergic inhibition in these experiments.

Future research may investigate the existence of a causal link between GABA activity and ocular dominance plasticity using antagonists and agonists of GABAergic receptors. In addition, measuring changes in GABA concentration in V1 before and after MD and brain stimulation could provide insights into potential interactions between these two types of interventions and the state-dependency

of NIBS. Future studies may also investigate whether different NIBS protocols could enhance ocular dominance plasticity. Furthermore, as we did not conduct these experiments in patient populations, future studies should explore whether NIBS could enhance ocular dominance plasticity and improve visual functions, such as visual acuity and contrast sensitivity, in patients with amblyopia. Lastly, while ocular dominance plasticity was intended as an index of visual cortex plasticity, our null findings do not rule out the potential of NIBS to augment visual cortex plasticity in general. Future studies could further investigate the effects of NIBS on other types of visual cortex plasticity, such as perceptual learning, in both patient and control populations.

References

- Abrahamyan, A., Clifford, C. W. G., Arabzadeh, E., & Harris, J. A. (2015). Low Intensity TMS Enhances Perception of Visual Stimuli. *Brain Stimulation*, 8(6), 1175–1182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.06.012
- Abuleil, D. (2020). *Neural modulation of the human visual cortex* [University of Waterloo]. http://hdl.handle.net/10012/16416
- Abuleil, D., McCulloch, D., & Thompson, B. (2021). Visual cortex cTBS increases mixed percept duration while a-tDCS has no effect on binocular rivalry. *PLOS ONE*, 16(2), e0239349. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239349
- Abuleil, D., Thompson, B., & Dalton, K. (2022). Aerobic Exercise and Human Visual Cortex Neuroplasticity: A Narrative Review. *Neural Plasticity*, 2022, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/6771999
- Adams, D. L., & Horton, J. C. (2009). Ocular dominance columns: Enigmas and challenges. In *Neuroscientist* (Vol. 15, Issue 1, pp. 62–77). Neuroscientist. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858408327806
- Alais, D., & Melcher, D. (2007). Strength and coherence of binocular rivalry depends on shared stimulus complexity. *Vision Research*, 47(2), 269–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2006.09.003
- Animali, S., Steinwurzel, C., Dardano, A., Sancho-Bornez, V., Del Prato, S., Morrone, M. C., Daniele, G., & Binda, P. (2023). Effect of fasting on short-term visual plasticity in adult humans. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 57(1), 148–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.15873
- Antal, A., & Herrmann, C. S. (2016). Transcranial Alternating Current and Random Noise Stimulation: Possible Mechanisms. *Neural Plasticity*, 2016, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3616807
- Antal, A., Kincses, T. Z., Nitsche, M. A., Bartfai, O., & Paulus, W. (2004). Excitability Changes Induced in the Human Primary Visual Cortex by Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation: Direct Electrophysiological Evidence. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 45(2), 702. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.03-0688

- Antal, A., Kincses, T. Z., Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2003). Manipulation of phosphene thresholds by transcranial direct current stimulation in man. *Experimental Brain Research*, 150(3), 375–378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1459-8
- Antal, A., Luber, B., Brem, A.-K., Bikson, M., Brunoni, A. R., Cohen Kadosh, R., Dubljević, V., Fecteau, S., Ferreri, F., Flöel, A., Hallett, M., Hamilton, R. H., Herrmann, C. S., Lavidor, M., Loo, C., Lustenberger, C., Machado, S., Miniussi, C., Moliadze, V., ... Paulus, W. (2022). Noninvasive brain stimulation and neuroenhancement. *Clinical Neurophysiology Practice*, 7, 146– 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnp.2022.05.002
- Antal, A., Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2006). Transcranial direct current stimulation and the visual cortex. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 68(6), 459–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2005.10.006
- Antonini, A., & Stryker, M. P. (1993). Rapid remodeling of axonal arbors in the visual cortex. *Science*, 260(5115), 1819–1821. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8511592
- Astle, A. T., McGraw, P. V, & Webb, B. S. (2011). Can Human Amblyopia be Treated in Adulthood? *Strabismus*, *19*(3), 99–109. https://doi.org/10.3109/09273972.2011.600420
- Bai, J., Dong, X., He, S., & Bao, M. (2017). Monocular deprivation of Fourier phase information boosts the deprived eye's dominance during interocular competition but not interocular phase combination. *Neuroscience*, 352, 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.03.053
- Baldwin, A. S., & Hess, R. F. (2018). The mechanism of short-term monocular deprivation is not simple: separate effects on parallel and cross-oriented dichoptic masking. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 6191. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24584-9
- Bang, J. W., Hamilton-Fletcher, G., & Chan, K. C. (2023). Visual Plasticity in Adulthood: Perspectives from Hebbian and Homeostatic Plasticity. *The Neuroscientist*, 29(1), 117–138. https://doi.org/10.1177/10738584211037619
- Barbeito, R. (1981). Sighting dominance: An explanation based on the processing of visual direction in tests of sighting dominance. *Vision Research*, 21(6), 855–860. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(81)90185-1
- Barker, A. T., Jalinous, R., & Freeston, I. L. (1985). NON-INVASIVE MAGNETIC STIMULATION OF HUMAN MOTOR CORTEX. *The Lancet*, 325(8437), 1106–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(85)92413-4

- Baroncelli, L., Bonaccorsi, J., Milanese, M., Bonifacino, T., Giribaldi, F., Manno, I., Cenni, M. C., Berardi, N., Bonanno, G., Maffei, L., & Sale, A. (2012). Enriched experience and recovery from amblyopia in adult rats: Impact of motor, social and sensory components. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(7), 2388–2397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.02.010
- Başgöze, Z., Mackey, A. P., & Cooper, E. A. (2018). Plasticity and Adaptation in Adult Binocular Vision. *Current Biology : CB*, 28(24), R1406–R1413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.10.024
- Bavelier, D., Levi, D. M., Li, R. W., Dan, Y., & Hensch, T. K. (2010). Removing brakes on adult brain plasticity: from molecular to behavioral interventions. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(45), 14964–14971. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4812-10.2010
- Bear, M. F. (1996). NMDA-receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity in the visual cortex. In *Progress in brain research: Neural Development and Plasticity* (Vol. 108, pp. 205–218). https://doi.org/10.1016/s0079-6123(08)62541-8
- Bediou, B., Adams, D. M., Mayer, R. E., Tipton, E., Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2018). Meta-Analysis of Action Video Game Impact on Perceptual, Attentional, and Cognitive Skills. *Psychological Bulletin*, 144(1), 77–110. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000130
- Bello, U. M., Wang, J., Park, A. S. Y., Tan, K. W. S., Cheung, B. W. S., Thompson, B., & Cheong, A. M. Y. (2023). Can visual cortex non-invasive brain stimulation improve normal visual function? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 17, 1119200. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2023.1119200
- Berardi, N., Pizzorusso, T., & Maffei, L. (2000). Critical periods during sensory development. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 10(1), 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(99)00047-1
- Bergmann, T. O., Mölle, M., Schmidt, M. A., Lindner, C., Marshall, L., Born, J., & Siebner, H. R. (2012). EEG-Guided Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Reveals Rapid Shifts in Motor Cortical Excitability during the Human Sleep Slow Oscillation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(1), 243–253. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4792-11.2012
- Binda, P., Kurzawski, J. W., Lunghi, C., Biagi, L., Tosetti, M., & Morrone, M. C. (2018). Response to short-term deprivation of the human adult visual cortex measured with 7T BOLD. *ELife*, 7, e40014. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.40014

Birch, E. E. (2013). Amblyopia and binocular vision. Progress in Retinal and Eye Research, 33, 67-

84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2012.11.001

- Bland, J. M., & Altman, D. G. (2010). Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47(8), 931–936. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2009.10.001
- Bocci, T., Caleo, M., Giorli, E., Barloscio, D., Maffei, L., Rossi, S., & Sartucci, F. (2011). Transcallosal inhibition dampens neural responses to high contrast stimuli in human visual cortex. *Neuroscience*, 187, 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.04.050
- Bocci, T., Nasini, F., Caleo, M., Restani, L., Barloscio, D., Ardolino, G., Priori, A., Maffei, L., Nardi, M., & Sartucci, F. (2018). Unilateral Application of Cathodal tDCS Reduces Transcallosal Inhibition and Improves Visual Acuity in Amblyopic Patients. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *12*, 109. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00109
- Borgomaneri, S., Battaglia, S., Garofalo, S., Tortora, F., Avenanti, A., & di Pellegrino, G. (2020). State-Dependent TMS over Prefrontal Cortex Disrupts Fear-Memory Reconsolidation and Prevents the Return of Fear. *Current Biology*, 30(18), 3672-3679.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.06.091
- Boroojerdi, B., Bushara, K. O., Corwell, B., Immisch, I., Battaglia, F., Muellbacher, W., & Cohen, L.
 G. (2000). Enhanced excitability of the human visual cortex induced by short-term light deprivation. *Cerebral Cortex*, 10(5), 529–534. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/10.5.529
- Bossi, M., Hamm, L. M., Dahlmann-Noor, A., & Dakin, S. C. (2018). A comparison of tests for quantifying sensory eye dominance. *Vision Research*, 153, 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2018.09.006
- Bossi, M., Tailor, V. K., Anderson, E. J., Bex, P. J., Greenwood, J. A., Dahlmann-Noor, A., & Dakin, S. C. (2017). Binocular therapy for childhood amblyopia improves vision without breaking interocular suppression. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 58(7), 3031–3043. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.16-20913
- Boynton, G. M. (2005). Contrast Gain in the Brain. *Neuron*, 47(4), 476–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.08.003
- Bradley, C., Nydam, A. S., Dux, P. E., & Mattingley, J. B. (2022). State-dependent effects of neural stimulation on brain function and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 23(8), 459–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-022-00598-1

- Bretas, C. C., & Soriano, R. N. (2016). Amblyopia: neural basis and therapeutic approaches. Arquivos Brasileiros de Oftalmologia, 79(5), 346–351. https://doi.org/10.5935/0004-2749.20160099
- Brown, J. C., Higgins, E. S., & George, M. S. (2022). Synaptic Plasticity 101: The Story of the AMPA Receptor for the Brain Stimulation Practitioner. *Neuromodulation: Technology at the Neural Interface*, 25(8), 1289–1298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurom.2021.09.003
- Brückner, S., & Kammer, T. (2014). Is theta burst stimulation applied to visual cortex able to modulate peripheral visual acuity? *PLOS ONE*, 9(6), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0099429
- Brückner, S., & Kammer, T. (2015). High visual demand following theta burst stimulation modulates the effect on visual cortex excitability. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9(OCTOBER), 591. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00591
- Brückner, S., & Kammer, T. (2016). Modulation of visual cortex excitability by continuous theta burst stimulation depends on coil type. *PLOS ONE*, 11(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159743
- Buchwald, A., Calhoun, H., Rimikis, S., Lowe, M. S., Wellner, R., & Edwards, D. J. (2019). Using tDCS to facilitate motor learning in speech production: The role of timing. *Cortex*, 111, 274– 285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2018.11.014
- Bui Quoc, E., Kulp, M. T., Burns, J. G., & Thompson, B. (2023). Amblyopia: A review of unmet needs, current treatment options, and emerging therapies. *Survey of Ophthalmology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.survophthal.2023.01.001
- Burke, M. J., Fried, P. J., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2019). Transcranial magnetic stimulation: Neurophysiological and clinical applications. In *Handbook of clinical neurology* (Vol. 163, pp. 73–92). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804281-6.00005-7
- Burrone, J., & Murthy, V. N. (2003). Synaptic gain control and homeostasis. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 13(5), 560–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2003.09.007
- Camilleri, R., Pavan, A., & Campana, G. (2016). The application of online transcranial random noise stimulation and perceptual learning in the improvement of visual functions in mild myopia. *Neuropsychologia*, 89, 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.06.024
- Camilleri, R., Pavan, A., Ghin, F., Battaglini, L., & Campana, G. (2014). Improvement of uncorrected visual acuity and contrast sensitivity with perceptual learning and transcranial random noise

stimulation in individuals with mild myopia. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 1234. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01234

- Campana, G., Camilleri, R., Pavan, A., Veronese, A., & Lo Giudice, G. (2014). Improving visual functions in adult amblyopia with combined perceptual training and transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS): a pilot study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 1402. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01402
- Campana, G., Fongoni, L., Astle, A., & McGraw, P. V. (2020). Does physical exercise and congruent visual stimulation enhance perceptual learning? *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, 40(5), 680–691. https://doi.org/10.1111/opo.12712
- Cassilhas, R. C., Tufik, S., & de Mello, M. T. (2016). Physical exercise, neuroplasticity, spatial learning and memory. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 73(5), 975–983. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-2102-0
- Castaldi, E., Lunghi, C., & Morrone, M. C. (2020). Neuroplasticity in adult human visual cortex. In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (Vol. 112, pp. 542–552). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.02.028
- Casula, E. P., Tarantino, V., Basso, D., Arcara, G., Marino, G., Toffolo, G. M., Rothwell, J. C., & Bisiacchi, P. S. (2014). Low-frequency rTMS inhibitory effects in the primary motor cortex: Insights from TMS-evoked potentials. *NeuroImage*, *98*, 225–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.04.065
- Catalano, S. M., Chang, C. K., & Shatz, C. J. (1997). Activity-Dependent Regulation of NMDAR1 Immunoreactivity in the Developing Visual Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(21), 8376– 8390. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-21-08376.1997
- Cattaneo, Z., Rota, F., Vecchi, T., & Silvanto, J. (2008). Using state-dependency of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) to investigate letter selectivity in the left posterior parietal cortex: a comparison of TMS-priming and TMS-adaptation paradigms. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(9), 1924–1929. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06466.x
- Cattaneo, Z., & Silvanto, J. (2008a). Investigating visual motion perception using the transcranial magnetic stimulation-adaptation paradigm. *NeuroReport*, 19(14), 1423–1427. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e32830e0025
- Cattaneo, Z., & Silvanto, J. (2008b). Time course of the state-dependent effect of transcranial

magnetic stimulation in the TMS-adaptation paradigm. *Neuroscience Letters*, 443(2), 82–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.07.051

- Chadnova, E., Reynaud, A., Clavagnier, S., & Hess, R. F. (2017). Short-term monocular occlusion produces changes in ocular dominance by a reciprocal modulation of interocular inhibition. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 41747. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep41747
- Chaieb, L., Antal, A., & Paulus, W. (2015). Transcranial random noise stimulation-induced plasticity is NMDA-receptor independent but sodium-channel blocker and benzodiazepines sensitive. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 9, 125. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00125
- Chaturvedi, I., Jamil, R., & Sharma, P. (2023). Binocular vision therapy for the treatment of Amblyopia—A review. *Indian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 71(5), 1797–1803. https://doi.org/10.4103/IJO.IJO 3098 22
- Chen, G., Zhu, Z., He, Q., & Fang, F. (2021). Offline transcranial direct current stimulation improves the ability to perceive crowded targets. *Journal of Vision*, 21(2), 1. https://doi.org/10.1167/jov.21.2.1
- Chen, X., Bobier, W., & Thompson, B. (2023). Short-term ocular dominance plasticity is not modulated by visual cortex tDCS but increases with length of monocular deprivation. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 6666. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-33823-7
- Chen, X., Chen, S., Kong, D., Wei, J., Mao, Y., Lin, W., Chen, Y., Yao, Z., Min, S. H., Lu, F., Qu, J., Hess, R. F., & Zhou, J. (2020). Action Video Gaming Does Not Influence Short-Term Ocular Dominance Plasticity in Visually Normal Adults. *ENeuro*, 7(3), ENEURO.0006-20.2020. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0006-20.2020
- Chen, X., Hall, K., Bobier, W. R., Thompson, B., & Chakraborty, A. (2022). Transcranial random noise stimulation and exercise do not modulate ocular dominance plasticity in adults with normal vision. *Journal of Vision*, 22(10), 14. https://doi.org/10.1167/jov.22.10.14
- Chen, Y., Gao, Y., He, Z., Sun, Z., Mao, Y., Hess, R. F., Zhang, P., & Zhou, J. (2023). Internal neural states influence the short-term effect of monocular deprivation in human adults. *ELife*, 12. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.83815
- Cirillo, G., Di Pino, G., Capone, F., Ranieri, F., Florio, L., Todisco, V., Tedeschi, G., Funke, K., & Di Lazzaro, V. (2017). Neurobiological after-effects of non-invasive brain stimulation. In *Brain Stimulation* (Vol. 10, Issue 1, pp. 1–18). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.11.009

- Clavagnier, S., Thompson, B., & Hess, R. F. (2013). Long lasting effects of daily theta burst rTMS sessions in the human amblyopic cortex. *Brain Stimulation*, 6(6), 860–867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2013.04.002
- Connell, C. J. W., Thompson, B., Green, H., Sullivan, R. K., & Gant, N. (2018). Effects of regular aerobic exercise on visual perceptual learning. *Vision Research*, 152, 110–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2017.08.007
- Contemori, G., Trotter, Y., Cottereau, B. R., & Maniglia, M. (2019). tRNS boosts perceptual learning in peripheral vision. *Neuropsychologia*, 125, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2019.02.001
- Creutzfeldt, O. D., Fromm, G. H., & Kapp, H. (1962). Influence of transcortical d-c currents on cortical neuronal activity. *Experimental Neurology*, 5(6), 436–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(62)90056-0
- Darmani, G., Bergmann, T. O., Butts Pauly, K., Caskey, C. F., de Lecea, L., Fomenko, A.,
 Fouragnan, E., Legon, W., Murphy, K. R., Nandi, T., Phipps, M. A., Pinton, G., Ramezanpour,
 H., Sallet, J., Yaakub, S. N., Yoo, S. S., & Chen, R. (2022). Non-invasive transcranial
 ultrasound stimulation for neuromodulation. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *135*, 51–73.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2021.12.010
- Daw, N. W. (1998). Critical Periods and Amblyopia. Archives of Ophthalmology, 116(4), 502. https://doi.org/10.1001/archopht.116.4.502
- Daw, N. W. (2014). Visual Development (3rd ed.). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-9059-3
- Daw, N. W., Fox, K., Sato, H., & Czepita, D. (1992). Critical period for monocular deprivation in the cat visual cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 67(1), 197–202.
- Daw, N. W., Reid, S. N., Wang, X. F., & Flavin, H. J. (1995). Factors that are critical for plasticity in the visual cortex. *Ciba Foundation Symposium*, 193, 258-76;discussion 322-4. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470514795.ch13
- Dawood, A. Bin, Dickinson, A., Aytemur, A., Milne, E., & Jones, M. (2022). No effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on visual evoked potential and peak gamma frequency. *Cognitive Processing*, 23(2), 235–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10339-022-01076-3

de Graaf, T. A., Duecker, F., Stankevich, Y., ten Oever, S., & Sack, A. T. (2017). Seeing in the dark:

Phosphene thresholds with eyes open versus closed in the absence of visual inputs. *Brain Stimulation*, *10*(4), 828–835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2017.04.127

- de Venecia, A. B. F., & Fresnoza, S. M. (2021). Visual Cortex Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation for Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy Patients: A Double-Blinded Randomized Exploratory Trial. *Brain Sciences*, 11(2), 270. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11020270
- Deblieck, C., Thompson, B., Iacoboni, M., & Wu, A. D. (2008). Correlation between motor and phosphene thresholds: A transcranial magnetic stimulation study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 29(6), 662–670. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20427
- Deng, Z.-D., Lisanby, S. H., & Peterchev, A. V. (2013). Electric field depth–focality tradeoff in transcranial magnetic stimulation: Simulation comparison of 50 coil designs. *Brain Stimulation*, 6(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2012.02.005
- Ding, J., & Sperling, G. (2006). A gain-control theory of binocular combination. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(4), 1141–1146. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0509629103
- Ding, Z., Li, J., Spiegel, D. P., Chen, Z., Chan, L. Y. L., Luo, G., Yuan, J., Deng, D., Yu, M., & Thompson, B. (2016). The effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on contrast sensitivity and visual evoked potential amplitude in adults with amblyopia. *Scientific Reports*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19280
- Donkor, R., Silva, A. E., Teske, C., Wallis-Duffy, M., Johnson, A. P., & Thompson, B. (2021). Repetitive visual cortex transcranial random noise stimulation in adults with amblyopia. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-80843-8
- Drager, U. C. (1978). Observations on monocular deprivation in mice. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *41*(1), 28–42. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1978.41.1.28
- Dugué, L., Roberts, M., & Carrasco, M. (2016). Attention Reorients Periodically. *Current Biology*, 26(12), 1595–1601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.04.046
- Fakche, C., VanRullen, R., Marque, P., & Dugué, L. (2022). α Phase-Amplitude Tradeoffs Predict Visual Perception. *ENeuro*, 9(1), ENEURO.0244-21.2022. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0244-21.2022
- Fertonani, A., Pirulli, C., & Miniussi, C. (2011). Random noise stimulation improves neuroplasticity in perceptual learning. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(43), 15416–15423. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2002-11.2011
- Fierro, B., Brighina, F., Vitello, G., Piazza, A., Scalia, S., Giglia, G., Daniele, O., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2005). Modulatory effects of low- and high-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on visual cortex of healthy subjects undergoing light deprivation. *The Journal of Physiology*, 565(2), 659–665. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2004.080184
- Finn, A. E., Baldwin, A. S., Reynaud, A., & Hess, R. F. (2019). Visual plasticity and exercise revisited: No evidence for a "cycling lane". *Journal of Vision*, 19(6), 21. https://doi.org/10.1167/19.6.21
- Fitzgerald, P. B., Fountain, S., & Daskalakis, Z. J. (2006). A comprehensive review of the effects of rTMS on motor cortical excitability and inhibition. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 117(12), 2584– 2596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.06.712
- Föcker, J., Cole, D., Beer, A. L., & Bavelier, D. (2018). Neural bases of enhanced attentional control: Lessons from action video game players. *Brain and Behavior*, 8(7), e01019. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.1019
- Franca, M., Koch, G., Mochizuki, H., Huang, Y. Z., & Rothwell, J. C. (2006). Effects of theta burst stimulation protocols on phosphene threshold. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 117(8), 1808–1813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.03.019
- Frase, L., Mertens, L., Krahl, A., Bhatia, K., Feige, B., Heinrich, S. P., Vestring, S., Nissen, C., Domschke, K., Bach, M., & Normann, C. (2021). Transcranial direct current stimulation induces long-term potentiation-like plasticity in the human visual cortex. *Translational Psychiatry*, 11(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-01134-4
- Frenkel, M. Y., & Bear, M. F. (2004). How Monocular Deprivation Shifts Ocular Dominance in Visual Cortex of Young Mice. *Neuron*, 44(6), 917–923. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.12.003
- Freud, E., Plaut, D. C., & Behrmann, M. (2016). "What" Is Happening in the Dorsal Visual Pathway. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 20(10), 773–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.08.003
- Fu, Y., Tucciarone, J. M., Espinosa, J. S., Sheng, N., Darcy, D. P., Nicoll, R. A., Huang, Z. J., & Stryker, M. P. (2014). A Cortical Circuit for Gain Control by Behavioral State. *Cell*, 156(6), 1139–1152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.050
- Gallivan, J. P., & Goodale, M. A. (2018). The dorsal "action" pathway. In *Handbook of clinical neurology* (Vol. 151, pp. 449–466). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63622-5.00023-1

- Gardner, J. L., Sun, P., Waggoner, R. A., Ueno, K., Tanaka, K., & Cheng, K. (2005). Contrast Adaptation and Representation in Human Early Visual Cortex. *Neuron*, 47(4), 607–620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.07.016
- Gerke, O. (2020). Reporting Standards for a Bland–Altman Agreement Analysis: A Review of Methodological Reviews. *Diagnostics*, 10(5), 334. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics10050334
- Gerwig, M., Kastrup, O., Meyer, B.-U., & Niehaus, L. (2003). Evaluation of cortical excitability by motor and phosphene thresholds in transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 215(1–2), 75–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-510X(03)00228-4
- Goodale, M. A., & Milner, A. D. (1992). Separate visual pathways for perception and action. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 15(1), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(92)90344-8
- Goodyear, B. G., Nicolle, D. A., & Menon, R. S. (2002). High resolution fMRI of ocular dominance columns within the visual cortex of human amblyopes. *Strabismus*, 10(2), 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1076/stra.10.2.129.8140
- Granö, I., Mutanen, T. P., Tervo, A., Nieminen, J. O., Souza, V. H., Fecchio, M., Rosanova, M., Lioumis, P., & Ilmoniemi, R. J. (2022). Local brain-state dependency of effective connectivity: a pilot TMS–EEG study. *Open Research Europe*, *2*, 45. https://doi.org/10.12688/openreseurope.14634.2
- Gratton, C., Yousef, S., Aarts, E., Wallace, D. L., D'Esposito, M., & Silver, M. A. (2017). Cholinergic, But Not Dopaminergic or Noradrenergic, Enhancement Sharpens Visual Spatial Perception in Humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(16), 4405–4415. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2405-16.2017
- Green, C. S., Li, R., & Bavelier, D. (2010). Perceptual learning during action video game playing. *Topics in Cognitive Science*, 2(2), 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-8765.2009.01054.x
- Harauzov, A., Spolidoro, M., DiCristo, G., De Pasquale, R., Cancedda, L., Pizzorusso, T., Viegi, A., Berardi, N., & Maffei, L. (2010). Reducing Intracortical Inhibition in the Adult Visual Cortex Promotes Ocular Dominance Plasticity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(1), 361–371. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2233-09.2010
- Hensch, T. K., Fagiolini, M., Mataga, N., Stryker, M. P., Baekkeskov, S., & Kash, S. F. (1998). Local GABA Circuit Control of Experience-Dependent Plasticity in Developing Visual Cortex. *Science*, 282(5393), 1504–1508. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5393.1504

- Hensch, T. K., & Quinlan, E. M. (2018). Critical periods in amblyopia. Visual Neuroscience, 35, E014. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952523817000219
- Herpich, F., Contò, F., van Koningsbruggen, M., & Battelli, L. (2018). Modulating the excitability of the visual cortex using a stimulation priming paradigm. *Neuropsychologia*, 119, 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.08.009
- Herpich, F., Melnick, M. D., Agosta, S., Huxlin, K. R., Tadin, D., & Battelli, L. (2019). Boosting Learning Efficacy with Noninvasive Brain Stimulation in Intact and Brain-Damaged Humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(28), 5551–5561. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3248-18.2019
- Hess, R. F., & Thompson, B. (2013). New insights into amblyopia: Binocular therapy and noninvasive brain stimulation. *Journal of American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology* and Strabismus, 17(1), 89–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaapos.2012.10.018
- Hess, R. F., & Thompson, B. (2015). Amblyopia and the binocular approach to its therapy. Vision Research, 114, 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2015.02.009
- Hirose, N., Kihara, K., Mima, T., Ueki, Y., Fukuyama, H., & Osaka, N. (2007). Recovery from object substitution masking induced by transient suppression of visual motion processing: A repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation study. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 33(6), 1495–1503. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.33.6.1495
- Horton, J. C., & Hocking, D. R. (1996). Pattern of ocular dominance columns in human striate cortex in strabismic amblyopia. *Visual Neuroscience*, 13(4), 787–795. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952523800008658
- Horton, J. C., & Stryker, M. P. (1993). Amblyopia induced by anisometropia without shrinkage of ocular dominance columns in human striate cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90(12), 5494–5498. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.12.5494
- Hötting, K., & Röder, B. (2013). Beneficial effects of physical exercise on neuroplasticity and cognition. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(9), 2243–2257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.005
- Hsu, T.-Y., Juan, C.-H., & Tseng, P. (2016). Individual Differences and State-Dependent Responses in Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 643. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00643

- Hu, X., Qin, Y., Ying, X., Yuan, J., Cui, R., Ruan, X., He, X., Lu, Z.-L., Lu, F., & Hou, F. (2021). Temporal Characteristics of Visual Processing in Amblyopia. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 15, 673491. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.673491
- Huang, C. B., Zhou, J., Lu, Z. L., Feng, L., & Zhou, Y. (2009). Binocular combination in anisometropic amblyopia. *Journal of Vision*, 9(3), 17–17. https://doi.org/10.1167/9.3.17
- Huang, P.-C., Li, J., Deng, D., Yu, M., & Hess, R. F. (2012). Temporal synchrony deficits in amblyopia. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 53(13), 8325–8332. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.12-10835
- Huang, S., Hokenson, K., Bandyopadhyay, S., Russek, S. J., & Kirkwood, A. (2015). Brief Dark Exposure Reduces Tonic Inhibition in Visual Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(48), 15916–15920. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1813-15.2015
- Hubel, D. H., & Wiesel, T. N. (1964). Effects of Monocular Deprivation in Kittens. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archiv Fur Experimentelle Pathologie Und Pharmakologie, 248, 492–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00348878
- Hubel, D. H., & Wiesel, T. N. (1970). The period of susceptibility to the physiological effects of unilateral eye closure in kittens. *Journal of Physiology*, 206(2), 419–436. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009022
- Hubel, D. H., & Wiesel, T. N. (1977). Ferrier lecture. Functional architecture of macaque monkey visual cortex. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London - Biological Sciences*, 190(1130), 1– 59. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1977.0085
- Hubel, D. H., Wiesel, T. N., & LeVay, S. (1977). Plasticity of ocular dominance columns in monkey striate cortex. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B*, 278(961), 377–409. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19791
- Hubel, D. H., Wiesel, T. N., & Stryker, M. P. (1977). Orientation columns in macaque monkey visual cortex demonstrated by the 2-deoxyglucose autoradiographic technique. *Nature*, 269(5626), 328–330. https://doi.org/10.1038/269328a0
- Huxley, A. F., & Stämpfli, R. (1951). Effect of potassium and sodium on resting and action potentials of single myelinated nerve fibres. *The Journal of Physiology*, *112*(3–4), 496–508. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1951.sp004546
- Ip, I. B., Emir, U. E., Lunghi, C., Parker, A. J., & Bridge, H. (2021). GABAergic inhibition in the

human visual cortex relates to eye dominance. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 17022. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-95685-1

- Ito, M., Shimizu, K., Kawamorita, T., Ishikawa, H., Sunaga, K., & Komatsu, M. (2013). Association Between Ocular Dominance and Refractive Asymmetry. *Journal of Refractive Surgery*, 29(10), 716–720. https://doi.org/10.3928/1081597X-20130813-02
- Jin, M., Zhang, Z., Bai, Z., & Fong, K. N. K. (2019). Timing-dependent interaction effects of tDCS with mirror therapy on upper extremity motor recovery in patients with chronic stroke: A randomized controlled pilot study. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 405, 116436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2019.116436
- Jo, N.-G., Kim, G.-W., Won, Y. H., Park, S.-H., Seo, J.-H., & Ko, M.-H. (2021). Timing-Dependent Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Hand Motor Function in Healthy Individuals: A Randomized Controlled Study. *Brain Sciences*, 11(10), 1325. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11101325
- Kalogeraki, E., Greifzu, F., Haack, F., & Löwel, S. (2014). Voluntary Physical Exercise Promotes Ocular Dominance Plasticity in Adult Mouse Primary Visual Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(46), 15476–15481. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2678-14.2014
- Kalogeraki, E., Pielecka-Fortuna, J., Hüppe, J. M., & Löwel, S. (2016). Physical Exercise Preserves Adult Visual Plasticity in Mice and Restores it after a Stroke in the Somatosensory Cortex. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 8, 212. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00212
- Kamitani, Y., Bhalodia, V. M., Kubota, Y., & Shimojo, S. (2001). A model of magnetic stimulation of neocortical neurons. *Neurocomputing*, 38–40, 697–703. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-2312(01)00447-7
- Kammer, T., Beck, S., Erb, M., & Grodd, W. (2001). The influence of current direction on phosphene thresholds evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *112*(11), 2015–2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-2457(01)00673-3
- Kaneko, M., & Stryker, M. P. (2014). Sensory experience during locomotion promotes recovery of function in adult visual cortex. *ELife*, 3, e02798. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.02798
- Kang, M.-S. (2009). Size matters: A study of binocular rivalry dynamics. *Journal of Vision*, 9(1), 17–17. https://doi.org/10.1167/9.1.17
- Kang, M.-S., & Blake, R. (2011). An Integrated Framework of Spatiotemporal Dynamics of

Binocular Rivalry. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 5(AUGUST). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2011.00088

- Kapfhammer, J. P. (1996). Myelin-associated neurite growth inhibitors: regulators of plastic changes of neural connections in the central nervous system. In *Progress in brain research: Neural Development and Plasticity* (Vol. 108, pp. 183–202). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(08)62540-6
- Karmarkar, U. R., & Dan, Y. (2006). Experience-Dependent Plasticity in Adult Visual Cortex. *Neuron*, 52(4), 577–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.11.001
- Keck, T., Toyoizumi, T., Chen, L., Doiron, B., Feldman, D. E., Fox, K., Gerstner, W., Haydon, P. G., Hübener, M., Lee, H.-K., Lisman, J. E., Rose, T., Sengpiel, F., Stellwagen, D., Stryker, M. P., Turrigiano, G. G., & van Rossum, M. C. (2017). Integrating Hebbian and homeostatic plasticity: the current state of the field and future research directions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *372*(1715), 20160158. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0158
- Kenney-Jung, D. L., Blacker, C. J., Camsari, D. D., Lee, J. C., & Lewis, C. P. (2019). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation: Mechanisms and Psychiatric Applications. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 28(1), 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2018.07.008
- Kiorpes, L., & Daw, N. (2018). Cortical correlates of amblyopia. Visual Neuroscience, 35, E016. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952523817000232
- Kirk-Sanchez, N., & McGough, E. (2013). Physical exercise and cognitive performance in the elderly: current perspectives. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 9, 51. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S39506
- Kleinschmidt, A., Bear, M. F., & Singer, W. (1987). Blockade of "NMDA" receptors disrupts experience-dependent plasticity of kitten striate cortex. *Science*, 238(4825), 355–358. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2443978
- Kline, G. M., Porcari, J. P., Hintermeister, R., Freedson, P. S., Ward, A., McCarron, R. F., Ross, J., & Rippe, J. M. (1987). Estimation of VO2max from a one-mile track walk, gender, age, and body weight. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 19(3), 253–259. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3600239

Klomjai, W., Katz, R., & Lackmy-Vallée, A. (2015). Basic principles of transcranial magnetic

stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, *58*(4), 208–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2015.05.005

- Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15(2), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012
- Korai, S. A., Ranieri, F., Di Lazzaro, V., Papa, M., & Cirillo, G. (2021). Neurobiological After-Effects of Low Intensity Transcranial Electric Stimulation of the Human Nervous System: From Basic Mechanisms to Metaplasticity. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 12, 587771. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.587771
- Kosslyn, S. M., Pascual-Leone, A., Felician, O., Camposano, S., Keenan, J. P., L., W., Thompson, Ganis, G., Sukel, K. E., & Alpert, N. M. (1999). The Role of Area 17 in Visual Imagery: Convergent Evidence from PET and rTMS. *Science*, 284(5411), 167–170. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5411.167
- Kozyrev, V., Staadt, R., Eysel, U. T., & Jancke, D. (2018). TMS-induced neuronal plasticity enables targeted remodeling of visual cortical maps. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 115(25), 6476–6481. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1802798115
- Laby, D. M., & Kirschen, D. G. (2011). Thoughts on ocular dominance-is it actually a preference? *Eye & Contact Lens*, *37*(3), 140–144. https://doi.org/10.1097/ICL.0b013e31820e0bdf
- Lau, C. I., Tseng, L.-Y., Walsh, V., & Hsu, T.-Y. (2021). Revisiting the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on pattern-reversal visual evoked potentials. *Neuroscience Letters*, 756, 135983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2021.135983
- Leitão, J., Thielscher, A., Tuennerhoff, J., & Noppeney, U. (2017). Comparing TMS perturbations to occipital and parietal cortices in concurrent TMS-fMRI studies—Methodological considerations. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(8), e0181438. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181438
- Levi, D. M. (2006). Visual Processing in Amblyopia: Human Studies. *Strabismus*, *14*(1), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/09273970500536243
- Levi, D. M., Knill, D. C., & Bavelier, D. (2015). Stereopsis and amblyopia: A mini-review. *Vision Research*, 114, 17–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2015.01.002
- Levi, D. M., & Li, R. W. (2009). Perceptual learning as a potential treatment for amblyopia: A minireview. Vision Research, 49(21), 2535–2549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2009.02.010

- Li, J., Lam, C. S. Y., Yu, M., Hess, R. F., Chan, L. Y. L., Maehara, G., Woo, G. C., & Thompson, B. (2010). Quantifying Sensory Eye Dominance in the Normal Visual System: A New Technique and Insights into Variation across Traditional Tests. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 51(12), 6875. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.10-5549
- Liao, W.-W., Chiang, W.-C., Lin, K., Wu, C.-Y., Liu, C.-T., Hsieh, Y.-W., Lin, Y.-C., & Chen, C.-L. (2020). Timing-dependent effects of transcranial direct current stimulation with mirror therapy on daily function and motor control in chronic stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 17(1), 101. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-020-00722-1
- Lin, S.-H. N., Lien, Y. R., Shibata, K., Sasaki, Y., Watanabe, T., Lin, C.-P., & Chang, L.-H. (2023). The phase of plasticity-induced neurochemical changes of high-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation are different from visual perceptual learning. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 5720. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-32985-8
- Linke, S. J., Baviera, J., Richard, G., & Katz, T. (2012). Association between Ocular Dominance and Spherical/Astigmatic Anisometropia, Age, and Sex: Analysis of 1274 Hyperopic Individuals. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 53(9), 5362. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.11-8781
- Lou, A. R., Madsen, K. H., Paulson, O. B., Julian, H. O., Prause, J. U., Siebner, H. R., & Kjaer, T. W. (2011). Monocular Visual Deprivation Suppresses Excitability in Adult Human Visual Cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(12), 2876–2882. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr082
- Ludbrook, J. (2010). Confidence in Altman-Bland plots: A critical review of the method of differences. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 37(2), 143–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1681.2009.05288.x
- Lunghi, C., Berchicci, M., Morrone, M. C., & Di Russo, F. (2015). Short-term monocular deprivation alters early components of visual evoked potentials. *The Journal of Physiology*, 593(19), 4361– 4372. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270950
- Lunghi, C., Burr, D. C., & Morrone, C. (2011). Brief periods of monocular deprivation disrupt ocular balance in human adult visual cortex. *Current Biology*, 21(14), R538–R539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2011.06.004

Lunghi, C., Burr, D. C., & Morrone, M. C. (2013). Long-term effects of monocular deprivation

revealed with binocular rivalry gratings modulated in luminance and in color. *Journal of Vision*, *13*(6), 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1167/13.6.1

- Lunghi, C., Daniele, G., Binda, P., Dardano, A., Ceccarini, G., Santini, F., Del Prato, S., & Morrone, M. C. (2019). Altered Visual Plasticity in Morbidly Obese Subjects. *IScience*, 22, 206–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2019.11.027
- Lunghi, C., Emir, U. E., Morrone, M. C., & Bridge, H. (2015). Short-Term Monocular Deprivation Alters GABA in the Adult Human Visual Cortex. *Current Biology*, 25(11), 1496–1501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.04.021
- Lunghi, C., Galli-Resta, L., Binda, P., Cicchini, G. M., Placidi, G., Falsini, B., & Morrone, M. C. (2019). Visual Cortical Plasticity in Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 60(7), 2753. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.18-25750
- Lunghi, C., Morrone, M. C., Secci, J., & Caputo, R. (2016). Binocular Rivalry Measured 2 Hours After Occlusion Therapy Predicts the Recovery Rate of the Amblyopic Eye in Anisometropic Children. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 57(4), 1537. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.15-18419
- Lunghi, C., & Sale, A. (2015). A cycling lane for brain rewiring. *Current Biology*, 25(23), R1122– R1123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.10.026
- Lunghi, C., Sframeli, A. T., Lepri, A., Lepri, M., Lisi, D., Sale, A., & Morrone, M. C. (2019). A new counterintuitive training for adult amblyopia. *Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology*, 6(2), 274–284. https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.698
- Maconachie, G. D. E., & Gottlob, I. (2015). The challenges of amblyopia treatment. *Biomedical Journal*, *38*(6), 510–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bj.2015.06.001
- Mansouri, B., Thompson, B., & Hess, R. F. (2008). Measurement of suprathreshold binocular interactions in amblyopia. *Vision Research*, 48(28), 2775–2784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2008.09.002
- Mapp, A. P., Ono, H., & Barbeito, R. (2003). What does the dominant eye dominate? A brief and somewhat contentious review. *Perception & Psychophysics*, 65(2), 310–317. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03194802
- Marg, E., & Rudiak, D. (1994). Phosphenes Induced by Magnetic Stimulation Over the Occipital Brain: Description and Probable Site of Stimulation. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 71(5), 301–

311. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006324-199405000-00001

- Matthews, G. G. (2002). *Cellular Physiology of Nerve and Muscle* (4th ed.). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118687864
- McGraw, K. O., & Wong, S. P. (1996). Forming inferences about some intraclass correlation coefficients. *Psychological Methods*, 1(1), 30–46. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.1.1.30
- Menicucci, D., Lunghi, C., Zaccaro, A., Morrone, M. C., & Gemignani, A. (2022). Mutual interaction between visual homeostatic plasticity and sleep in adult humans. *ELife*, 11. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.70633
- Mentch, J., Spiegel, A., Ricciardi, C., & Robertson, C. E. (2019). GABAergic Inhibition Gates Perceptual Awareness During Binocular Rivalry. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(42), 8398– 8407. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0836-19.2019
- Min, S. H., Baldwin, A. S., & Hess, R. F. (2019). Ocular dominance plasticity: A binocular combination task finds no cumulative effect with repeated patching. *Vision Research*, 161, 36– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2019.05.007
- Min, S. H., Baldwin, A. S., Reynaud, A., & Hess, R. F. (2018). The shift in ocular dominance from short-term monocular deprivation exhibits no dependence on duration of deprivation. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 17083. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35084-1
- Min, S. H., Chen, Y., Jiang, N., He, Z., Zhou, J., & Hess, R. F. (2022). Issues Revisited: Shifts in Binocular Balance Depend on the Deprivation Duration in Normal and Amblyopic Adults. *Ophthalmology and Therapy*, 11(6), 2027–2044. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40123-022-00560-5
- Min, S. H., Gong, L., Baldwin, A. S., Reynaud, A., He, Z., Zhou, J., & Hess, R. F. (2021). Some psychophysical tasks measure ocular dominance plasticity more reliably than others. *Journal of Vision*, 21(8), 20. https://doi.org/10.1167/jov.21.8.20
- Miniussi, C., Harris, J. A., & Ruzzoli, M. (2013). Modelling non-invasive brain stimulation in cognitive neuroscience. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(8), 1702–1712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.014
- Mitchell, D. E., & Maurer, D. (2022). Critical Periods in Vision Revisited. Annual Review of Vision Science, 8(1), 291–321. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-vision-090721-110411
- Moret, B., Camilleri, R., Pavan, A., Lo Giudice, G., Veronese, A., Rizzo, R., & Campana, G. (2018).

Differential effects of high-frequency transcranial random noise stimulation (hf-tRNS) on contrast sensitivity and visual acuity when combined with a short perceptual training in adults with amblyopia. *Neuropsychologia*, *114*, 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.04.017

- Moret, B., Donato, R., Nucci, M., Cona, G., & Campana, G. (2019). Transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS): a wide range of frequencies is needed for increasing cortical excitability. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 15150. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51553-7
- Moretti, J., & Rodger, J. (2022). A little goes a long way: Neurobiological effects of low intensity rTMS and implications for mechanisms of rTMS. *Current Research in Neurobiology*, *3*, 100033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crneur.2022.100033
- Newman, P. P. (1980). Neurophysiology. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-6681-2
- Newton, J. C., Knisley, S. B., Zhou, X., Pollard, A. E., & Ideker, R. E. (1999). Review of mechanisms by which electrical stimulation alters the transmembrane potential. *Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology*, 10(2), 234–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8167.1999.tb00666.x
- Nguyen, B. N., Malavita, M., Carter, O. L., & McKendrick, A. M. (2021). Neuroplasticity in older adults revealed by temporary occlusion of one eye. *Cortex*, 143, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2021.07.004
- Nguyen, B. N., Srinivasan, R., & McKendrick, A. M. (2023). Short-term homeostatic visual neuroplasticity in adolescents after two hours of monocular deprivation. *IBRO Neuroscience Reports*, 14, 419–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibneur.2023.04.003
- Nguyen, J., Deng, Y., & Reinhart, R. M. G. (2018). Brain-state determines learning improvements after transcranial alternating-current stimulation to frontal cortex. *Brain Stimulation*, 11(4), 723– 726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.02.008
- Niechwiej-Szwedo, E., Colpa, L., & Wong, A. M. F. (2019). Visuomotor Behaviour in Amblyopia: Deficits and Compensatory Adaptations. *Neural Plasticity*, 2019, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/6817839
- Nitsche, M. A., Cohen, L. G., Wassermann, E. M., Priori, A., Lang, N., Antal, A., Paulus, W., Hummel, F., Boggio, P. S., Fregni, F., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2008). Transcranial direct current

stimulation: State of the art 2008. *Brain Stimulation*, *1*(3), 206–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.004

- Nitsche, M. A., Doemkes, S., Karaköse, T., Antal, A., Liebetanz, D., Lang, N., Tergau, F., & Paulus, W. (2007). Shaping the Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation of the Human Motor Cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 97(4), 3109–3117. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01312.2006
- Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2000). Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Journal of Physiology*, 527(3), 633–639. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00633.x
- O'Shea, R. P., Sims, A. J. H., & Govan, D. G. (1997). The effect of spatial frequency and field size on the spread of exclusive visibility in binocular rivalry. *Vision Research*, 37(2), 175–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(96)00113-7
- Oberman, L. (2014). Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS) Protocols. In A.
 Rotenberg, J. C. Horvath, & A. Pascual-Leone (Eds.), *Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation* (pp. 129–139). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0879-0_7
- Opitz, A., Paulus, W., Will, S., Antunes, A., & Thielscher, A. (2015). Determinants of the electric field during transcranial direct current stimulation. *NeuroImage*, 109, 140–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.01.033
- Parazzini, M., Fiocchi, S., Liorni, I., & Ravazzani, P. (2015). Effect of the Interindividual Variability on Computational Modeling of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2015, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/963293
- Paulus, W. (2011). Transcranial electrical stimulation (tES tDCS; tRNS, tACS) methods. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 21(5), 602–617. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2011.557292
- Pavan, A., Ghin, F., Contillo, A., Milesi, C., Campana, G., & Mather, G. (2019). Modulatory mechanisms underlying high-frequency transcranial random noise stimulation (hf-tRNS): A combined stochastic resonance and equivalent noise approach. *Brain Stimulation*, 12(4), 967– 977. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2019.02.018
- Pearson, J., Tadin, D., & Blake, R. (2007). The effects of transcranial magnetic stimulation on visual rivalry. *Journal of Vision*, 7(7), 2. https://doi.org/10.1167/7.7.2
- Perin, C., Viganò, B., Piscitelli, D., Matteo, B. M., Meroni, R., & Cerri, C. G. (2020). Non-invasive

current stimulation in vision recovery: a review of the literature. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, *38*(3), 239–250. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-190948

- Perini, R., Bortoletto, M., Capogrosso, M., Fertonani, A., & Miniussi, C. (2016). Acute effects of aerobic exercise promote learning. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 25440. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep25440
- Petroff, O. A. C. (2002). GABA and glutamate in the human brain. *The Neuroscientist*, 8(6), 562–573. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858402238515
- Pitchaimuthu, K., Wu, Q.-Z., Carter, O., Nguyen, B. N., Ahn, S., Egan, G. F., & McKendrick, A. M. (2017). Occipital GABA levels in older adults and their relationship to visual perceptual suppression. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 14231. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14577-5
- Pitskel, N. B., Merabet, L. B., Ramos-Estebanez, C., Kauffman, T., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2007). Time-dependent changes in cortical excitability after prolonged visual deprivation. *NeuroReport*, 18(16), 1703–1707. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3282f0d2c1
- Polat, U., Ma-Naim, T., Belkin, M., & Sagi, D. (2004). Improving vision in adult amblyopia by perceptual learning. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(17), 6692–6697. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401200101
- Potok, W., van der Groen, O., Bächinger, M., Edwards, D., & Wenderoth, N. (2022). Transcranial Random Noise Stimulation Modulates Neural Processing of Sensory and Motor Circuits, from Potential Cellular Mechanisms to Behavior: A Scoping Review. *ENeuro*, 9(1), ENEURO.0248-21.2021. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0248-21.2021
- Prettyman, A. (2019). Perceptual learning. *WIREs Cognitive Science*, 10(3), e1489. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1489
- Prosper, A., Pasqualetti, M., Morrone, M. C., & Lunghi, C. (2023). The duration effect of short-term monocular deprivation measured by binocular rivalry and binocular combination. *Vision Research*, 211, 108278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2023.108278
- Qiu, S. X., Caldwell, C. L., You, J. Y., & Mendola, J. D. (2020). Binocular rivalry from luminance and contrast. *Vision Research*, 175, 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2020.06.006
- Quinlan, E. M., Olstein, D. H., & Bear, M. F. (1999). Bidirectional, experience-dependent regulation of N- methyl- d -aspartate receptor subunit composition in the rat visual cortex during postnatal development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(22), 12876–12880.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.22.12876

- Rafique, S. A., & Steeves, J. K. E. (2020). Assessing differential effects of single and accelerated low-frequency rTMS to the visual cortex on GABA and glutamate concentrations. *Brain and Behavior*, 10(12), e01845. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.1845
- Rahnev, D., Kok, P., Munneke, M., Bahdo, L., de Lange, F. P., & Lau, H. (2013). Continuous theta burst transcranial magnetic stimulation reduces resting state connectivity between visual areas. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *110*(8), 1811–1821. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00209.2013
- Ramamurthy, M., & Blaser, E. (2018). Assessing the kaleidoscope of monocular deprivation effects. *Journal of Vision*, 18(13), 14. https://doi.org/10.1167/18.13.14
- Ramamurthy, M., & Blaser, E. (2021). The ups and downs of sensory eye balance: Monocular deprivation has a biphasic effect on interocular dominance. *Vision Research*, 183, 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2021.01.010
- Reinhart, R. M. G., Cosman, J. D., Fukuda, K., & Woodman, G. F. (2017). Using transcranial directcurrent stimulation (tDCS) to understand cognitive processing. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics*, 79(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-016-1224-2
- Reinhart, R. M. G., Xiao, W., McClenahan, L. J., & Woodman, G. F. (2016). Electrical Stimulation of Visual Cortex Can Immediately Improve Spatial Vision. *Current Biology*, 26(14), 1867– 1872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.05.019
- Roberts, E. B., & Ramoa, A. S. (1999). Enhanced NR2A subunit expression and decreased NMDA receptor decay time at the onset of ocular dominance plasticity in the ferret. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *81*(5), 2587–2591. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1999.81.5.2587
- Robertson, C. E., Ratai, E.-M., & Kanwisher, N. (2016). Reduced GABAergic Action in the Autistic Brain. *Current Biology*, 26(1), 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.11.019
- Rodán, A., Candela Marroquín, E., & Jara García, L. C. (2022). An updated review about perceptual learning as a treatment for amblyopia. *Journal of Optometry*, 15(1), 3–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optom.2020.08.002
- Rossini, P. M., Burke, D., Chen, R., Cohen, L. G., Daskalakis, Z., Di Iorio, R., Di Lazzaro, V.,
 Ferreri, F., Fitzgerald, P. B., George, M. S., Hallett, M., Lefaucheur, J. P., Langguth, B.,
 Matsumoto, H., Miniussi, C., Nitsche, M. A., Pascual-Leone, A., Paulus, W., Rossi, S., ...
 Ziemann, U. (2015). Non-invasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord,

roots and peripheral nerves: Basic principles and procedures for routine clinical and research application. An updated report from an I.F.C.N. Committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *126*(6), 1071–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2015.02.001

- Rotenberg, A., Horvath, J. C., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2014). *Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation* (A. Rotenberg, J. C. Horvath, & A. Pascual-Leone (eds.); Vol. 89). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0879-0
- Sabel, B. A., Thut, G., Haueisen, J., Henrich-Noack, P., Herrmann, C. S., Hunold, A., Kammer, T., Matteo, B., Sergeeva, E. G., Waleszczyk, W., & Antal, A. (2020). Vision modulation, plasticity and restoration using non-invasive brain stimulation – An IFCN-sponsored review. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *131*(4), 887–911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2020.01.008
- Saint-Amour, D., Walsh, V., Guillemot, J.-P., Lassonde, M., & Lepore, F. (2005). Role of primary visual cortex in the binocular integration of plaid motion perception. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(4), 1107–1115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03914.x
- Sallard, E., Rohrbach, J. L., Brandner, C., Place, N., & Barral, J. (2021). Individualization of tDCS intensity according to corticospinal excitability does not improve stimulation efficacy over the primary motor cortex. *Neuroimage: Reports*, 1(3), 100028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynirp.2021.100028
- Salminen-Vaparanta, N., Noreika, V., Revonsuo, A., Koivisto, M., & Vanni, S. (2012). Is selective primary visual cortex stimulation achievable with TMS? *Human Brain Mapping*, 33(3), 652– 665. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21237
- Salminen-Vaparanta, N., Vanni, S., Noreika, V., Valiulis, V., Móró, L., & Revonsuo, A. (2014). Subjective Characteristics of TMS-Induced Phosphenes Originating in Human V1 and V2. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(10), 2751–2760. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht131
- Sánchez-León, C. A., Sánchez-López, Á., Gómez-Climent, M. A., Cordones, I., Cohen Kadosh, R., & Márquez-Ruiz, J. (2021). Impact of chronic transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS) on GABAergic and glutamatergic activity markers in the prefrontal cortex of juvenile mice. In *Progress in brain research* (Vol. 264, pp. 323–341). https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2021.01.017
- Sansevero, G., Torelli, C., Mazziotti, R., Consorti, A., Pizzorusso, T., Berardi, N., & Sale, A. (2020). Running towards amblyopia recovery. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 12661. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69630-7

- Sauvan, L., Stolowy, N., Denis, D., Matonti, F., Chavane, F., Hess, R. F., & Reynaud, A. (2019). Contribution of Short-Time Occlusion of the Amblyopic Eye to a Passive Dichoptic Video Treatment for Amblyopia beyond the Critical Period. *Neural Plasticity*, 2019, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/6208414
- Schaeffner, L. F., & Welchman, A. E. (2017). Mapping the visual brain areas susceptible to phosphene induction through brain stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(1), 205–217. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-016-4784-4
- Schaworonkow, N., Triesch, J., Ziemann, U., & Zrenner, C. (2019). EEG-triggered TMS reveals stronger brain state-dependent modulation of motor evoked potentials at weaker stimulation intensities. *Brain Stimulation*, 12(1), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.09.009
- Schutter, D. J. L. G., Smits, F., & Klaus, J. (2023). Mind matters: A narrative review on affective state-dependency in non-invasive brain stimulation. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 23(3), 100378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijchp.2023.100378
- Schwarzkopf, D. S., Silvanto, J., & Rees, G. (2011). Stochastic Resonance Effects Reveal the Neural Mechanisms of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(9), 3143–3147. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4863-10.2011
- Sengpiel, F. (2014). Plasticity of the Visual Cortex and Treatment of Amblyopia. *Current Biology*, 24(18), R936–R940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.05.063
- Sengpiel, F., & Vorobyov, V. (2005). Intracortical Origins of Interocular Suppression in the Visual Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(27), 6394–6400. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0862-05.2005
- Sheynin, Y., Chamoun, M., Baldwin, A. S., Rosa-Neto, P., Hess, R. F., & Vaucher, E. (2019). Cholinergic Potentiation Alters Perceptual Eye Dominance Plasticity Induced by a Few Hours of Monocular Patching in Adults. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13, 22. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00022
- Sheynin, Y., Proulx, S., & Hess, R. F. (2019). Temporary monocular occlusion facilitates binocular fusion during rivalry. *Journal of Vision*, 19(5), 23. https://doi.org/10.1167/19.5.23
- Siebner, H. R., Funke, K., Aberra, A. S., Antal, A., Bestmann, S., Chen, R., Classen, J., Davare, M.,
 Di Lazzaro, V., Fox, P. T., Hallett, M., Karabanov, A. N., Kesselheim, J., Beck, M. M., Koch,
 G., Liebetanz, D., Meunier, S., Miniussi, C., Paulus, W., ... Ugawa, Y. (2022). Transcranial

magnetic stimulation of the brain: What is stimulated? – A consensus and critical position paper. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *140*, 59–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2022.04.022

- Siebner, H. R., Lang, N., Rizzo, V., Nitsche, M. A., Paulus, W., Lemon, R. N., & Rothwell, J. C. (2004). Preconditioning of Low-Frequency Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation with Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation: Evidence for Homeostatic Plasticity in the Human Motor Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(13), 3379–3385. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5316-03.2004
- Silva, A. E., Tsang, K., Hasan, S. J., & Thompson, B. (2021). Precise oculocentric mapping of transcranial magnetic stimulation-evoked phosphenes. *NeuroReport*, 32(11), 913–917. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.00000000001683
- Silvanto, J., Bona, S., & Cattaneo, Z. (2017). Initial activation state, stimulation intensity and timing of stimulation interact in producing behavioral effects of TMS. *Neuroscience*, 363, 134–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.09.002
- Silvanto, J., & Cattaneo, Z. (2017). Common framework for "virtual lesion" and state-dependent TMS: The facilitatory/suppressive range model of online TMS effects on behavior. *Brain and Cognition*, 119, 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2017.09.007
- Silvanto, J., & Cattaneo, Z. (2021). Nonlinear interaction between stimulation intensity and initial brain state: Evidence for the facilitatory/suppressive range model of online TMS effects. *Neuroscience Letters*, 742(11), 135538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2020.135538
- Silvanto, J., Cattaneo, Z., Battelli, L., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2008). Baseline Cortical Excitability Determines Whether TMS Disrupts or Facilitates Behavior. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 99(5), 2725–2730. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01392.2007
- Silvanto, J., & Muggleton, N. G. (2008). Testing the validity of the TMS state-dependency approach: Targeting functionally distinct motion-selective neural populations in visual areas V1/V2 and V5/MT+. *NeuroImage*, 40(4), 1841–1848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.02.002
- Silvanto, J., Muggleton, N. G., Cowey, A., & Walsh, V. (2007). Neural adaptation reveals statedependent effects of transcranial magnetic stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(6), 1874–1881. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05440.x
- Silvanto, J., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2008). State-Dependency of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. Brain Topography, 21(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10548-008-0067-0

- Silver, M. A., Shenhav, A., & D'Esposito, M. (2008). Cholinergic Enhancement Reduces Spatial Spread of Visual Responses in Human Early Visual Cortex. *Neuron*, 60(5), 904–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.09.038
- Skangiel-Kramska, J. (1988). Neurotransmitter systems in the visual cortex of the cat: possible involvement in plastic phenomena. *Acta Neurobiologiae Experimentalis*, 48(6), 335–370. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2908014
- Skerswetat, J., Formankiewicz, M. A., & Waugh, S. J. (2016). Very few exclusive percepts for contrast-modulated stimuli during binocular rivalry. *Vision Research*, 121, 10–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2016.01.002
- Skerswetat, J., Formankiewicz, M. A., & Waugh, S. J. (2018). More superimposition for contrastmodulated than luminance-modulated stimuli during binocular rivalry. *Vision Research*, 142, 40–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2017.10.002
- Smucny, J. (2021). What transcranial direct current stimulation intensity is best for cognitive enhancement? *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 125(2), 606–608. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00652.2020
- Spiegel, D. P., Baldwin, A. S., & Hess, R. F. (2017). Ocular dominance plasticity: inhibitory interactions and contrast equivalence. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 39913. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39913
- Spiegel, D. P., Byblow, W. D., Hess, R. F., & Thompson, B. (2013). Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Transiently Improves Contrast Sensitivity and Normalizes Visual Cortex Activation in Individuals With Amblyopia. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 27(8), 760– 769. https://doi.org/10.1177/1545968313491006
- Spiegel, D. P., Li, J., Hess, R. F., Byblow, W. D., Deng, D., Yu, M., & Thompson, B. (2013). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Enhances Recovery of Stereopsis in Adults With Amblyopia. *Neurotherapeutics*, 10(4), 831–839. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-013-0200-y
- Sriraman, A., Oishi, T., & Madhavan, S. (2014). Timing-dependent priming effects of tDCS on ankle motor skill learning. *Brain Research*, 1581, 23–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.07.021
- Stagg, C. J., Antal, A., & Nitsche, M. A. (2018). Physiology of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. *The Journal of ECT*, 34(3), 144–152.

https://doi.org/10.1097/YCT.000000000000510

- Stagg, C. J., Bachtiar, V., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2011). The Role of GABA in Human Motor Learning. *Current Biology*, 21(6), 480–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2011.01.069
- Stagg, C. J., Best, J. G., Stephenson, M. C., O'Shea, J., Wylezinska, M., Kincses, Z. T., Morris, P. G., Matthews, P. M., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2009). Polarity-Sensitive Modulation of Cortical Neurotransmitters by Transcranial Stimulation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(16), 5202–5206. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4432-08.2009
- Stoby, K. S., Rafique, S. A., Oeltzschner, G., & Steeves, J. K. E. (2022). Continuous and intermittent theta burst stimulation to the visual cortex do not alter GABA and glutamate concentrations measured by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Brain and Behavior*, 12(2), e2478. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.2478
- Stryker, M. P., & Löwel, S. (2018). Amblyopia: New molecular/pharmacological and environmental approaches. *Visual Neuroscience*, 35, E018. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952523817000256
- Sudbrack-Oliveira, P., Razza, L. B., & Brunoni, A. R. (2021). Non-invasive cortical stimulation: Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). In E. Moro, M. Polosan, & C. Hamani (Eds.), *Emerging Horizons in Neuromodulation: New Frontiers in Brain and Spine Stimulation* (1st ed., Vol. 159, pp. 1–22). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2021.01.001
- Sumner, R. L., Spriggs, M. J., Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., & Kirk, I. J. (2020). The role of Hebbian learning in human perception: a methodological and theoretical review of the human Visual Long-Term Potentiation paradigm. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 115, 220–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.03.013
- Sur, M., Nagakura, I., Chen, N., & Sugihara, H. (2013). Mechanisms of Plasticity in the Developing and Adult Visual Cortex. In M. M. Merzenich, M. Nahum, & T. M. Van Vleet (Eds.), *Progress in Brain Research* (1st ed., Vol. 207, pp. 243–254). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63327-9.00002-3
- Tanaka, H., Monahan, K. D., & Seals, D. R. (2001). Age-predicted maximal heart rate revisited. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 37(1), 153–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0735-1097(00)01054-8
- Tashiro, K., Ogata, K., Yamasaki, T., Kuroda, T., Goto, Y., Munetsuna, S., Kinukawa, N., Kira, J., & Tobimatsu, S. (2007). Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation alters optic flow perception.

NeuroReport, 18(3), 229-233. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3280113977

- Taylor, R., Galvez, V., & Loo, C. (2018). Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) safety: a practical guide for psychiatrists. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 26(2), 189–192. https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856217748249
- Terney, D., Chaieb, L., Moliadze, V., Antal, A., & Paulus, W. (2008). Increasing Human Brain Excitability by Transcranial High-Frequency Random Noise Stimulation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(52), 14147–14155. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4248-08.2008
- Thair, H., Holloway, A. L., Newport, R., & Smith, A. D. (2017). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS): A Beginner's Guide for Design and Implementation. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 11(NOV), 641. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00641
- Thielscher, A., & Kammer, T. (2004). Electric field properties of two commercial figure-8 coils in TMS: calculation of focality and efficiency. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 115(7), 1697–1708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2004.02.019
- Thompson, B. (2021). Neural Plasticity in Amblyopia. In Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190236557.013.702
- Thompson, B., Aaen-Stockdale, C., Koski, L., & Hess, R. F. (2009). A double dissociation between striate and extrastriate visual cortex for pattern motion perception revealed using rTMS. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(10), 3115–3126. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20736
- Thompson, B., Deblieck, C., Wu, A., Iacoboni, M., & Liu, Z. (2016). Psychophysical and rTMS Evidence for the Presence of Motion Opponency in Human V5. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(6), 876– 881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.05.012
- Thompson, B., Mansouri, B., Koski, L., & Hess, R. F. (2008). Brain Plasticity in the Adult: Modulation of Function in Amblyopia with rTMS. *Current Biology*, 18(14), 1067–1071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.06.052
- Tong, F., Meng, M., & Blake, R. (2006). Neural bases of binocular rivalry. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 10(11), 502–511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2006.09.003
- Tootell, R. B. H., Silverman, M. S., & De Valois, R. L. (1981). Spatial Frequency Columns in Primary Visual Cortex. Science, 214(4522), 813–815. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7292014
- Tootell, R. B. H., Switkes, E., Silverman, M. S., & Hamilton, S. L. (1988). Functional anatomy of

macaque striate cortex. II. Retinotopic organization. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 8(5), 1531–1568. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.08-05-01531.1988

- Tovée, M. J. (2008). An Introduction to the Visual System. In *An Introduction to the Visual System*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511801556
- Tsumoto, T., Hagihara, K., Sato, H., & Hata, Y. (1987). NMDA receptors in the visual cortex of young kittens are more effective than those of adult cats. *Nature*, 327(6122), 513–514. https://doi.org/10.1038/327513a0
- Tuna, A. R., Pinto, N., Brardo, F. M., Fernandes, A., Nunes, A. F., & Pato, M. V. (2020). Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation in Adults With Amblyopia. *Journal of Neuro-Ophthalmology*, 40(2), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNO.00000000000828
- Turrigiano, G. (2012). Homeostatic Synaptic Plasticity: Local and Global Mechanisms for Stabilizing Neuronal Function. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 4(1), a005736–a005736. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a005736
- Vaegan, & Taylor, D. (1979). Critical period for deprivation amblyopia in children. Transactions of the Ophthalmological Societies of the United Kingdom, 99(3), 432–439. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/298827
- Vagge, A., & Nelson, L. B. (2016). Amblyopia update: new treatments. Current Opinion in Ophthalmology, 27(5), 380–386. https://doi.org/10.1097/ICU.00000000000293
- Valero-Cabré, A., Amengual, J. L., Stengel, C., Pascual-Leone, A., & Coubard, O. A. (2017). Transcranial magnetic stimulation in basic and clinical neuroscience: A comprehensive review of fundamental principles and novel insights. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 83, 381–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.10.006
- Valero-Cabré, A., Payne, B. R., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2007). Opposite impact on 14C-2deoxyglucose brain metabolism following patterns of high and low frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in the posterior parietal cortex. *Experimental Brain Research*, 176(4), 603–615. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0639-8
- van der Groen, O., Mattingley, J. B., & Wenderoth, N. (2019). Altering brain dynamics with transcranial random noise stimulation. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40335-w

van der Groen, O., & Wenderoth, N. (2016). Transcranial Random Noise Stimulation of Visual

Cortex: Stochastic Resonance Enhances Central Mechanisms of Perception. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *36*(19), 5289–5298. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4519-15.2016

- van Loon, A. M., Knapen, T., Scholte, H. S., St. John-Saaltink, E., Donner, T. H., & Lamme, V. A. F. (2013). GABA Shapes the Dynamics of Bistable Perception. *Current Biology*, 23(9), 823–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.03.067
- Vergallito, A., Varoli, E., Pisoni, A., Mattavelli, G., Del Mauro, L., Feroldi, S., Vallar, G., & Romero Lauro, L. J. (2023). State-dependent effectiveness of cathodal transcranial direct current stimulation on cortical excitability. *NeuroImage*, 277, 120242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2023.120242
- Vetencourt, J. F. M., Sale, A., Viegi, A., Baroncelli, L., De Pasquale, R., F. O'Leary, O., Castrén, E., & Maffei, L. (2008). The Antidepressant Fluoxetine Restores Plasticity in the Adult Visual Cortex. *Science*, *320*(5874), 385–388. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150516
- Virathone, L., Nguyen, B. N., Dobson, F., Carter, O. L., & McKendrick, A. M. (2021). Exercise alone impacts short-term adult visual neuroplasticity in a monocular deprivation paradigm. *Journal of Vision*, 21(11), 12. https://doi.org/10.1167/jov.21.11.12
- Vitureira, N., & Goda, Y. (2013). The interplay between Hebbian and homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 203(2), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201306030
- von Noorden, G. K. (1981). New clinical aspects of stimulus deprivation amblyopia. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*, *92*(3), 416–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9394(81)90534-1
- Wagner, T., Valero-Cabre, A., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2007). Noninvasive Human Brain Stimulation. Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering, 9(1), 527–565. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bioeng.9.061206.133100
- Wang, M., McGraw, P., & Ledgeway, T. (2021). Attentional eye selection modulates sensory eye dominance. *Vision Research*, 188, 10–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2021.06.006
- Wang, Y., Cui, L., He, Z., Lin, W., Qu, J., Lu, F., Zhou, J., & Hess, R. F. (2018). On the Relationship Between Sensory Eye Dominance and Stereopsis in the Normal-Sighted Adult Population: Normative Data. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *12*, 357. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2018.00357
- Wang, Y., He, Z., Liang, Y., Chen, Y., Gong, L., Mao, Y., Chen, X., Yao, Z., Spiegel, D. P., Qu, J., Lu, F., Zhou, J., & Hess, R. F. (2019). The Binocular Balance at High Spatial Frequencies as

Revealed by the Binocular Orientation Combination Task. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *13*(106), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2019.00106

- Wassermann, E. M. (1998). Risk and safety of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: report and suggested guidelines from the International Workshop on the Safety of Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation, June 5–7, 1996. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology/Evoked Potentials Section*, 108(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-5597(97)00096-8
- Werhahn, K. J., Kunesch, E., Noachtar, S., Benecke, R., & Classen, J. (1999). Differential effects on motorcortical inhibition induced by blockade of GABA uptake in humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, 517(2), 591–597. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.0591t.x
- Werner, J. S., & Chalupa, L. M. (2013). *The New Visual Neurosciences* (John S. Werner & Leo M. Chalupa (eds.); 3rd ed.). MIT Press. https://mitpress.mit.edu/books/new-visual-neurosciences
- Wiesel, T. N. (1982). Postnatal development of the visual cortex and the influence of environment. *Nature*, *299*(5884), 583–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/299583a0
- Wiesel, T. N., & Hubel, D. H. (1963). SINGLE-CELL RESPONSES IN STRIATE CORTEX OF KITTENS DEPRIVED OF VISION IN ONE EYE. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 26(6), 1003– 1017. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1963.26.6.1003
- Wilson, T. W., McDermott, T. J., Mills, M. S., Coolidge, N. M., & Heinrichs-Graham, E. (2018).
 tDCS Modulates Visual Gamma Oscillations and Basal Alpha Activity in Occipital Cortices: Evidence from MEG. *Cerebral Cortex*, 28(5), 1597–1609. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhx055
- Wong, A. M. F. (2012). New concepts concerning the neural mechanisms of amblyopia and their clinical implications. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 47(5), 399–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjo.2012.05.002
- Wu, C., & Hunter, D. G. (2006). Amblyopia: Diagnostic and Therapeutic Options. American Journal of Ophthalmology, 141(1), 175-184.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2005.07.060
- Xu, J. P., He, Z. J., & Ooi, T. L. (2012). Perceptual learning to reduce sensory eye dominance beyond the focus of top-down visual attention. *Vision Research*, 61, 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2011.05.013
- Yamada, Y., & Sumiyoshi, T. (2021). Neurobiological Mechanisms of Transcranial Direct Current

Stimulation for Psychiatric Disorders; Neurophysiological, Chemical, and Anatomical Considerations. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *15*, 631838. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.631838

- Yang, E., Blake, R., & McDonald, J. E. (2010). A New Interocular Suppression Technique for Measuring Sensory Eye Dominance. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 51(1), 588. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.08-3076
- Yang, X.-Y., He, Q., & Fang, F. (2022). Transcranial direct current stimulation over the visual cortex facilitates awake consolidation of visual perceptual learning. *Brain Stimulation*, 15(2), 380–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.01.019
- Yashiro, K., & Philpot, B. D. (2008). Regulation of NMDA receptor subunit expression and its implications for LTD, LTP, and metaplasticity. *Neuropharmacology*, 55(7), 1081–1094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.07.046
- Yee, A. X., Hsu, Y.-T., & Chen, L. (2017). A metaplasticity view of the interaction between homeostatic and Hebbian plasticity. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 372(1715), 20160155. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0155
- Yu, H.-H., Chaplin, T. A., & Rosa, M. G. P. (2015). Representation of central and peripheral vision in the primate cerebral cortex: Insights from studies of the marmoset brain. *Neuroscience Research*, 93, 47–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2014.09.004
- Zazio, A., Bortoletto, M., Ruzzoli, M., Miniussi, C., & Veniero, D. (2019). Perceptual and Physiological Consequences of Dark Adaptation: A TMS-EEG Study. *Brain Topography*, 32(5), 773–782. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10548-019-00715-x
- Zhang, J.-Y., Cong, L.-J., Klein, S. A., Levi, D. M., & Yu, C. (2014). Perceptual Learning Improves Adult Amblyopic Vision Through Rule-Based Cognitive Compensation. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 55(4), 2020. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.13-13739
- Zhao, X., Ding, J., Pan, H., Zhang, S., Pan, D., Yu, H., Ye, Z., & Hua, T. (2020). Anodal and cathodal tDCS modulate neural activity and selectively affect GABA and glutamate syntheses in the visual cortex of cats. *The Journal of Physiology*, 598(17), 3727–3745. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP279340
- Zhou, J., Baker, D. H., Simard, M., Saint-Amour, D., & Hess, R. F. (2015). Short-term monocular patching boosts the patched eye's response in visual cortex. *Restorative Neurology and*

Neuroscience, 33(3), 381-387. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-140472

- Zhou, J., Clavagnier, S., & Hess, R. F. (2013). Short-term monocular deprivation strengthens the patched eye's contribution to binocular combination. *Journal of Vision*, 13(5), 12–12. https://doi.org/10.1167/13.5.12
- Zhou, J., He, Z., Wu, Y., Chen, Y., Chen, X., Liang, Y., Mao, Y., Yao, Z., Lu, F., Qu, J., & Hess, R.
 F. (2019). Inverse Occlusion: A Binocularly Motivated Treatment for Amblyopia. *Neural Plasticity*, 2019, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5157628
- Zhou, J., Reynaud, A., & Hess, R. F. (2017). Aerobic Exercise Effects on Ocular Dominance Plasticity with a Phase Combination Task in Human Adults. *Neural Plasticity*, 2017, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/4780876
- Zhou, J., Thompson, B., & Hess, R. F. (2013). A new form of rapid binocular plasticity in adult with amblyopia. *Scientific Reports*, 3(1), 2638. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep02638
- Zhou, Y., Huang, C.-B., Xu, P., Tao, L., Qiu, Z., Li, X., & Lu, Z.-L. (2006). Perceptual learning improves contrast sensitivity and visual acuity in adults with anisometropic amblyopia. *Vision Research*, 46(5), 739–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2005.07.031
- Zrenner, C., Desideri, D., Belardinelli, P., & Ziemann, U. (2018). Real-time EEG-defined excitability states determine efficacy of TMS-induced plasticity in human motor cortex. *Brain Stimulation*, 11(2), 374–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2017.11.016

Appendix A Supplementary Tables

Supplementary Table 1. Individual raw baseline eye dominance measures for each visit for both the grating rivalry and the letter-polarity tests. Values > 0.5 indicate right eye dominance. Data have been rounded to two decimal places. Datasets from excluded participants or those who withdrew were marked blue.

Exper	Partic	Letter-Polarity Test			Grating Rivalry Test				
iments	ipants	Visit 1	Visit 2	Visit 3	Visit 4	Visit 1	Visit 2	Visit 3	Visit 4
Exp 1	A01	0.53	0.49	0.50	0.50	0.51	0.44	0.48	0.47
	A02	0.52	0.49	0.47	0.46	0.47	0.36	0.32	0.32
	A03	0.48	0.51	0.50	0.44	0.49	0.63	0.47	0.48
	A04	0.52	0.49	0.49	0.50	0.48	0.46	0.46	0.46
	A05	0.48	0.49	0.52	0.52	0.53	0.57	0.54	0.61
	A06	0.44	0.50	0.53	0.50	0.45	0.54	0.51	0.51
	A07	0.50	0.53	0.54	0.53	0.53	0.54	0.56	0.50
	A08	0.50	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.54	0.54	0.56	0.48
	A09	0.49	0.51	0.50	0.55	0.52	0.44	0.54	0.48
	A10	0.50	0.47	0.46	0.47	0.39	0.44	0.48	0.51
	A11	0.71	0.71	0.65	0.68	0.78	0.75	0.72	0.77
	A12	0.57	0.53	0.56	-	0.58	0.56	0.57	-
	A13	0.47	0.46	0.42	-	0.41	0.35	0.38	-
	A14	0.48	0.36	-	-	0.57	0.40	-	-
	A15	0.81	0.57	-	-	0.75	0.84	-	-
	A16	0.57	-	-	-	0.55	-	-	-
	A17	0.47	-	-	-	0.43	-	-	-
	A18	0.46	-	-	-	0.42	-	-	-
	A19	0.57	-	-	-	0.55	-	-	-
	A20	0.51	-	-	-	0.73	-	-	-
Eve 2	B01	0.47	0.50	0.47		0.52	0.52	0.51	
Exp 2a	B02	0.52	0.52	0.51		0.51	0.48	0.47	

	B03	0.49	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.51	0.50	
	B04	0.49	0.48	0.50	0.50	0.43	0.45	
	B05	0.49	0.57	0.53	0.55	0.59	0.51	
	B06	0.46	0.42	0.44	0.38	0.37	0.35	
	B07	0.49	0.52	0.51	0.52	0.54	0.54	
	B08	0.48	0.47	0.51	0.48	0.50	0.49	
	B09	0.53	0.52	0.52	0.53	0.55	0.58	
	B10	0.39	0.40	0.43	0.49	0.48	0.49	
	B11	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.53	0.53	
	B12	0.51	0.49	0.51	0.52	0.52	0.52	
	B13	0.54	0.54	0.54	0.50	0.48	0.51	
	B14	0.46	0.46	0.47	0.46	0.47	0.47	
	B15	0.48	0.49	0.49	0.48	0.46	0.54	
	B16	0.53	0.53	0.55	0.54	0.50	0.50	
	B17	0.44	0.46	0.45	0.47	0.47	0.48	
	C01	0.48	0.49	0.50	0.52	0.52	0.50	
	C02	0.48	0.48	0.50	0.53	0.53	0.48	
	C03	0.48	0.52	0.49	0.47	0.51	0.47	
	C04	0.52	0.54	0.53	0.50	0.54	0.50	
Exp 2b	C05	0.48	0.47	0.47	0.52	0.51	0.50	
	C06	0.47	0.48	0.50	0.52	0.50	0.48	
	C07	0.54	0.49	0.51	0.53	0.52	0.52	
	C08	0.55	0.52	0.52	0.54	0.49	0.54	
	C09	0.50	0.51	0.52	0.53	0.57	0.50	

Supplementary Table 2. Participant reports of adverse effects of tDCS.

Anodal	Cathodal	Sham
Skin redness (21/26)	Skin redness (21/26)	Skin redness (12/26)
Tingling (3/26)	Tingling (7/26)	Tingling (2/26)

Itching (5/26)	Itching (4/26)	Itching (1/26)
Headache (4/26)	Headache (1/26)	Headache (2/26)
Scalp pain (1/26)	Scalp pain (4/26)	Scalp pain (0/26)
Burning sensation (0/26)	Burning sensation (2/26)	Burning sensation (0/26)
Neck pain (1/26)	Neck pain (0/26)	Neck pain (0/26)
Sleepiness (4/26)	Sleepiness (4/26)	Sleepiness (5/26)
Trouble concentrating (2/26)	Trouble concentrating (2/26)	Trouble concentrating (2/26)

All reports were rated as mild, except for a total of six moderate-level reports of "skin redness" (one anodal, one cathodal), "tingling" (one anodal), "sleepiness" (one anodal and one sham) and "trouble concentrating" (one sham). The prevalent reports of mild skin redness in this study could be partially due to the tightness of bands holding the electrodes in place and manual pressing on the electrodes to improve conductivity, as corroborated by 12 reports in the sham condition.

10 Hz	1 Hz	Sham
Skin redness (4/10)	Skin redness (3/10)	Skin redness (1/10)
Scalp pain (3/10)	Scalp pain (0/10)	Scalp pain (0/10)
Sleepiness (3/10)	Sleepiness (2/10)	Sleepiness (1/10)
Trouble concentrating (2/10)	Trouble concentrating (0/10)	Trouble concentrating (1/10)
Neck pain (1/10)	Neck pain (3/10)	Neck pain (3/10)
Headache (1/10)	Headache (1/10)	Headache (1/10)
Tingling (0/10)	Tingling (0/10)	Tingling (1/10)
Itching (0/10)	Itching (0/10)	Itching (0/10)
Burning sensation (0/10)	Burning sensation (0/10)	Burning sensation (0/10)

Supplementary Table 3. Participant reports of adverse effects of rTMS.

Moderate neck pain was reported by one participant after 1-Hz rTMS and another participant after all types of stimulation, despite that a chinrest had been provided during TMS. All other adverse effect reports were rated as mild.